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| am pleased to report that our banking
and insurance companies recorded total
revenues of $813.8 million for the full year
2016, an increase of 13% against 2015.
Profit before taxation of $322.0 million
represented an uplift of 8% over 2015.
Despite a declining national economy
results were enhanced by an
improvement in international markets
towards the end of a year which had
earlier witnessed some unexpected
geopolitical events.

All our principal companies: ANSA
Merchant Bank, TATIL and TATIL Life
delivered a credible performance. On 3rd
October, 2016 we completed the
acquisition of Consolidated Finance Co.
Limited (“CFC”) in Barbados. The
acquisition will facilitate the expansion of
our regional footprint and the Bank
benefitted from three months of CFC's
positive earnings in the final quarter of
2016.

Earnings per share (EPS) increased by 5
cents to $2.94 (2015 $2.89).

Total Assets of the Group grew by 11% to
$7.4 billion while our balance sheet was
strengthened as equity grew by 8% to
$2.2 billion

The Directors have approved a final
dividend of $1.00 per share which brings
the total dividend for the year ended 31st
December 2016 to $1.20 an increase of
15¢ per share above aggregate 2015
dividends. The final dividend will be paid
on 26th May 2017 to shareholders on the
register at 16th May 2017.

| am encouraged by the continued strong
performance of our Financial Institutions
despite the macroeconomic challenges
faced. | am confident of the opportunities
we have for continued growth through
the delivery of our unique product
offerings and improved service to our
valued clientele.

~Julod

Dr. Anthony N. Sabga, ORTT 2




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the separate and consolidated financial statements of ANSA Merchant Bank Limited (“Parent”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the
separate and consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the separate and consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Parent and Group as at
31 December 2016 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responisibilities for the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the separate and consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters

below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Estimates used in the calculation of Insurance Contracts’ Liabilities

Refer to Notes 2xix, 21 and 22. The Group has significant insurance liabilities of
TT$1.4 billion representing 26% of the Group’s total liabilities. The valuation
of insurance contract liabilities involves extensive judgment and is dependent
on a number of subjective assumptions, including primarily the timing and
ultimate settlement value of long-term policyholder liabilities as well as the
estimation of claims incurred, whether reported or not, for short terminsurance
contracts.

Various economic and non-economic key assumptions are being used
to estimate the long-term liabilities. Specifically, the Group estimates the
expected number and timing of deaths, persistency, future expenses and
future investment income arising from the assets backing long term insurance
contracts.

For short term insurance contracts, in calculating the estimated cost of unpaid
claims (both reported and incurred but not reported (IBNR)), the Group uses
a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates and estimates based upon actual
claims experience.

The Group uses valuation models to support the calculations of these
insurance contract liabilities. The complexity of the models may give rise to
errors as a result of inadequate/ incomplete data or the design or application
of the models.

We involved our EY actuarial specialists to assist us in performing our audit
procedures in this area, which included among others:

«  Assessment of the key assumptions applied including consideration
of emerging trends and studies on mortality and morbidity, voluntary
terminations, persistency, interest rate, policy maintenance and
administrative expenses, inflation, tax and lapse rates.

«  Recalculation of technical provisions produced by the models on a
sample basis.

« Anassessment of the internal controls regarding the maintenance of
the policyholder database.

« An analysis of the movements in insurance liabilities during the
year. We assessed whether the movements are in line with changes
in assumptions adopted by the Group, our understanding of
developments in the business and our expectations derived from
market experience.

«  We considered whether the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to insurance contact liabilities were
compliant with IFRS.




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Fair value measurement of investments securities and related disclosures

Refer to Notes 2vii, 3, 7 and 37. The Group invests in various investment
securities, of which $965 million (Parent: $108 million) is carried at fair value in
the statement of financial position. Additionally, the fair values are disclosed for
$2.3 billion (Parent: $473 million) of investment securities carried at amortized
cost in the statement of financial position . Of these assets, $2 billion (Parent:
$299 million) are related to investments for which no published prices in active
markets are available and have been classified as Level 2 and Level 3 assets
within the IFRS fair value hierarchy.

Valuation techniques for these investments can be subjective in nature
and involve various assumptions regarding pricing factors. Associated risk
management disclosure is complex and dependent on high quality data.
A specific area of audit focus includes the determination of fair value of
Level 2 and Level 3 assets where valuation techniques are applied in which
unobservable inputs are used.

For Level 2 assets, these techniques include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same
and discounted cash flow analyses making maximum use of market inputs,
such as the market risk free yield curve.

Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets that are not quoted as
there are no active markets to determine a price. The fair value of these assets
cannot be measured reliably and are therefore held at cost, being the fair value
of the consideration paid on acquisition. These assets are regularly assessed for
impairment.

We independently tested the pricing on quoted securities, and we used our
valuation specialists to assess the appropriateness of pricing models used by
the Group. This included:

«  Anassessment of the pricing model methodologies and assumptions
against industry practice and valuation guidelines.

Testing of the inputs used, including cash flows and other market
based data.

«  An evaluation of the reasonableness of other assumptions applied
such as credit spreads.

The re-performance of valuation calculations on a sample basis of
internally priced securities that were classified as higher risk and
estimation.

An assessment of management’s impairment analysis.

+ Finally, we assessed whether the financial statement disclosures,
including sensitivity to key inputs and the IFRS fair value hierarchy,
appropriately reflect the Group’s exposure to financial instrument
valuation risk.

Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Loan loss provisions

Refer to Notes 2vi, 3, 5, 6 and 38. Net investments in leased assets, loans and
advances are 31% of the total assets of the Group (Parent: 51%) amounting to
$2.3 billion (Parent: $1.8 billion).

The appropriateness of loan loss provisions is a key area of judgement for
management. The identification of impairment and the determination of the
recoverable amount are inherently uncertain processes involving various
assumptions and factors including the probability of default, financial condition
of the counterparty, expected future cash flows, observable market prices
and expected net selling prices. The use of different modelling techniques
and assumptions could produce significantly different estimates of loan loss
provisions.

The disclosures relating to investments in leased assets, loans and advances are
considered important to users of the consolidated financial statements given
the estimation uncertainty and sensitivity of the valuations.

We evaluated and tested the Group’s process and documented policy for loan
loss provisioning.

For loan loss provisions calculated on an individual basis we tested the
factors underlying the impairment identification and quantification including
forecasts of future cash flows, valuation of underlying collateral and estimates
of recovery on default.

For loan loss provisions calculated on a collective basis, we assessed the loan
related data and challenged the assumptions used in the valuation models,
mainly by back testing.

Finally we focused on the adequacy of the Group's financial statement
disclosures regarding net investments in leased assets, loans and advances
and the related loan loss provisions.

Other information included in the Group’s 2016 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2016 Annual Report, other than the separate and consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information. The Group’s 2016 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of
this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes
available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the separate and consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee for the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate and consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate and consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate and consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Parent’s and Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate and consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate and consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate and consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Parent’s and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the separate and
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Parent and Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate and consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
separate and consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the separate and consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Pria Narinesingh.

‘-EMsnéawO/

Port of Spain,
TRINIDAD:
21 March 2017



MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) (Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

Parent

31 Dec 2015
2016

Assets Net insurance revenue 314,101 293,833
Finance charges, loan fees
302,985 286,015 Cash and short-term funds 766,104 720,084 175,111 187,512 and other interest income 197,318 174,894
- - Fixed deposits 124,947 148,514 67,607 65,596 Investment income 149,056 146,371
Net investment in leased assets 48,854 51,850 Other income 153,304 106,022
1,005,106 1,056,495 and other instalment loans 1,427,928 1,003,373
800,290 697,428 Loans and advances 876,251 866,310 291,572 304,958 Total operating income 813,779 721,120
609,748 600,215 Investment securities 3,282,742 3,254,141
8,904 6,666 Interest receivable 29,103 36,178 Net insurance benefits and
- — Insurance receivables 47,648 37,170 - - claims incurred 28 (201,430) (182,677)
45,250 51,871 Other debtors and prepayments 57,586 50,305 (48,411) (60,688) Interest expense 29 (84,636) (68,065)
- - Reinsurance assets 182,506 172,082 Write back of provision for
1,219 1,219 Taxation recoverable 2,417 1,515 31,542 3,442 impairment of investments 30 5,606 37,973
632,500 810,320 Investment in subsidiaries - - Write back/(provision) for losses
- - Investment properties 139,268 138,483 (15,112) 305 on loans and advances 5,6 163 (15,112)
1,502 1,351 Property and equipment 182,798 28,583
- - Intangible assets 136,361 133,762 259,591 248,017 Net operating income 533,482 493,239
20,598 20,179 Deferred tax asset 24,374 29,665
9,278 9,374 Employee benefit asset 129,089 118,395 Marketing and policy
(17,932) (16,365) expenses (65,840) (65,127)
3,437,380 3,541,133 Total assets 7,409,122 6,738,560 (24,977) (22,853) Personnel expenses (70,502) (59,180)
(1,322) (518) Depreciation (11,465) (3,723)
Liabilities (2,160) (2,160) Management fees (8,597) (8,558)
General administrative

Customers’ deposits and other
1,175,503 1125556 funding instruments 2,305,241 1,996,965 (19.155) (10633) expenses (55.050) (59.876)

10,153 Bank overdraft 10,153 Total _se_lling jcmd
Accrued interest and other (65,546) (52,529)  administration expenses (211,454) (195,964)

65,673 71,323 payables 139,719 103,287 194,045 195,488 Net profit before taxation 322,028 297,275

911,415 1,004,330 Debt securities in issue 1,004,330 911,415 (24,286) (42,427) Taxation (70,281) (49,828)

9,722 8,884 Taxation payable 14,597 11,468

2,878 4,339 Deferred tax liability 149,118 125,354 169,759 153,061 Profit for the year 251,747 247,447

Employee benefit

431 385 obligation 4,525 4,075
Investment contract

liabilities 224,936 210,231

Insurance contract 169.759 153.061 251747 247,447
liabilities 1,364,492 1,325,160

Profit attributable to:
169,759 153,061 Equity holders of the Parent 251,714 247,424
- — Non-controlling interest 33 23

Basic and diluted

earning per share ($ per share)
Weighted average

number of shares (’000)

2,175,865 2,214,817 Total liabilities 5,206,958 4,698,108

Equity

667,274 667,274 Stated capital 667,274 667,274
146,908 162,303 Siatutory reserve fund 178,247 162,852

- — Statutory surplus reserve 57,327 57,327

5,056 5,366 General loan loss reserve 5,366 5,056
159 922 Foreign currency reserve 1,767 -
442,118 490,451 Retained earnings 1,291,663 1,147,456
Equity attributable to the The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

1,261,515 1,326,316  equity holders of the parent 2,201,644 2,039,965

- - Non-controlling interest 520 487

1,261,515 1,326,316 Total equity 2,202,164 2,040,452

3,437,380 3,541,133 Total liabilities and equity 7,409,122 6,738,560

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 21
March 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Z / e ‘
Ray A. Sumairsingh Gregory N. Hill
Director Director




MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) (Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

Parent Group Statutory General Foreign
2015 2016 2016 2015 Stated reserve loan loss currency Retained Total
Parent capital fund reserve reserve earnings equity

169,759 153,061 Profit for the year 251,747 247,447 Balance as at 31 December 2014 667,274 129,932 4,977 265 379,778 1,182,226

Other comprehensive income Profit for the year - - - 169,759 169,759
that will not be reclassified to Other comprehensive income for the year - - (338) (444)
profit or loss in subsequent Transfer to general loan loss reserve - (79) -

. Transfer to statutory reserve fund (restated) - (16,976) -
periods: Dividends (Final 2014 and Interim 2015)

Net gain/(loss) on investment (Note 44) - (89,886) (89,886)

securities at fair value through Other reserve movements - (140) (140)

763  other comprehensive income Balance as at 31 December 2015 667,274 442,118 1,261,515

E . los Profit for the year = 153,061 153,061
Xperience oss‘es on Other comprehensive income for the year - (60)
(38)  defined benefit plans (483) (6,846) Transfer to general loan loss reserve - (310)

(22) Income tax effect (1,139) 1,712 Transfer to statutory reserve fund - (15,395)

(60) (1,622) (5,134) Dividends (Final 2015 and Interim 2016)

(Note 44) - - (89,886) (89,886)
703 (1,622) (5,134) Other reserve movements - - 923 923
Balance as at 31 December 2016 667,274 162,303 922 490,451 1,326,316

Other comprehensive income
that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit and loss,
net of tax

Total equity
Statutory Statutory General Foreign attributable to Non-
Stated reserve surplus loan loss currency Retained equity holders controlling Total
Exchange differences on translation Group capital fund reserve reserve reserve earnings  of the parent interest equity
of foreign operations

Balance as at 31 December
2014 667,274 145,876 53,101 4,977 265 1,016,271 1,887,764 1,888,228

Total comprehensive income Profit for the year - - - - 247,424 247,424 247,447
169,315 153,764 for the year, net of tax 251,892 242313 Other comprehensive income for

the year (5,134) (5,134) (5,134)

Attributable to: Other life insurance reserve
169,315 153,764 Equity holders of the Parent 251,859 242,290 movements 57
— — Non—controlling interest 33 23 Transfer to general loan loss

reserve (79
169,315 153,764 251,892 242,313

Transfer to statutory surplus

reserve (4,226)

Transfer to statutory reserve

fund (restated) (16,976)

Dividends (Final 2014 and

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Interim 2015) (Note 44) (89.886) (89.886) (89,886)
Other reserve movements 5 (260) (260)

57 57

Balance as at 31 December
2015 667,274 162,852 1,147,456 2,039,965 2,040,452

Profit for the year 251,714 251,714 251,747
Other comprehensive income for

the year 1,767 (1,622) 145 145
Other life insurance reserve

movements (325)

Transfer to general loan loss

reserve (310)

Transfer to statutory reserve

fund (15,395)

Dividends (Final 2015 and

Interim 2016) (Note 44) (89,886) (89,886) (89,886)
Other reserve movements 31 31 31

Balance as at 31 December
2016 667,274 178,247 57,327 5,366 1,767 1,291,663 2,201,644 2,202,164

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.




MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
194,045 195,488 Profit before taxation 322,028 297,275
Adjustments for:
87 102  Employee benefits (3,027) (3,158)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property
- - and equipment (1,256) 1,727
1,322 518  Depreciation 11,465 3,723
9,816 257  Impairment on investments (2,089) 9,818
Amortisation of investment securities
(960) (590)  and interest capitalised (10,063) (15,811)
(Write back)/provisions for losses
15,112 (305)  on loans and advances (163) 15,112
(2,253) 3,037  Loss/(gain) on revaluation of investments 8,774 25,548
- —  Gain on revaluation of investment property - (455)
(3,195) (2,742) Loss/(gain) on sale of investment securities 10,207 (2,827)
(30,994) (59,979) Interest income (142,369) (145,020)
Write-off of capital expenditure and
5,730 - other receivables - 5,730
48,411 60,688  Finance costs 84,636 68,065
(1,172) (5,335) Foreign exchange gains (61,415) (11,929)
Operating profit before
235,949 191,139 working capital changes 216,728 247,798

(Increase)/decrease in investment in leased
(221,913) 51,777 assets and loans and advances (258) (209,102)
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable
(12,786) (6,622)  and debtors and prepayments 16,809 (98,226)
Decrease in customers’ deposits
(147,681) (50,037)  and other funding instruments (264,316) (317,167)
(Decrease)/increase in accrued interest
(17,850) 4,372 and other payables (2,081) (19,828)
(Increase)/decrease in Central Bank
3,659 (17,837) reserve account (17,946) 3,659
Increase in insurance and
investment contracts 54,037 136,935

(160,622) 172,792 2973 (255931)

(45,152) (59,413) Finance costs paid (78,873) (64,183)
29,157 62,218 Interest received on investments 150,860 143,048

(37,540)  (39,966) Taxes paid (61,050) (56,036)
(214,157) 135,631 Cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 13,910 (233,102)

Cash flows from investing activities
Placement of fixed deposits (120,684) (153,895)
Maturity of fixed deposits 146,332 145,213
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 4,709 -
Additions to fixed assets
(167) (367)  and investment properties (18,210) (8,436)
(747,634)  (694,754) Purchase of investments (1,619,320) (1,413,832)
874,969 725,933  Sale or maturity of investments 1,767,532 1,585,955
Acquisition of business,
(77,053)  net of cash acquired (44,467) (1,873)

Net cash generated from/(used in)
127,168 (46,241) investing activities 115,892 153,132
Cash flows from financing activities

498,984 42,837 Issue of debt securities 42,837 498,984
(350,000) (66,994) Repayment of debt securities (66,994) (350,000)
(89,886)  (89,886) Dividends paid (89,886) (89,886)
Net cash (used in)/generated from
59,098 114,043) financing activities (114,043) 59,098
Net increase/(decrease) in cash
(27,891) (24,653) and cash equivalents 15,759 (20,872)
Cash and cash equivalents at
253,016 225,125 the beginning of the year 642,224 663,096

Cash and cash equivalents at the
225,125 200,472 end of the year 657,983 642,224

Represented by:

235,278 200,472 Cash and cash equivalents 657,983 652,377
(10,153) — Bank overdraft - (10,153)

225,125 200,472 657,983 642,224

Supplemental information:
205,774 96,289 Interest and dividends received 306,558 312,355
45,152 59,413 Interest paid 66,145 65,649

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.




ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

Principal activities of the Group

ANSA Merchant Bank Limited (the ‘Bank’ or ‘Parent’) is domiciled and was incorporated in the
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago on 3 March 1977. Its registered office is located at ANSA
Centre, 11 Maraval Road, Port of Spain. The Bank is licensed under the provisions of the
Financial Institutions Act 2008 to carry on the following classes of business:

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

i)

Basis of preparation (continued)

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the fair
value measurement of trading investment securities, investment properties and other
financial assets not held in a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect

. Confirming House/Acceptance House contractual cash flows or whose contractual terms do not give rise solely to payments of
. Finance House/Finance Company principal and interest.
. Leasing Corporation i . i . o
R Mortgage Institution The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars (TT$) which is the
functional currency of the Parent and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand, except
. Merchant Bank Lo
when otherwise indicated.
. Trust Company
. Unit Trust The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the
. Financial Services previous period. In addition, the Group presents an additional statement of financial

The Bank has also been granted full Authorised Dealer Status by the Central Bank of Trinidad and
Tobago under Section 5 of the Exchange Control Act, Chapter 79:50 and is authorised to take
deposits, grant credit facilities and otherwise deal in foreign currency consistent with the terms of
its licence.

The Bank has a primary listing on the Trinidad & Tobago Stock Exchange and was registered by
the Trinidad and Tobago Securities and Exchange Commission as a reporting issuer on 18
December 1997. On 6 May 1999 under the Securities Industries Act 1995 the Bank was registered
to conduct business as a securities company.

The ANSA Merchant Bank Group (the ‘Group’) is a financial services group comprising of the
Parent and six subsidiaries at 31 December 2016. A full listing of the Group’s subsidiaries is
detailed in Note 11. The Group is engaged in a wide range of banking and financial related
activities and carries on all classes of long-term and short-term insurance business and the rental
of property in Trinidad and Tobago and the Caribbean. The ultimate parent of the Group is ANSA
MCcAL Limited (‘Ultimate Parent’) which is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.

Significant accounting policies

i) Basis of preparation

These financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

position at the beginning of the preceding period when there is a retrospective application
of an accounting policy, a retrospective restatement, or a reclassification of items in
the financial statements.

Presentation of financial statements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expense are not offset in the statement
of income unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as
specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An
analysis of recovery or settlement in the 12 months after the statement of financial position
date (current) and greater than 12 months after the statement of financial position date (non-
current) is presented in Note 40.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
i) Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of ANSA
Merchant Bank Limited and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

. Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee);

. Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
. The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To
support this presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

. The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
. The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

i)

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to
the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted
for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other
components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
investment retained is recognised at fair value.

The Bank established open-ended mutual funds in the following periods:

. 2005: ANSA Secured Fund
. 2007: ANSA US$ Secured Fund
. 2010: ANSA TT$ Income Fund and ANSA US$ Income Fund

The Bank acts as the sponsor, investment manager, administrator and distributor of the
Funds.

These mutual funds are financed through the issue of units to investors in the funds. The
Group generates fees from managing the assets of the mutual funds and the Group's
retirement benefit plans on behalf of third party interests. For the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group earned $6 million (2015: $6.8 million) in management fees from the
retirement plans and $18.8 million (2015: $17.7 million) from the mutual funds.

The Group holds an interest of $66 million in sponsored funds as at 31 December 2016
(2015: $64.8 million). The maximum exposure to loss in these funds is the carrying value
of the assets held by the Group.
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

i

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Bank re-assessed whether or not it controls any investee in accordance with
IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements. This assessment also extended to the Bank’s
open-ended mutual funds. The criteria for control includes:

* The power to govern the financial and operating policies;

» Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement; and

* The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s
returns.

Based on the application of this criteria, the Bank has consolidated the Funds into these
financial statements. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The
Parent accounts for investments in subsidiaries on a cost basis.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are
consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 except for the adoption of new standards
and interpretations noted below.

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Group applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments that became
applicable for the 2016 financial year, however there was no impact on the amounts
reported and/or disclosures in the financial statements.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

ii)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 — Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception — Effective 1 January 2016

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities
exception under IFRS 10. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from
presenting consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary
of an investment entity, when the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair
value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment
entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the
investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are
measured at fair value. The amendments to IAS 28 allow the investor, when applying the
equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity
associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments must be applied retrospectively and are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments
had no impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016

The amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than
significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:

. The materiality requirements in IAS 1;

. That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the
statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to
financial statements; and

5
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
i) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) ii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016 (continued) Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 — Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation — Effective 1 January 2016
Y y
e Thatthe share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is
those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a
. . . result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment
Furthermore, t'he amendments clar!fy th? requl're_ments that apply when add|t|qna| subtotals and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The
are presented in the statement of financial position and the statements of profit or loss and . . ] L
OCI. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Januar amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016 with early adontion permitted. These amendrzents had r?o im gct on the Grou y 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments had no impact on the Group given
’ ¥ adoption p ’ P P that the Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.
Amendments to IAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements — Effective
1 January 2016 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - Published September 2014
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in Certain limited amendm_ents, which primarily consist of clarifications to e),(iSt_ing guidance,
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities ¥yere n_naldett;) the ftol.lowmg standards and are not expected to have a material impact on the
already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial inancial statements.
statements will have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of IFRS
electing to use the equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required
to apply this method from the date of transition to IFRS. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These
amendments have no impact on the Group's financial statements.
7
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ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
ii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) iii) Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
New and led standards and interpretations (continued) When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed
) ) for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - Published September 2014 (continued) economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
° }Eﬁg 3 (gon-cgrze?t Assets H?ll‘)i,ﬁ); Sale a,nd Discontimed Operations Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair
° » "inancial instruments: Disclosures value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
o IaSIy, ‘E‘npbyc? Benefits '7 that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 - Financial Instruments:
¢ IAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 recognised in the statement of profit and loss.
and had no impact on the Group. . .
Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the
Standards issued but not yet effective consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests) and any
) ) o ) previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
The Group is current_ly assessing the potential impact (?f the following new standards and the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration
interpretations and will adopt them when they are effective. transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets
& A il o oot acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the
° mendments to [AS 7 - Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2017 amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an
° Ame“fimems to IAS 12—Recognition of Deferred Tax Asset for Unrealised Losses - excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred,
Effective 1 January 2017. then the gain is recognised in the profit or loss.
. Amendments to IFRS 4 — Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4
{;Sl;gzglcshcomrgmgfff;?ve,l Jin}my 20128(')18 After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
° » Phases 2 and 3 — Etfective _a“uary ) ) losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
. IFRS 15, ‘Revenuc from Contracts with Customers’ — Effective 1 January 2018. is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that is
e IFRS 16, Leases' - Effective | January 2019. expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
iii) Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations arc accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.
For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree cither at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.
9 10
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iii)  Business combinations and goodwill (continued) vi)  Financial instruments
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed The G v adopted IFRS 9. Fi ol T ' (Phase 1 issued in N b
operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or 2089 m:p car Yd?"p;f X ’zmlganmf? nstr ”lm§ms ( ;?)c] 8) (Ta}? ‘Séuc mn Ol\'lccrin ;r
loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in this circumstance is measured based on the relative and revised mh N l ). e ec?ve la"ua;_y ie fIFeRsrgoup applied the
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. cxemption given n the transitional provision for carly application o :
V) Cash and short-term funds Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks a)  Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
and on hand and short-term deposits with an original contractual maturity of three months ) )
or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. All regular way purchascs or sales of financial asscts arc rccognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents sales of financial asscts that require delivery of asscts within the time frame
consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash management. All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either
V) Statutory deposits with Central Banks amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.
. - Amortised cost and effective interest method
Pursuant to the provisions of Trinidad and Tobago, the Central Bank Act 1964 and the
Financial Institutions Act 2008, the Bank is required to maintain with the Central Bank of Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at
Trinidad and Tobago statutory balances in relation to deposit liabilities and certain funding amortised cost less impairment loss (except for debt instrument that are designated
instruments of the institutions. as at fair value through the statement of income on initial recognition):
In addition, Consolidated Finance Co. Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, is required to o the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
maintain with the Central Bank of Barbados statutory deposit balances in relation to order to collect contractual cash flows; and
deposit liabilities. Those funds are not available to finance the subsidiary's day-to-day . the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
operations. cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
11 12
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ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
vi) Financial instruments (continued) Vi) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued) Financial assets (continued)

a)  Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continucd) a) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method (continucd) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

o . . . (continued)
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to not be reclassified to the statement of income on disposal of the investments.
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
) ) o ) ) The Group does not have any equity instruments that are carried at FVOCI on initial

Income is recognised on an effective mtgrest ba;ls for del_)t ms_truments measured application of IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments .
subscequently at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised in the statement of
income and is included in Note 26. Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) Investments in equity instruments are classified as FVSI, unless the Group
On initial ition. the G ak . ble clection ( inst ) designates an investment that is not held for trading as fair value through other

1 mutial recognibion, the Lroup can make an urevocable election ton an instrumen comprehensive income (FVOCI) on initial recognition. The Group has designated all

by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI. . . Lo - S

L . . . . . . investments in equity instruments that are held for trading as FVSI on initial
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading. R
application of IFRS 9.

A financial assct is held for trading if: Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured as FVSI.
. . o o In addition, debt instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria but are designated

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; as FVSI are measured at FVSI. A debt instrument may be designated as FVSI upon
or o ) S initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or
instruments that the Group manages together and has evidence of a recent liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument or a financial guarantee.

13 14
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
vi)  Financial instruments (continued) vi)  Financial instruments (continued)
. . . Fi ial i
Financial assets (continued) inancial assets (continued)
. . . a)  Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continucd)
a) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
. . i . . Foreign exchange gains and losses (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI) (continued)
Therefore:

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVSI when the business . for financial assets that are classified as FVSI, the foreign exchange

model is changed such that the amortised cost criteria are no longer met. component is recognised in the statement of income; and

Reclas§i_ficat_ion of debt instruments that are dgsignated as FVSI on initial o for financial assets that are designated as FVOCL any foreign exchange

recognition is not allowed. The Group has not designated any debt instrument as component is recognised in other comprehensive income.

FVSI.

_ _ ) _ For forcign currency denominated debt instruments measured at amortised cost at
ijanual assets at FVSI are measureq at fair value at the end of eagh reporting the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are
period, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in the determined based on the amortised cost of the financial assets and are recognised in
statement of income. T!we net g.ain or Io§s regognised in the statement of income is the “investrnent income’ linesitem in the statement of income.
included in Note 26. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 37.

b)  Impairment of financial assets

Interest income on debt instruments designated at FVSI is included in the net gain or The Group assesses at cach reporting date whether there is any objective evidence
loss described above. thata ﬁnar_!cial asset or a group of ﬁnancia_l assets is_ impaired. A financiz_tl asset or a
group of financial assets is deecmed to be impaired if and only if, there is objective
Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVSI is recognised in the evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the
statement of income when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established initial recognition of the assct (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an
in accordance with IAS 18 'Revenue' and is included in the net gain or loss impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
described above. financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
. ) indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
Foreign exchange gains and losses difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting obscrvable data indicate that icrc isa mcasurablc‘dccrcas‘c‘ in the estimated futgrc
period. The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair value gain or loss. cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with

defaults.

15 16
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
vi) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

b) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
credit losses that have not yet been incurred) reflecting the amount of collateral and
guarantee, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income (recorded
as finance income in the statement of profit or loss) continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans, together with the
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If,
in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or
decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

vi)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

c)  Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in the statement of income. On derecognition of a financial
asset that is classified as FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to the statement of other
comprehensive income, but is reclassified to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities

a) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through the statement of income, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge as appropriate.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Vi) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
a) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. The
Group’s financial liabilities include other payables, bank overdrafts, deposit
liabilities and debt securities in issue. The Group has not designated any financial
liabilities upon initial recognition as at fair value through statement of income.

b) Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognising of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of income.

vii)  Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments at fair value at each year end. Also, fair
values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 37. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either:

. In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

20

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

vii)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Insurance contracts

With the exception of insurance contracts which are specifically excluded under IFRS 7,
the estimated fair values of certain financial instruments have been determined using
available market information or other appropriate valuation methodologies that require
judgment in interpreting market data and developing estimates.

Consequently, estimates made do not necessarily reflect the amounts that the Group would
realise in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or different
methodologies may have a material effect on the fair values estimated. The fair value
information is based on information available to management as at the dates presented.

Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the fair
value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for the purposes of
these financial statements and, therefore, the current estimates of the fair value may be
significantly different from the amounts presented herein.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and short-
term funds, fixed deposits, interest receivable and insurance receivable and other debtors,
customer deposits and other funding instruments, accrued interest and other payables are a
reasonable estimate of their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments.

13
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

vii)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Investment securities

The fair value of trading investments is based on market quotations, when available. When
market quotations are not readily available, fair values are based on discounted cash flows
or estimated using quoted market prices of similar investments. In the absence of a market
value, discounted cash flows will approximate fair value. This process relies on available
market data to generate a yield curve for each country in which valuations were
undertaken, using interpolated results where there were no market observable rates.

In pricing callable bonds, where information is available, the price of a callable bond is
determined as at the call date using the yield to worst. For bonds with irregular cash flows
(sinking funds, capitalisation of interest, moratoria, amortisations or balloon payments) a
process of iteration using the internal rate of return is used to arrive at bond values. Yields
on all tax-free bonds are grossed-up to correspond to similar taxable bonds at the
prevailing rate of corporation tax.

Loans and advances

The estimated fair value for performing loans is computed as the future cash flows
discounted and the yield to maturity based on the carrying values as the inherent rates of
interest in the portfolio as those rates approximate market conditions. When discounted,
the cash flow values are equal to the carrying value.

Debt securities in issue

The Group values the debt and asset-backed securities using valuation models which use
discounted cash flow analysis which incorporates either only observable data or both
observable and non-observable data. Observable inputs include assumptions regarding
current rates of interest and real estate prices; unobservable inputs include assumptions
regarding expected future default rates, prepayment rates and liquidity discounts.

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

vii)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

. Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

. Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable; and

. Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation techniques:

Level 1

Included in the Level 1 category are financial assets and liabilities that are measured in
whole or in part by reference to published quotes in an active market. A financial
instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or
regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Level 2

Included in the Level 2 category are financial assets and liabilities that are measured using
a valuation technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable
current market transactions and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but
where prices have not been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets
with fair values based on broker quotes, investments in private equity funds with fair
values obtained via fund managers and assets that are valued using the Group’s own
models whereby the majority of assumptions are market observable.

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

vii)

viii)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued)
Level 3

Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets and liabilities that are not quoted as
there are no active markets to determine a price. These financial instruments are held at
cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of the investment,
and are regularly assessed for impairment.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to a linked repurchase agreement (‘repo’) are retained in the
financial statements as trading securities and the counterparty liability is included in
amounts due to other banks, deposits from banks or other deposits as appropriate.
Securities purchased under an agreement to resell (‘reverse repo’) are recorded as loans
and advances to other banks. The difference between the sale and repurchase price is
treated as interest and accrued over the life of the repo agreement using the effective yield.

24

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

iX)

X)

Product classification
Insurance contracts

IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts defines insurance contracts as those containing significant
insurance risk at the inception of the contract. The significance of insurance risk is
dependent on both the probability of an insured event and the magnitude of its potential
effect. Long-term insurance contracts include those contracts with and without
discretionary participation features (‘DPF’). For insurance contracts with DPFs, the
guaranteed element has not been recognised separately. Changes to the insurance contract
liability are recognised in the statement of income as an item of expense.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance
contract for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly
during this period.

Investment contracts

Any insurance contracts not considered to be transferring significant risk are, under IFRS,
classified as investment contracts. Deposits collected and benefit payments under
investment contracts are not accounted for through the statement of income, but are
accounted for directly through the statement of financial position as a movement in the
investment contract liability. Changes in the fair value of financial assets backing
investment contracts are recognised in the statement of income as investment income.

Interest bearing debt and borrowings

Borrowings and interest bearing debt are initially recognised at the fair value of the
consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred. After initial recognition, these
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any transaction cost discount
or premium on issue. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.
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ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Xxi) Insurance receivables xiii)  Taxation (continued)
Insurance receivables are recognised when due. The carrying value of insurance Deferred tax
recel\_/ables s re\tllewed fort Ig\palrment V\llof:enevgtrhe\iﬁnts_or c!rcum:ta}nces mdlcgtz tf_\at ';Ee Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the
carrying anfwgun may not be recoveraple, wi € Impairment loss recorded in the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
statement of income. purposes at the reporting date.
Xii Reinsurance assets I . . .
) Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all applicable taxable temporary differences.
The Group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business. Reinsurance assets . . .
primarily include balances due from reinsurance companies for ceded insurance liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all t.jeductlble temporary d!ffferences and any unused
Premiums on reinsurance assumed are recognised as revenue in the same manner as they tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business, taking into account the profit will be available against WhiCh_t_he deductible temporary differences, and the carry
product classification of the reinsured business. Amounts due to reinsurers are estimated in forward of unused tax losses can be utilised.
a manner consistent with t_he associated reinst_lred pglicies and in accordance with the Current and deferred tax shall be recognised as income or an expense and included in
reinsurance contract. Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are presented on a gross profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or
basis. event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, outside profit or loss, either in
: . . . . . . . other comprehensive income or directly in equity and a business combination.
The benefit to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contract held is recognised P Y in equity
as reinsurance assets. Thgse assets consist of short-term balances due frqm reinsurers, as xiv)  Investment properties
well as longer term receivables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits
arising under the related reinsured insurance contract. Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation
An i i i i . d I rei h indicati . or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or
AN |mpa|rment review s performed on all reinsurance assetg when an |n_|cat|on 0 supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
impairment occurs. Reinsurance assets are impaired only if there is objective evidence that
the Group may not receive all amounts due to it under the terms of the contract and it can Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. The
be measured reliably. carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property, at
X the time that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria is met and excludes the costs of day-
xiii)  Taxation to-day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
Current income tax properties are measured annually by fair values either by way of Directors' internal
. [ valuations or by an accredited external, independent valuator. Directors use discounted
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be . ] e .
. . . cash flow models and assumptions which reflect the market conditions at the reporting
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to . .
- . date. External valuators apply valuation models recommended by the International
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting - ) :
X . . Valuation Standards Committee. Each property is externally valued at least once every
date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
three years.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are
included in the statement of income in the period in which they arise.
25 26 n
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
xiv)  Investment properties (continued) xv)  Property, equipment and leased assets (continued)
Investment properties are derecognised when they have either been disposed of or when Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated useful
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic lives of property and equipment are reviewed annually and adjusted prospectively if
benefits are expected. Any gain or loss arising on disposal is recognised in the statement appropriate. Investment property which is owner occupied is accounted for as property and
of income. equipment. Where the carrying value of an item of property and equipment exceeds the
. i . recoverable amount, the excess would be immediately taken to the statement of income.
Transfers are.made to or from |nvestment property only when there is a change in use. If An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
owner OC_CUP'ed property becomes Investment property, the G_VOUP accounts for such economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-
property in accordance with the policy under property and equipment up to the date of recognition of the asset is included in the statement of income.
change in use.
. Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
xv)  Property, equipment and leased assets changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation and/or the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
accumulated impairment loss, if any. Depreciation is provided on the straight line or written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is the
reducing balance method at various rates sufficient to write off the cost of the assets over higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell and the value in use.
their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are provided on a straight-line basis. ’ ;
R . . . . Repossessed stock, are valued at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the statement of income as -
. estimated cost to sell.
incurred.
The rates used are as follows: % per annum xvi) - Leases
Building 2 Finance leases (Group as Lessor)
Motor vehicles 20-33% Leases where the Group is the Lessor and transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
Computer equipment 25-33% of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee is treated as a finance lease. The amount due
Leasehold improvements 10-20 from customers under such finance lease arrangements is presented in the consolidated
Office furniture, machinery and equipment 10-33% statement of financial position as net investment in leased assets.
Leased vehicles and equipment 20 .
quip Operating leases (Group as Lessor)
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments received under operating leases are
credited to the consolidated statement of income over the period of the lease. Renewal of
operating leases is based on mutual agreement between parties prior to the expiration date.
27 28
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
xvi)  Leases (continued)

Operating leases (Group as Lessor) (continued)

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in leased assets in the statement of
financial position. They are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis
consistent with similar property and equipment.

xvii) Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group's interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (CGUSs), or groups of CGUs, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating
segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and
is not subsequently reversed.

Brands

Separately acquired brands are shown at historical cost. Brands acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Brands have an indefinite
useful life and impairment tests are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
xviii) Employee benefits

The ANSA MCcAL Pension Plan for Monthly Paid Employees is a hybrid plan with both
defined benefit and defined contribution characteristics for its members. It is governed by
trust deed and rules dated 17 September 1965 and encompass all eligible full time
employees of the ANSA McAL Group of Companies. The Plan was registered to carry on
business in Trinidad and Tobago on 31 October 1973.

The Trustees of the plan have elected to fund the benefits by means of a Segregated Asset
Plan with Tatil Life Assurance Limited by way of an agreement dated 1 October 1984.
Effective 1 January 2009, the name of the plan was changed to the ANSA McAL Pension
Plan for Monthly Paid Employees from Alston’s Pension Fund Plan and from this date all
new entrants to the Plan were admitted to a defined contribution scheme.

Defined benefit plan

The pension accounting costs for the defined benefit plan are assessed using the projected
unit credit method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect
of the asset ceiling, excluding net interest (not applicable to the Group) and the return on
plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the statement of
financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through the
statement of other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-
measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. The maximum
economic benefits available, as limited by the asset ceiling will crystallise in the form of
reductions in future contributions.

Past service costs are recognised in the statement of income on the earlier of:

. The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
. The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
xviii) Employee benefits (continued) xix)  Insurance contract liabilities
Net interest is calculated py applying the_dlscount ratg to the net def_lned benefl_t Ilab_lllty_ or Life insurance contract liabilities
asset. The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation
under ‘general administration expenses’ in the statement of income (by function) Note 33: The provision for a life insurance contract is calculated on the basis of a cash flow
Servi . . . . dl matching method where the expected cash flows are based on prudent assumptions
erwc;e _cloststcomgnsmg CLi_rrent itelrwce tC(-JSISa past-service costs, gains and losses depending on the circumstances prevailing. The liability is determined as the sum of the
on cyr aliments an non.—rou Ine settiements; an discounted value of the expected benefit payments and the future administration expenses
Net interest expense or income. that are directly related to the contract, less the expected discounted value of the actual
Other post-employment benefit plan gross premiums that would be paid over the expected future lifetime of the contract. The
liability is based on best estimate assumptions as to mortality, persistency, investment
The Group also provides other post-employment benefits to their retirees. These benefits income and maintenance expenses that are expected to prevail over the life of the contract.
are unfunded. The entitlement to these benefits is based on the employee remaining in A margin for adverse developments is added to each best estimate assumption to provide a
service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The prudent estimate of possible future claims. Adjustments to the liabilities at each end of
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an reporting period are recorded in the statement of income as an expense.
accounting methodology similar to that for the defined benefit plans.
General insurance contract liabilities
Defined contribution plan . R . . .
General insurance contract liabilities are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims
Under the defined contribution plan, the Group has no further payment obligations once incurred but not settled at year end, whether reported or not. Significant delays can be
the contributions have been paid. Contributions are recognised as an expense when they experienced in the notification and settlement of certain types of general insurance claims,
are due. particularly in respect of liability business, therefore the ultimate cost cannot be known
with certainty at the statement of financial position date.
Provision for unearned premiums
The proportion of written premiums attributable to subsequent periods is deferred as
unearned premiums. The change in the provision for unearned premium is taken to the
statement of income in the order that revenue is recognised over the period of risk.
Liability adequacy test
In accordance with IFRS 4, reserving for liabilities existing as at the statement of financial
position date from property and casualty lines of business has been tested for adequacy by
independent actuarial consultants using the Bornhuetter-Fergusson model.
31 32
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
xix)  Insurance contract liabilities (continued) xx)  Provisions (continued)
Liability adequacy test (continued) If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a
The Bornhuetter-Fergusson model can be summarised as follows: current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When
. . ) ) ) ) discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
. This valuation method makes an independent estimate of the gross ultimate claims to as a finance cost
a corresponding premium for each underwriting year based on expectations of '
claims arising from the gross premiums written in that year; xxi)  Guarantee reserve fund
e Itestimates a claim run-off pattern of how claims emerge year by year until all is The Bank has guaranteed 100% return of the principal invested in ANSA Secured Fund
known abqut the total ultlr-nate claim; . . _ and ANSA US$ Secured Fund, subject to minimum period of investment and a fixed
. From the independent estimate of gross ultimate claims, the portion that relates to minimum yield on the units held subject to a defined period of time, established at the time
past periods is removed and the resultant balance is the gross claims yet to emerge. of purchase.
The independent actuaries concluded in their report dated 9 February 2017 that the The Bank establishes a guarantee reserve fund as a liability on its statement of financial
carrying amounts of the insurance liabilities of the general insurance subsidiary as at 31 position through the statement of income for any shortfalls that may arise under the
December 2016, in respect of incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims and claims from guarantee, as required. At each end of reporting period, the Bank values these guarantees
unexpired contracts were adequate. and any changes required are adjusted accordingly through the statement of income.
Provision for unexpired risk
Provision for unexpired risk is computed as a percentage of the provision for unearned xxii) - Revenue recognition
premiums at the end of the year. At each statement of financial position date, liability Revenue is considered to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to
adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the insurance liabilities. Any the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment was
deficiency is charged to the statement of income by subsequently establishing a provision made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
for losses arising from the liability adequacy tests (the unexpired risk provision). excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes. The following specific recognition
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.
xx)  Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) Loans and advances
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic Income from loans, including origination fees, is recognised on an amortised basis. Interest
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the is accounted for on the accruals basis except where a loan contractually becomes three
amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be months in arrears at which point the accrued interest is suspended and subsequently
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a accounted for on a cash basis until the arrears are cleared.
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating
to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
xxii) Revenue recognition (continued) Xxii) ~ Revenue recognition (continued)
. Fees and commissions
Investment income
Interest income is recoanised in the statement of income as it accrues. takin into account Unless included in the effective interest calculation, fees are recognised on an accrual basis
the eff It' X Ild ftr? ! : licabl ﬂ' i tl Int u t" Ing ! lud ltJh as the service is provided. Fees and commissions not integral to the effective interest
¢ et_ect_lve y;e Od' ¢ asste or an applica ti oa Intg rta e |3 z'es_ Ir:cometz '”CtU_ es the arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction from a third
a:norir:s? |(;)n (()jiv?gyndlsur)\:n norfpirre\r;mlum (;]nn € constant yield basis. Investment income party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other
alsoIncludes enas and any fair vaiue changes. management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service
Interest income is accrued until the investment contractually becomes three months in contract.
arrears at Whlch time the interest is suspended and then accounted for on a cash basis until Other income and expenditure
the investment is brought up to date.

o . Other income and expenditure, inclusive of borrowing costs, are brought into account on

Dividend income the accruals basis.

Dividend income is recognised when the Group's right to receive the payment is i D it tributi

established. xxiii) Deposit insurance contribution

Rental income The Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago and the Financial Institutions (Non-Banking)
(Amendment) Act 1986 of Trinidad and Tobago established a Deposit Insurance Fund for

Rental income from investment property under operating leases is recognised in the the protection of depositors. An annual premium of 0.2% is levied on the average deposit

statement of income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. liability outstanding at the end of each quarter of the preceding year.

Premium income The Barbados Deposit Insurance Corporation in accordance with the Deposit Insurance

Premiums from life insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when payable by the Act 2006-29 of Barbados established a Deposit Insurance Fund for the protection of

policyholders. For single premium business this is the date from which the policy becomes depositors. An annual premium of 0.05% is levied on the average deposit liability

effective. For non-life business, premiums written are recognised on policy inception and outstanding at the end of each quarter of the preceding year.

earned on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related policy coverage.

. . . . . o . xxiv) Benefits and claims

Premiums written on general insurance policies are recognised on policy inception and

earned on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related policy coverage. For single premium Life insurance

business this is the date from which the policy is effective.

) ) Life insurance business claims reflect the cost of all claims incurred during the year. Death
Reinsurance premiums claims and surrenders are recorded on the basis of notifications received. Maturities and
Reinsurance premiums are recognised when the right to receive the gross premium is annuity payments are recorded when due.
recognised in accordance with the relevant reinsurance contract.
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2.

XXiV)

XXV)

XXVi)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Benefits and claims (continued)
General insurance

Reported outstanding general insurance claims comprise the estimated costs of all claims
incurred but not settled at the end of the reporting period, less any reinsurance recoveries.
In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims not yet paid, the Group considers
any information available from adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims
with similar characteristics in previous periods. Provision is made for claims incurred but
not reported (IBNR) until after the end of the reporting period. Differences between the
provisions for outstanding claims and subsequent revisions and settlement are included in
the statement of income in the year the claims are settled.

Reinsurance claims

Reinsurance claims are recognised when the related gross insurance claim is recognised
according to the terms of the relevant reinsurance contract.

Lapses - Life Insurance
Policies will lapse and the Group’s liability will cease:

i At the end of the grace period (30 days) for any unpaid premium unless the premium
or part of it is advanced under the automatic premium loan provision or the policy is
changed to paid up or;

ii. At the end of the pro-rated period for which insurance is provided if part of an
unpaid premium was advanced under the automatic loan provision; or

iii. At the end of the 30 day period following the mailing of a lapse notice indicating
that the indebtedness equals or exceeds the gross cash value.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each group entity is presented in the currency of the
primary economic environment, in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The
separate and consolidated financial statements are expressed in Trinidad and Tobago
dollars, which is the functional currency of the parent.

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

XXVi)

XXVil)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Trinidad
and Tobago Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that existed at the
date of the initial transaction. All revenue and expenditure transactions denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at mid-exchange rates and the resulting profits and losses
on exchange from these trading activities are dealt with in the statement of income.

Foreign entities

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into
Trinidad and Tobago Dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at 31 December and their
statements of profit or loss are translated at an average exchange rate. The exchange
differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI.

Equity movements
Stated capital

Ordinary stated capital is classified within equity and is recognised at the fair value of the
consideration received by the Group. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown as a reduction in equity, net of tax. As equity is repurchased, the
amount of consideration paid is recognised as a charge to equity and reported in the
statement of financial position as treasury shares.

Dividends on ordinary share capital

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when
they are approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. Dividends are deducted from equity
when they are paid.

Dividends for the year that are approved after the statement of financial position date are
dealt with as an event after the end of reporting date.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

xxviii) Statutory reserve fund

XXiX)

XXX)

XXXI)

The Financial Institutions Act 2008 of Trinidad and Tobago requires that not less than 10%
of the net profit of the Bank after deduction of taxes in each year be transferred to a
statutory reserve fund until the balance standing to the credit of this reserve is equal to the
paid up capital of the Bank.

The Financial Institutions Act 1996 of Barbados, requires that a minimum of
15% of annual net income be appropriated to a reserve fund until the balance of such funds
equals the stated capital of Consolidated Finance Co Limited.

Catastrophe reserve

On an annual basis, the Group determines an amount that is transferred to a catastrophe
reserve. This is treated as an appropriation of retained earnings and is disclosed as part of
the statutory reserve fund in the statement of financial position.

Statutory surplus reserve

As required by Section 171 of the Insurance Act 1980 of Trinidad and Tobago at least 25%
of an insurance company’s profit from general insurance business, for the preceding year is
to be appropriated towards a statutory surplus reserve until such surplus equals or exceeds
the reserves in respect of its outstanding unexpired policies. This reserve is not
distributable.

General loan loss reserve

The Bank has established a general reserve for loan losses in accordance with the
guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago. The reserve has been
calculated at one half of one percent of the loan balance at the year-end and encompasses
hire purchase loans, finance leases and premium financing loans after deducting unearned
finance charges. This reserve has been accounted for as an appropriation of retained
earnings and is disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

xxxii) Earnings per share

Earnings per share have been calculated by taking the profit for the year attributable to
shareholders over the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year net of treasury shares (2016: $2.94; 2015: $2.89). There are no dilutive ordinary
shares in issue.

xxxiii) Salvage and subrogation reimbursements

Some insurance contracts permit the Group to sell (usually damaged) property acquired in
settling a claim (salvage). Salvage is recognised on a cash receipts basis.

The Group may also have the right to pursue third parties for payment of some or all costs
(subrogation). Subrogation reimbursements are also considered as an allowance in the
measurement of the insurance liability for claims and are recognised in other assets when
the liability is settled. The allowance is the assessment of the amount that can be recovered
from the action against the liable third party.

xxxiv) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the
recoverable amount. A previous impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimate used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates in applying Group policies (continued)
xxxiv) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) i) Judgements
If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the assets in the separate and consolidated financial statements:
prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of income unless the asset is
carried at the revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation Finance lease commitments — Group as lessor (Note 5)
Increase. Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the leases transfer
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates in applying Group policies classified as operating leases.
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor (Note 12)
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, i . .
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life
of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease payments not
. . , . o ] amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
Other disclosures relating to the Group’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the
. Financial instruments risk management (Note 38) contracts as operating leases.
. Capital management (Note 39)
Property and equipment (Note 13)
Management exercises judgement in determining whether costs incurred can accrue
sufficient future economic benefits to the Group to enable the value to be treated as a
capital expense. Further judgement is used upon annual review of the residual values and
useful lives of all capital items to determine any necessary adjustments to carrying value.
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates in applying Group policies (continued) 3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates in applying Group policies (continued)
i) Judgements (continued) ii) Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Impairment of financial assets _ ) .
Impairment of goodwill (Note 14) (continued)
Management makes judgements at each statement of financial position date to determine
whether financial assets are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when the carrying Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. generating units, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
The recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. generating units is less than their carrying amount an impairment loss is recognised. The
Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. Previously
Assessment of control recorded impairment losses for goodwill are not reversed in future periods.
Management uses judgement in performing a control assessment review on all mutual When aoodwill forms part of a cash-enerating unit (or aroun of cash-qenerating units) and
funds and retirement plans sponsored by the Group and its subsidiaries. This assessment ; fgth ph i P ithin that 9 it é.g ! Id( fgthUP " _"g 'Itgdu '.ﬂ)1 th
revealed that the Group is able to exercise control, as defined by IFRS 10, over the par c;_ edt_)pera Idoni w Ilnd g.um 15 disposed o ’t it?]oo wi t_assc:cuéet w the
activities of the funds. However this control does not extend to the Group's retirement op_era jons |sposg ot Is included In c.scarrylng ar_nour_1 otthe opgra |o.n 0. etermine _e
plans. gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operations disposed of and the portion of the
ii) Estimates and assumptions cash-generating units retained.
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty Deferred taxes (Note 15)
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the i A i . .
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described In calculating the provision for deferred taxation, management uses judgment to determine
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the the possibility _that future t_axable prqflts will be available to facilitate utilisation of
separate and consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and temporary tax differences which may arise.
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or . .
circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected Pension and other post-employment benefits (Note 16)
in the assumptions when they occur. The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits is
. . determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making
Impairment of goodwill (Note 14) assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators that goodwill is impaired at each |n|creases,hmo?alltty e anl;i. futtl:re Pen.sfn.on |tncreas¢is.. Pue 1o the longElRIREe of these
reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances plans, such SSUpateseiesb I BeRio gniTicant GnCEralLy.
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
Insurance contract liabilities (Note 21)
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under life and general
insurance contracts is an accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that
need to be considered in the estimation of the liability that the Group will ultimately pay
for those claims.
43 44
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates in applying Group policies (continued)
ii) Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Insurance contract liabilities (Note 21) (continued)

For the life insurance contracts, estimates are made as to the expected number of deaths for
each of the years in which the Group is exposed to risk. The Group based these estimates
on standard industry mortality tables that reflect historical mortality experience, adjusted
where appropriate to reflect the Group’s unique risk exposure. The number of deaths
determines the value of possible future benefits to be paid out which will be factored into
ensuring sufficient cover reserves, which in return is monitored against current and future
premiums. For those contracts that insure risk to longevity, prudent allowance is made for
expected future mortality improvements, both epidemic, as well as wide ranging changes to
lifestyle, could result in significant changes to the expected future mortality exposure. All
of this results in even more uncertainty in estimating the ultimate liability.

Estimates are also made as to future investment income arising from the assets backing life
insurance contracts. These estimates are based on current market returns as well as
expectations about future economic and financial developments.

Estimates for future deaths, voluntary terminations, investment returns and administration
expenses are determined at the inception of the contract and are used to calculate the
liability over the term of the contract. At each end of reporting period, these estimates are
reassessed for adequacy and changes will be reflected in adjustments to the liability.

For general insurance contracts, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate
cost of claims reported at the end of a reporting period and for the expected ultimate cost
of claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) at the end of a reporting period. It can take
a significant period of time before the ultimate claims costs can be established with
certainty. The primary technique adopted by management in estimating the cost of notified
and IBNR claims is that of using past claim settlement trends to predict future claims
settlement estimates. At each end of reporting period, prior year claims estimates are
reassessed for adequacy and changes are made to the provision. General insurance claims
provisions are not discounted for the time value of money.
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates in applying Group policies (continued)

ii)  Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Valuation of investments (Note 37)

Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the specific instrument, comparisons with
other similar financial instruments, or the use of valuation models. Establishing valuations
where there are no quoted market prices inherently involves the use of judgment and
applying judgment in establishing reserves against indicated valuations for aged positions,
deteriorating economic conditions (including country specific risks), concentrations in
specific industries, types of instruments or currencies, market liquidity, model risk itself
and other factors.

4. Cash and short-term funds

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015

Cash and short-term funds

97,331 107,032 Cash in hand and at bank 374,074 371,630
137,947 93,440 Short-term deposits with other banks 283,909 280,747
235,278 200,472 657,983 652,377

67,707 85,543 Central Bank Reserve 108,121 67,707
302,985 286,015 766,104 720,084

Cash held at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term
deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit
rates.
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4. Cash and short-term funds (continued)

The Central Bank Reserve balance represents the amounts held at the Central Bank of Trinidad
and Tobago and the Central Bank of Barbados as required under the respective regulatory
pronouncements. The Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago reserve account represents 9% of
average deposit liabilities and is non-interest bearing. The Central Bank of Barbados reserve
account represents 5% of average deposit liabilities and earned interest of 0.10% (2015: 0.10%).

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following
at 31 December:

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
97,331 107,032 Cash in hand and at bank 374,074 371,630
137,947 93,440 Short-term deposits with other banks 283,909 280,747
235,278 200,472 657,983 652,377
(10,153) — Bank overdraft - (10,153)
225,125 200,472 657,983 642,224

5. Net investment in leased assets and other instalment loans

a)  Netinvestment in leased assets and other instalment loans

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
921,772 1,001,675 Hire purchase 1,464,729 921,772
288,410 261,183 Finance leases 259,163 286,174
1,210,182 1,262,858 Performing 1,723,892 1,207,946
29,332 40,172 Non-performing 41,700 29,332

1,239,514 1,303,030 Future minimum lease payments 1,765,592 1,237,278

Future finance charges and loan
(224,462) (227,212) fees (315,554) (223,959)

Present value of minimum lease
1,015,052 1,075,818 payments 1,450,038 1,013,319

47

5. Netinvestment in leased assets and other instalment loans (continued)

a) Netinvestment in leased assets and other instalment loans (continued)

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
(9,015) (16,573) Specific provision (17,707) (9,015)
(931) (2,750) Collective provision (4,403) (931)

Net investment in leased assets
1,005,106 1,056,495 net of provision 1,427,928 1,003,373

b)  New business less unearned income

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
New business less unearned
415,874 449,762 income 449,762 415,602

c)  Presentvalue of minimum lease payments has the following sectorial breakdown:

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
430,931 446,922 Personal 746,034 430,931
584,121 628,896 Commercial 704,004 582,388
1,015,052 1,075,818 1,450,038 1,013,319

d)  Present value of minimum lease payments has the following maturity profile:

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
83,545 86,737 Within 1 year 102,577 83,545
806,907 815,252 1to 5 years 1,005,703 805,174
124,600 173,829 Over 5 years 341,758 124,600
1,015,052 1,075,818 1,450,038 1,013,319
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5. Net investment in leased assets and other instalment loans (continued)

6.  Loans and advances (continued)

e)  Future minimum lease payments has the following maturity profile: Parent Group
Parent Group 2015 2016 2016 2015
2015 2016 2016 2015 Sectorial analysis of advances
83,560 88,628 Within 1 year 104,931 83,560 13010 13879 P | 97,050 48.920
1,031,354 982,367 1to5 years 1,206,869 1,029,118 : : ersonat _ ’ :
124,600 232,035 Over 5 years 453,792 124,600 155,720 162,524 Retail/distribution/manufacturing 185,488 155,720
1239514  1303.030 1765592 1237 278 9,681 4,478 Hotel and restaurant 40,564 9,681
— — L == 487,102 399,085 Construction and real estate 421,817 517,212
The movement in provision for leases and other instalment loans is as follows: 30,202 — Financial - 30,202
Parent Group 44,879 72,487 Utilities 72,487 44,879
2015 2016 2016 2015 69,378 44,975 Other 125,627 69,378
4,516 9,946 Balance at 1 January 9,946 4,516 809,972 697,428 943,033 875,992
Acauired from business
_ —  combination 3,342 _ Loans and advances have the
5,430 9,377 Charge for the year 9,749 5,430 following maturity profile
- — Amounts written back (927) - .
0.945 19323 22110 0.045 718,914 570,147 Within 1 year 648,510 718,914
: 222 At 31 December : : 15,471 23431 1to5 years 32,132 16,447
Repossessed collateral 75,587 103,850 Over 5 years 262,391 140,631
A§ a_lt 31 December 2(_)1_6, the Group held rep_ossessed vehicles with a fair \_/alue qf $2.3 809,972 697,428 943,033 875,992
million (2015: $3.4 million). Repossessed vehicles are sold as soon as practical, with the
proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The movement in specific provision for non-performing
6.  Loans and advances advances is analysed as follows:
i 1Parent sl ) 1Group - Parent Group
015 016 016 015 2015 2016 2016 2015
- — Policy loans 11,340 10,969
4,024 ~ Mortgage loans 110371 59,075 - 9682 Balance at 1 January - 9.682 280
796,266 697,428 Other loans and advances 716,750 796,266 - — Acquired from business combination 67,104 -
800290 697428 Performing | dad 838 461 866,310 - (9,682) Amounts written back (10,004) (280)
, \ erforming loans and advances X , B B
9,682 — Non-performing loans and advances 104,572 9,682 9,682 Charge for the year 9,682
809,972 697,428 943,033 875,992 9,682 — At 31 December 66,782 9,682
(9,682) — Specific provision (66,782) (9,682)
800,290 697,428 876,251 866,310
49 50
7. Investment securities 7. Investment securities (continued)
Investment securities are stated net of impairment provisions for both the Parent and Group and Parent Group
comprise of investment securities designated as at fair value through statement of income, 2015 2016 2016 2015
;Evestrzer:ttsecurlttlefs ntwheasured at ﬁmottlse_d cost and investment securities measured at fair value Investment securities designated
rough statement of other comprehensive income. and measured at EVOCI
Parent Group 19,230 19,993 Equity securities — —
2015 2016 2016 2015 10,230 19,003 B h
Investment securities
Designated at fair value through 609,748 600,215 Total investment securities 3,282,742 3,254,141
128,733 87,962 statement of income 964,986 1,272,357 Equity securities listed under investment securities designated and measured at fair value through
461,785 492,260 Amortised cost 2,317,756 1,981,784 . , .
. other comprehensive income relates to the Bank’s investment in the mutual funds.
Fair value through other
19,230 19,993  comprehensive income - - . - . Lo o
The movement in specific provision for non-performing investment securities is analysed as
609,748 600,215 Total investment securities 3,282,742 3,254,141 follows:
o . Parent Group
Investment securities designated 2015 2016 2016 2015
at fair value through statement
of income - 9,816 Balance at 1 January 12,136 8,413
89,498 34,834 Equity securities 691,202 884,505 0816 - ég?”gtfso‘;v{r:ge”e:fc'( (l’igg) (S’ég)
12,028 3,387 Government bonds 30131 116,661 : g Y :
- 9,931 State-owned company securities 81,122 115,481
27,207 39,810 Corporate bonds 162,531 155,710 9,816 10 G R December doers 12,136
8.  Assets pledged
128,733 87,962 964,986 1,272,357
Parent Group
Investmen.t securities measured 2015 2016 2016 2015
at amortised cost
— — Cash and short-term funds 128,832 198,561
88 10,119 Government bonds 476,693 347,350 — — Loans and advances 110,651 63,587
230,755 226,173 State-owned company securities 849,024 734,141 - — Bonds and debentures 886,118 702,978
230,942 255,968 Corporate bonds 992,039 900,293 _ — Equities 512,509 480,843
461785 492,260 2,317,756 1,981,784 . — Real estate 25,300 25900
- - 1,663,410 1,471,269
51 52
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8.  Assets pledged (continued) 11.  Investment in subsidiaries
.. . L Parent
Under the provisions of the Insurance Act 1980, the Group has established and maintains a 2016 2015
statutory fund_and gstatutgry_deposnt of which the assets are pledged and held to the order of the At beginning of the period 632,500 632,500
Inspector of Financial Institutions. Acquisitions during the year (Note 41) 177.820 _
- i 810,320 632,500
9. Insurance receivables Atend of the period : :
The consolidated financial statements include the subsidiaries listed in the following table:
Parent Group . .
Proportion Proportion
2015 2016 2016 2015 Country of of issued of issued
. . incorporation and capital held capital held
- - Pre’tmlums recelva_ble 26,508 28,363 Name of Company operation 31-Dec-16 31-Dec-15
— — Reinsurance receivables 21,140 8,807 Trinidad and Tobago Insurance Limited Trinidad and Tobago 100% 100%
TATIL Life Assurance Limited Trinidad and Tobago 99.93% 99.93%
- - 47,648 37,170 TATIL Re Limited St Lucia 100% 100%
ANSA Securities Limited Trinidad and Tobago 100% 100%
10.  Other debtors and prepayments ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited Barbados 100% Nil
Consolidated Finance Co. Limited Barbados 100% Nil
Parent Group

The transfer of assets from the subsidiaries to the parent is subject to approval by the relevant governance committees including the
2015 2016 2016 2015 Board of Directors of the individual subsidiaries. Further, TATIL Life Assurance Limited requires approval by the Central Bank of
Trinidad and Tobago for instances of a distribution of capital approved by the Board of Directors.

16,107 12,301 Fees and rent re_:celvable 1,249 1,100 On 3 October 2016, the Bank capitalised ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited and was issued 100% of its share capital. Also
- — Proceeds from investment - 14,247 on that date the Bank completed the acquisition of 100% of the financial services business of Consolidated Finance Co. Limited (CFC)
884 612 Prepayments 6,806 5,473 and as a result of that acquisition ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited is now the immediate parent company of CFC. Details
960 2422 VAT receivable 5615 960 of the acquisition are disclosed in Note 41 of these financial statements.
12,082 12,678 Insurance prepayments 12,678 12,082
8,176 22,317 Client funds receivable 22,514 8,176
7,041 650 Other related party balances 798 8,267
Other receivables on leased vehicles
- — & equipment 2,411 -
— 891 Other receivables 5,515 —
45,250 51,871 57,586 50,305
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12.  Investment properties 13.  Property and equipment
Parent Group Parent 2016 Furniture ~ Computer Motor Leasehold Total
2015 2016 2016 2015 & equipment  equipment vehicles improvements
Cost
- — Valuation at beginning of the year 138,483 136,612 At beginning of the period 1,517 6,046 1,304 2,999 11,866
- — Additions during the year 785 1,416 Additions 26 337 - 4 367
- — Gain from revaluation - 455 At end of the period 1,543 6,383 1,304 3,003 12,233
. Accumulated depreciation
- ____ - Valuationatclose of the year _ 139268 138,483 At beginning of the period 1,133 5,500 799 2,932 10,364
. ) Current depreciation 41 343 113 21 518
- — Rental income from properties 17,546 21,638
. . n At end of the period 1,174 5,843 912 2,953 10,882
Direct operating expenses arising
Net book value 369 540 392 50 1,351

from investment properties that
generated rental income during
- —  the period 7,073 8,228

Operating leases

The Group’s policy is to rent investment properties to tenants through operating leases. Minimum
future rentals to be received on non-cancellable operating leases of the Group’s investment
properties are receivable in the following periods:

2016 2015
No later than 1 year 17,166 20,378
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 57,437 58,320
Later than 5 years 47,447 27,876

122,050 _106,574
The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual

obligation to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and
enhancements.
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13.  Property and equipment (continued) 13.  Property and equipment (continued)
Parent 2015 Furniture  Computer Motor Leasehold Total Group 2016 ) Leased
& equipment  equipment vehicles improvements Furniture  Computer Motor Leasehold Land & vehicles
& equipment  equipment vehicles improvements buildings & equipment Total
Cost Cost
At beginning of the period 1,498 5,924 1,304 2,973 11,699 At beginning of the
Additions 19 122 - 26 167 period 18,686 40,186 3,540 3,440 16,518 - 82,370
Additions from business
At end of the period 1,517 6,046 1,304 2,999 11,866 combination 2,643 2,672 1,160 3,647 5,385 246,110 261,617
Accumulated depreciation Additions 1,880 1,065 357 4 - 14,119 17,425
L P ) Transfers 5,009 (1,986) - - (3,023) - -
At beginning of the period 1,089 4,667 654 2,632 9,042 Disposals (21) (156) (293) _ _ (12,079) (12,549)
Current depreciation 44 833 145 300 1,322 Assets written off (7.713) ___ (10,906) - - - - (18,619)
At end of the period 20,484 30,875 4,764 7,091 18,880 248,150 330,244
At end of the period 1,133 5,500 799 2,932 10,364 P
Net book value 384 546 505 67 1,502
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13.  Property and equipment (continued) 13.  Property and equipment (continued)
Group 2016 Leased Group 2015 Leased
Furniture  Computer Motor Leasehold Land & Vehicles Furniture  Computer Motor Leasehold Land & Vehicles
&equipment  equipment vehicles improvements buildings & equipment Total & equipment  equipment vehicles improvements buildings & equipment Total
Accumulated depreciation
- Cost
At beginning of the _—
eriod At beginning of the
per ) 12,524 32,161 1374 2,795 4,933 - 53,787 period 23,720 48,892 3,106 2,973 13,469 . 92,160
Add'“OS_S frt‘_’m business Additions 459 2516 434 - 4,249 o 7,658
comhination 2,209 2,668 656 3,347 94 100,830 109,804 Additions from business
Current depreciation 1,226 838 564 73 92 8,672 11,465 combination: 282 29 467
Disposals (21) (149) (163) - - (8,821) (9,154) 3 S - - - 718
Assets written off (7.713) (10,743) - - - - (18,456) Disposals (1,365) ©) - - - - (1,:368)
Transfer from investment
Atend of the period 8,225 24,775 2,431 6,215 5,119 100,681 147,446 property _ _ _ _ (1,200) - (1,200)
Net book value 12,259 6,100 2,333 876 13,761 147469 182,798 Assets written off (4410) _ (11.248) = = = - (15859
Atend of the period 18,686 40,186 3,540 3,440 16,518 - 82,370
59 60
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13.  Property and equipment (continued)

Group 2015 Leased
Furniture  Computer Motor Leasehold Land & Vehicles
& equipment  equipment vehicles improvements buildings & equipment Total

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the

period 16,756 42,444 972 2,632 3,732 - 66,536
Current depreciation 546 1,411 402 163 1,201 - 3,723
Disposals (839) ) - - - - (841)
Assets written off (3,939) (11,692) - - - - (15,631)
Atend of the period 12,524 32,161 1,374 2,795 4,933 — 53,787
Net book value 6,162 8,025 2,166 645 11,585 - 28,583

As at 31 December 2016, the Parent’s gross carrying amount of fully depreciated assets still in use amounted to $0.9 million (2015: $0.9
million) and the Group $16.3 million (2015: $20.6 million). There were no property and equipment retired, held for disposal, restrictions
on title or pledged as security for liabilities as well as no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property and equipment as at 31
December 2016 and at 31 December 2015 for both the Parent and the Group.
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14. Intangible assets

2016 Goodwill Brands Total
Gross carrying amounts

At beginning of the period 133,762 570 134,332
Acquisitions during the year (Note 41) 2,599 - 2,599
At end of the period 136,361 570 136,931
Accumulated impairment and amortisation

At beginning of the period - (570) (570)
Impairment charge for the year - - -
At end of the period - (570) (570)
Net carrying amounts 136,361 = 136,361
2015

Goodwill at carrying value 133,762 — 133,762
Goodwill

On 1 January 2004, the Bank acquired 100% of the issued ordinary shares of Trinidad and
Tobago Insurance Limited.

The cost of acquisition was $622.5 million, resulting in goodwill of $133.8 million. The purchase
consideration was discharged by the issuance of 54,605,263 new ordinary shares of the Bank at a
price of $11.40 per share, which was the publicly listed price at 31 December 2003. As at 30
September 2010, the Bank invested $10 million into its subsidiary ANSA Securities Limited
which represents 100% of its shareholding.

On 3 October 2016, the Bank capitalised ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited and was
issued 100% of its share capital. Also on that date the Bank completed the acquisition of 100% of
the financial services business of Consolidated Finance Co. Limited (CFC) and as a result of that
acquisition ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited is now the immediate parent company
of CFC. Details of the acquisition are disclosed in Note 41 of these financial statements.

The cost of transaction was $177.9 million, resulting in provisional goodwill of $2.6 million.
Further details are provided in Note 41 of these financial statements.
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14. Intangible assets (continued)

Brands

On 1 May 2015, Trinidad and Tobago Insurance Limited (TATIL), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Bank acquired the assets and assumed the liabilities of Brydens Insurance Inc., a 100%
indirect subsidiary of ANSA McAL (Barbados) Limited. As required by IFRS 3 - Business
Combinations, the Brand Name of Brydens Insurance Inc., was identified as an asset which
formed part of the business transfer of assets and was recognised and fully impaired in the
statement of financial position of the Group in 2015.

Impairment testing of intangible assets
Goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3 — Business Combinations, all assets that gave rise to goodwill were
reviewed for impairment at 31 December 2016 using the ‘value in use’ method. Based on the
results of this review no impairment expense was required.

The following table highlights the goodwill and impairment information for each cash-generating

unit:

TATIL

Carrying amount of Goodwill: 133,762
Basis for recoverable amount: Value in use
Discount rate: 11%
Cash flow projection term: Five years to perpetuity
Growth rate (extrapolation period): 2%
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14. Intangible assets (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued)
Goodwill (continued)

ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited

$
Purchase Price 177,820
Fair value of net assets acquired 175,221
Carrying amount of provisional goodwill 2,599

No significant or material events occurred from the date of acqusition to the statement of financial
position date which would give rise to indicators of impairment. In accordance with IAS 36 -
Impairment of Assets, management intends to carry out the annual review for impairment within
the first year of acquisition and on each anniversary date thereafter.
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15. Deferred taxation 15. Deferred taxation (continued)
Credit/(charge) to
As at the statement of financial position date the Government of Trinidad and Tobago enacted the Finance Act No. 10 of 2016 which 2014 Income ocl 2015
increased the rate of corporation tax on chargeable income greater than $1 million from 25% to 30% from 1 January 2017. The
change in tax rate impacted the deferred tax assets and liabilities of certain companies in the Group and reduced the Group’s net assets Parent
as at 31 Dcc?mbcr 2016 by $3.5 million. Th? m*!pact to the Group's statcl:ncnt qf income was a chargcA of $2.1 m:ll:@ and lhc‘ impact Unrealised foreign exchange losses 2608 (2,608) _
to the Group's statement of other comprehensive income was a charge of $1.4 million. The effect of this change was included in the .
. B R L Property and equipment 157 129 - 286
deferred tax expense in the Group’s statement of income and statement of other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 ) L
Employee benefit obligation 92 11 6 109
December 2016. !
Finance leases - 19,097 - 19,097
Credit/(charge) to Unrealised investment losses 701 405 - 1,106
2015 Income oa 2016 Total deferred tax asset 3,558 17,034 6 20,598
Parent
Property and equipment 286 2 - 288 Employee benefit asset (2,373) (53) 107 (2,319)
Employee benefit obligation 109 26 (18) 117 Finance leases (5,480) 5,480 -
Finance leases 19,097 165 - 19,262 Unrealised investment gains (757) 198 - (559)
Unrealised investment losses 1,106 (594) - 512 Provisions (195) 195 - -
Total deferred tax asset 20,598 (401) (18) 20,179 o
Total deferred tax liability (8,805) 5,820 107 (2,878)
Employee benefit asset (2,319) (489) %) (2.812)
Unrealised investment gains (559) (968) - (1,527)
Total deferred tax liability (2,878) (1,457) (4) (4,339)
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15. Deferred taxation (continued) 15. Deferred taxation (continued)
Credit/(charge) to Credit/(charge) to
Acquired
from Life and Life and
business other reserve other reserve
Group 2015 combination Income ocCl movement 2016 Group 2014 Income OcClI movement 2015
Employee benefit obligation 1,022 113 197 (80) - 1,252 Employee benefit obligation 782 182 58 - 1,022
Unrealised foreign exchange losses - - - - - - Unrealised foreign exchange losses 2,608 (2,608) - - -
Property and equipment 286 - 2,018 - - 2,304 Property and equipment 2,311 (2,025) - - 286
Finance leases 19,096 - 165 - - 19,261 Finance leases - 19,096 - - 19,096
Tax losses _ 1,133 (183) _ _ 950 Unrealised investment losses 9,140 291 - (170) 9,261
Unrealised investment losses 9,261 - (L.159) - (7.500) 607 Total deferred tax asset 14,841 14,936 58 (170) 29,665
Total deferred tax asset 29,665 1,246 1,043 (80) (7,500) 24,374
Life insurance reserves (56,777) - - 282 (56,495)
Life insurance reserves (56,495) - - - 8,694 (47,801) Employee benefit asset (29.978) .217) 1,654 - (29.601)
Employee benefit asset (29,601) (1,628) (3,495) (1,059) - (35,783) Finance leases ) (5,480) 5,480 - — _
Finance leases - - = - _ _ Property and equipment (3,974) (988) - - (4,962)
Property and equipment (4,962) (23.821) 2810 _ -~ (25973) Unrealised investment gains (34,101) (142) - (53) (34,296)
Unrealised investment gains (34,296) - (3,746) - (1,519) (39,561) Total deferred tax liability (130,310) 3,073 1,654 229 (125,354)
Total deferred tax liability (125,354) (25,449) (4,431) (1,059) 7,175 (149,118)
67 68
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16. Employee benefits

The level of pension benefits provided under the defined benefit plans depends on the member’s
length of service and salary at retirement age. The defined benefit pension plan requires
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. The fund has a separate legal form
and is governed by the Board of Trustees who are responsible for the administration of the plan
assets and for the definition of the investment strategy.

The Board of Trustees periodically reviews the level of funding in the pension plan. Such a
review includes the asset-liability matching strategy and investment risk management policy
which considers the term of the pension obligation while simultaneously remaining compliant
with the requirements of the Pensions Act. The pension plans are exposed to inflation, interest
rate risks and changes in the life expectancy for pensioners in the relevant jurisdictions. As the
plan assets include significant investments in quoted equity shares, the Group is also exposed to
equity market risk.

a)

69

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

Parent
Present value of

defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

(Asset)/liability recognised in the
statement of financial position

Group
Present value of

defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

(Asset)/liability recognised in the
statement of financial position

Defined benefit

Post-retirement

pension plan health benefits

2016 2015 2016 2015
10,977 10,039 385 431
(20,351) (19,317) - -
(9,374) (9,278) 385 431
99,414 91,089 4,525 4,075
(228,503)  (209,484) - -
(129,089)  (118,395) 4,525 4,075

16. Employee benefits (continued)

b)

70

Changes in defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets

The changes in the benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets are analysed below.

Parent

Balance at 1 January 2016

Pension cost charged to
statement of income

Current service cost

Net interest cost

Administrative expenses

Total charge/(credit) to
statement of income

Experience (gains)/losses in OCI
Experience gains
- demographic
Experience losses
- financial

Total charge/(credit) to OCI

Other movements
Contributions by employee
Contributions by employer
Administrative expenses
Benefits paid

Total other movements

Balance at 31 December 2016

Defined Post-
Defined  Fair value benefit employment
benefit of plan pension medical
obligation assets plans benefits
10,039 (19,317) (9,278) 431
497 - 497 18
513 (970) (457) 22
21 - 21 -
1,031 (970) 61 40
2 - 2 (73)
- 113 113 -
(2) 113 111 (73)
268 (268) - -
- (268) (268) -
(21) 21 - -
(338) 338 - (13)
(91) 177 (268) (13)
10,977 (20,351) (9,374) 385

16. Employee benefits (continued)

b)
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Changes in defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (continued)

Group
Balance at 1 January 2016

Assets and obligations acquired
in business combination

Pension cost charged to
statement of income

Current service cost

Net interest cost

Past service cost

Administrative expenses

Total charge/(credit) to
statement of income

Experience (gains)/losses in OCI
Experience gains

- demographic
Experience losses

-financial

Total charge/(credit) to OCI

Other movements
Contributions by employee
Contributions by employer
Administrative expenses
Exchange differences
Benefits paid

Total other movements

Balance at 31 December 2016

Defined Post-
Defined  Fair value benefit employment
benefit of plan pension medical
obligation assets plans benefits
91,089 (209,484) (118,395) 4,075
4,510 (10,741) (6,231) 456
2,589 84 2,673 271
5,060 (11,477) (6,417) 269
- - - 40
21 116 137 _
7,670 11277)  (3,607) 580
(901) - (901) (493)
- 1,877 1,877 -
(901) 1,877 976 (493)
1,044 (1,455) (411) -
138 (1,146)  (1,008) -
21) (75) (96) (16)
310 (627) (317) 26
(4,425) 4,425 - (103)
(2,954) 1,122 (1,832) 93)
99414 (228,503) (129,089) 4,525

16. Employee benefits (continued)

b)

72

Changes in defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (continued)

The changes in the benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets are analysed below.

Parent

Balance at 1 January 2015

Pension cost charged to
statement of income

Current service cost

Net interest cost

Administrative expenses

Total charge/(credit) to
statement of income

Experience losses in OCI
Experience losses

- demographic
Experience losses

- financial

Total charge to OCI
Other movements
Contributions by employee
Contributions by employer

Administrative expenses
Benefits paid

Total other movements

Balance at 31 December 2015

Defined Post-

Defined  Fair value benefit employment
benefit of plan pension medical
obligation assets plans benefits
9,119 (18,612) (9,493) 366
495 - 495 36
465 (933) (468) 19

5 - 5 -

965 (933) 32 55

80 - 80 23

- 348 348 -

80 348 428 23

245 (245) - -

- (245) (245) -

(5) 5 - -
(365) 365 - (13)
(125) (120) (245) (13)
10,039 (19,317) (9,278) 431
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(continued) MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
16.  Employee benefits (continued) 16. Employee benefits (continued)
b) Changes in defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (continued) c) Movements in net (asset)/liability recognised in the statement of financial position
Defined Post-
Defi fi Post-reti
Defined  Fair value benefit employment e]::::i::zfa: ;:;l:;t:::;;::
benefit of plan pension medical
5
Group obligation assets plans benefits 2016 2015 2016 201
Balance at 1 January 2015 77,590  (197,492) (119,902) 3,123 Parent
Net (asset)/liability at
Assets and obligations acquired the start of the ycar (9,278) (9,493) 431 366
in business combination 5,575 (7,493) (1,918) 1,757 Net expense recognised
Pension cost charged to in the statement of income 61 32 40 55
statement of income Net income recognised in the
Current service cost 2402 21 2423 192 statement of other comprehensive
Net interest cost 4,302 (10,402)  (6,100) 293 income ) 111 428 (73) 23
Administrative expenses 34 _ 34 _ Contributions paid (268) (245) (13) (13)
Total charge/(credit) to Net (asset)/liability recognised
statement of income 6738 (10381)  (3,643) 485 at the end of the year 037 ___0.278) 385 431
Experience losses/(gains) in OCI Group
Experience losses / (gains) Net (asset)/liability at the start of
- demographic 3645 _ 3645 (1,143) the year (118,395)  (119,902) 4,075 3,123
Experience losses Net (asset)/liability acquired in
—financial _ 4.344 4344 _ business combination (6,231) (1,918) 456 1,757
Net (income)/expense recognised
Total charge/(credit) to OCI 3,645 4,344 7,989 (1,143) in the statement of income (3,607) (3,643) 580 485
Net income/(expense) recognised
Other movements in the statement of other
Contributions by employee 971 (971) - - comprehensive income 976 7,989 (493) (1,143)
Contributions by employer - (921) (921) - Contributions paid (1,832) (921) 93) (147)
Administrative expenses 5 5 - - S .
Benefits paid P (3’42(53 3425 _ (147) Net (asset)/liability recognised
P at the end of the year (129,089)  (118,395) 4,525 4,075
Total other movements (2,459) 1,538 (921) (147)
Balance at 31 December 2015 91,089 (209,484) (118,395) 4,075
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16. Employee benefits (continued) 16. Employee benefits (continued)
d)  Actual return on plan assets 2016 2015 9) Principal actuarial assumptions (continued)
Parent 857 585 Group
Discount Future salary Future medical
Group 51,890 6,058 Assumptions rate increases claims inflation
. . Sensitivity level +1% -1% +1% -1% +1% -1%
e) Major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets
Defined benefit At 31 December 2016 (11,689) 14,658 3,043 (2,825) 822  (658)
pension plan
Parent and Group 2016 2015 At 31 December 2015 (11,162) 13,942 2,734  (2,489) 619 (60)
Local equities 33% 35% o .
Local bonds 37% 32% The sensitivity analyses above have been determined on a method that extrapolates the
Foreian investments 15% 19% impact on the net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key
Real Sstate/mortgages 20/0 2[; assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.
0 0
Short-term securities 13% 12% As advised by the consulting actuary, the Group is expected to contribute $1.0 million to its
100% 100% defined benefit plan in 2017 and the average duration of the defined benefit obligation at
- = the end of the reporting period is 14 years (2016: 14 years).
f) Principal actuarial assumptions
Defined benefit Defined contribution plan
pension plan Certain empl of the Gr e enrolled in the defined contribution i lan
ertain employees oup ar olled in the define ibution pension p
Parent and Group 2016 2015 which is operated by the ultimate parent — ANSA McAL Limited. The Group’s
Discount rate 5% 5% contributions recognised in the statement of income is shown below:
Future salary increases 3% 3%
Medical costs trend rates 3% 3% Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
Shown below is quantitative sensitivity analysis for the impact of significant assumptions
on the defined benefit obligation: 159 159 745 748
Parent
Discount Future salary Future medical
Assumptions rate increases claims inflation
Sensitivity level +1% -1% +1% -1% +1% -1%
At 31 December 2016 (1,327) 1,686 385 (348) 61 (50)
At 31 December 2015 (1,259) 1,606 370 (334) 61 (50)
75 76
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17.  Accrued interest and other payables 19. Debt securities in issue
Parent Group
Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015 2015 2016 2016 2015
18,623 19,898 Interest payable 26,021 13,894 911,415 903,563 Medium and long term notes 903,563 911,415
9,801 10,155 Accrued expenses 15,379 11,422 - 100,767  Promissory notes 100,767 -
15,118 27,238 Client funds held for investment 35,689 15,200 911,415 1,004,330 1,004,330 911,415
2,087 57 Due to statutory authorities 15,681 4,965 USS d inated notes
- — Distributions payable 1,407 1,865 denominated notes
_ _ Deferred fee income _ 100 On 2 August 2011, the Bank issued US$50 million medium-term notes in three tranches, two of
_ — Unapplied premiums 5,022 5,033 which matured in 2014 and in 2016. The remaining US$15 million which represents the last
B — Commissions payable 5541 4788 tranche will mature in 2018. Interest is fixed at 5.20% for Tranche 3. In September 2015, the
3599 3,095 Stale dated cheques 4’119 4‘276 Bank issucd an additional US$29.51 million medium term note maturing on 17 September 2021.
) , , , o
B _ Due to reinsurers 14722 19,928 Interest was set at a fixed rate of 4% per annum.
8,547 4,380 Asset finance promotional items 4,380 8,547 TT$ denominated notes
6,054 4,090 Related pa'rty balances 5,263 4,791 In November 2014, the Bank issued a TT$250 million medium-term note maturing on 28
1,844 2,410 Other creditors 6,495 8,478 November 2022. Interest was set at a fixed rate of 3.35% per annum. An additional TT$350
million medium-term note was issued on 5 June 2015 with the interest set at a fixed rate of 3.75%
65,673 71,323 139,719 103,287 . . . .
per annum. On 3 October 2016, the Bank issued TT$100.8 million promissory notes in three
, . L tranches of TT$33.6 million each maturing on 3 October 2017, 3 October 2018 and 3 October
18.  Customers’ deposits and other funding instruments . .
2019 respectively. These notes carry fixed rates of interest of 3.05% per annum, 3.24% per
Sectorial analysis of customers’ deposits and other funding instruments annum and 3.43% per annum respectively.
Parent Group 20. Investment contract liabilities
2015 2016 2016 2015 Group
2016 2015
61,343 154,793 Individuals 1,079,002 616,562 _—
. - At the beginning of year 210,231 190,906
Pension funds/credit unions Premiums received 19,633 24,780
413,657 329,168 Pt.rustees » / 461,959 521,170 Interest credited 9.674 8.700
rlvate_ co_mpa_nle_s estates Liabilities realised for payment on death, surrender and other
700,593 641,595 financial institutions 764,280 859,233 terminations in the year (13.718) (12.940)
1175593 1,125,556 2,305,241 1,996,965 Other movements (884) (1,215)
224,936 210,231
These investment contracts have neither reinsurance arrangements nor discretionary participation
features (DPF).
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21. Insurance contract liabilities 21.  Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Notes 2016 2015 b)  Life insurance contract liabilities may be analysed as follows:
Insurance  Reinsurers’ Insurance Reinsurers’
contract share of contract share of 2016 2015
liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities Net Insurance  Reinsurers’ Insurance Reinsurers’
contract share of contract share of
Life insurance contracts 21(b) 1,011,807 (17,356) 994,451 966,516 (12,049) 954,467 liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities Net
General insurance contracts 21(c) 352,685 (165,150) 187,535 358,644  (160,033) 198,611
With DPF 227,963 - 227,963 226,876 - 226,876
Total insurance contract liabilities 17364492 _ (182,506) 1,181,986 1325160 _ (172,082) 1,153,078 Without DPF 752,107 (17,356) 734,751 708,192 (12,049) 696,143
a)  Reinsurance assets 980,070 (17,356) 962,714 935,068 (12,049) 923,019
2016 2015 ) .
Outstanding claims 31,737 - 31,737 31,448 — 31,448
Life insurance contract 17,356 12,049 . R
General insurance contracts: Total life insurance contract liabilities 1,011,807 (17,356) 994,451 966,516 (12,049) 954,467
Premiums 46,045 48,847
Claims 119,105 111,186 At 1 January 966,516 (12,049) 954,467 924,782 (11,531) 913,251
Premiums received 130,473 (12,711) 117,762 117,714 (10,199) 107,515
182,506 172,082 Liabilities realised for payment on death,
surrender and other terminations in the year (85,182) 7,404 (77,778) (75,980) 9,681 (66,299)
At 31 December 1,011,807 (17,356) __ 994,451 966,516 (12,049) 954,467
79 80
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21. Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 21.  Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
) General insurance contracts may be analysed s follows: ¢)  General insurance contracts may be analysed as follows: (continued)
i) Claims reported and IBNR
2016 2015 2016 2015
Insurance  Reinsurers’ Insurance Reinsurers’ Insurance  Reinsurers’ Insurance Reinsurers’
contract share of contract share of contract share of contract share of
liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities Net
Claims reported and IBNR 214875  (119,106) 95769 216372 (111,186) 105,186 P";V'S'OFS fc: Tllja'ms reported . woos)  o4sLs - sir7e) 35000
Provisions for unearned premiums and Pro\)/,i:i(;r:z);ofclaeir;s incurred ! (88,932) ! ! (25779 !
unexpired risk 137,811 (46.045) 91,766 142212 (48.847) 93425 but not reported (IBNR) 42,648 (22.254) 20,304 26,858 (6445 20413
Total at end of year 352,686 (165,151) 187,535 358,644  (160,033) 198,611 216,394  (111,186) 105,208 137,729 (32,224) 105,505
Cash paid for claims settled in the year ~ (119,555) 29,966 (89,589) (94,067) 14,229 (79,838)
Claims incurred 118,036 (37,886) 80,150 172,732 (93,191) 79,541
Total at end of year 214,875 (119,106) 95,769 216,394 (111,186) 105,208
Provisions for claims reported
by policy holders 172,609 (95,285) 77,324 173,746 (88,932) 84,814
Provisions for claims incurred
but not reported (IBNR) 42,266 (23,821) 18,445 42,648 (22,254) 20,394
214,875  (119,106) 95,769 216,394  (111,186) 105,208
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21 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 21, Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
c)  General insurance contracts may be analysed as follows: (continued) Claims development table
iiy  Provisions for unearned premiums and unexpired risk The risks associated with these insurance contracts and in particular, casualty insurance contracts, are complex and subject to a number of
variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Group has no known or reported latent claims such as disease or asbestosis
2016 2015 and therefore no actuarial analysis is made. The development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Group's ability to estimate
Insurance  Reinsurers’ Insurance  Reinsurers’ the ultimate value of claims. The table below illustrates how the Group's estimate of total claims outstanding for each underwriting year
contract share of contract share of has changed at successive year-ends.
liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities Net
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total
Provisions for unearned premiums 126,615 (43,420) 83,195 129,043 (49,654) 79,389 Estimate of outstanding claims costs (gross):
Provisions for unexpired risk 15,658 (5,427) 10,231 15,994 (6,207) 9,787 - at end of underwriting year 70,761 63671 60414 61,454 50532 83372 _
142,273 (48,847) 93426 145,087 (55861) 89,176 - one year later 107,188 103532 100,877 185765 108,196 - o
- two years later 106,212 106,080 100,713 190,538 - - -
Increase in the period 359,609 (164,905) 194,704 348,721 (170,694) 178,027 - three years later 104,689 109,025 94,620 - - - -
Release in the period (364,071) 167,707  (196,364) (351,486) 177,708  (173,778) - four years later 100824 102,245 _ , , , ,
Total at end of year 137,811 (46,045) 91,766 142,272 (48,847) 93425 - five years later 98,996 - - - - - -
Current estimate of cumulative claims 98,996 102,245 94,620 190,538 108,196 83,372 677,967
Provisions for unearned premiums 122,525 (40,929) 81,596 126,614 (43,419) 83,195 Cumulative payments to date (92,733)  (92,796) (81,448) (80,342) (81,940) (52,795) (482,054)
Provisions for unexpired risk 15,286 (5,116) 10,170 15,658 (5,428) 10,230 - any . . -
Liability recognised in the statement of financial position 6,263 9,449 13172 110,196 26,256 30,577 195,913
137,811 (46,045) 91,766 142,272 (48,847) 93,425 Total liability in respect of prior years 18,962
The development table of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Group's ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. Total liability included in the statement of financial position 214,875
Trinidad and Tobago Insurance Limited reports this claims information by underwriting year of account. It is impractical to prepare information related to claims development that occurred prior to the 2010 underwriting year.
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2. Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 22.  Insurance contracts, investment contracts and reinsurance assets - terms, assumptions and
Claims development table sensitivities
The risks associated with these insurance contracts and in particular, casualty insurance contracts, are complex and subject to a number of
variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Group's a) Life insurance contracts and investment contracts
ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. The table below illustrates how the Group's estimate of total claims outstanding for each
accident year has changed at successive year-ends. This table shows gross claims expenses by underwriting year over a six year period. Terms and conditions
We have made the assumption that all Health claims are settled within three months after reported and therefore this does not result in any
long outstanding claims liabilities. The Group offers a combination of individual life, pension, annuity and group life contracts
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total with and without discretionary participation features. These contracts are determined by
Estimate of outstanding claims (net): actuaries and all subsequent valuation assumptions are determined by independent
- at end of underwriting year 56,039 51,973 48,364 50,610 51,058 61,395 - R .
- one year later 84,928 84,508 81,851 86,004 88,670 - - consulting actuaries.
- two years later 85,575 87,668 82,870 85,391 - - -
- three years later 83,658 90,506 76,793 - - - - Key assumptions
- four years later 145,627 84,687
- five years later 143,371 - - - - - - Material judgement is required in determining the liabilities and in the choice of
Current estimate of cumulative claims 143,371 84,687 76,793 85391 88670 61,395 540,307 assumptions relating to both life insurance contracts and investment contracts.
Cumulative payments to date (188.797) _(17816) (68.079) (66425) (68,381) (40.267) (459.765) Assumptions in use are based on past experience, current internal data and conditions and
LiabiIiFy r.e.cog‘nised inthe sta.tement of financial position 4,574 6,871 8,714 18,966 20,289 21,128 80,542 external market indices and benchmarks, which reflect current observable market prices
Total iability i respect of prior years 1522 and other published information. Assumptions are determined as appropriate and prudent
Total liability included in the statement of financial position —35769 estimates are made at the date of valuation. Assumptions are further evaluated on a
It is impractical to prepare information related to claims development that occurred prior to the 2010 underwriting year. continuous basis in order to ensure realistic and reasonable valuations.
For insurance contracts, estimates are made in two stages. Firstly, at inception of the
contract, the Group determines the assumptions in relation to future deaths, voluntary
terminations, investment returns and administration expenses. Secondly, at the end of each
reporting period, new estimates are developed to determine whether the liabilities are
appropriate in light of the latest current estimates.
For investment contracts, assumptions used to determine the liabilities are also updated at
the end of each reporting period to reflect latest estimates.
The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are as
follows:
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22. Insurance contracts, investment contracts and reinsurance assets - terms, assumptions and 22.  Insurance contracts, investment contracts and reinsurance assets - terms, assumptions and
sensitivities (continued) sensitivities (continued)
a)  Life insurance contracts and investment contracts (continued) a)  Lifeinsurance contracts and investment contracts (continued)
Mortality and morbidity rates (continued) Lapse and surrender rates
Assumptions are based on underlying experience as well as standard industry mortality Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to non-payment of premiums. Surrenders
tables, according to the type of contract written. For contracts that insure the risk of relate to the voluntary termination of policies by policyholders. Policy termination
longevity, appropriate but not excessively prudent allowance is made for expected future assumptions are determined using statistical measures based on the Group’s experience and
mortality improvements. Assumptions are differentiated by sex, underwriting class and vary by product type, policy duration and changes in policyholders’ circumstances.
contract type.
The impact of a decrease in lapse rates at early duration of the policy would tend to reduce
Mortality rates higher than expected will lead to a larger number of insurance claims and profits for the shareholders but lapse rates at later policy durations is broadly neutral in
claims will occur sooner than anticipated, which will increase the expenditure and reduce effect.
profits for the shareholders.
Sensitivities
Investment Return
The table below illustrates the impact of various changes in assumptions which are within a
The weighted average rate of return is derived from a model portfolio that is assumed to reasonable range of possible outcomes given the uncertainties involved in the estimation
back liabilities, consistent with the long-term asset allocation strategy. These estimates are process. It demonstrates the effect of change in key assumptions whilst other assumptions
based on current market returns as well as expectations about future economic and financial remain unchanged, if these assumptions were changed in a single calendar year. The
developments. An increase in investment return would lead to an increase in profits for the correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate claims
shareholders. liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact on the claims liabilities due to changes in
assumptions, these assumption changes had to be done on an individual basis. It should also
Expenses be stressed that the relationships between assumptions are non linear and larger or smaller
impacts cannot easily be gleaned from these results.
Operating expense assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in-
force policies and associated overhead expenses. An increase in the level of expenses
would result in an increase in expenditure thereby reducing profits for the shareholders. Assumption change Required increase in insurance
contract liabilities
2016 2015
2% Increase in mortality 6,100 7,500
5% Increase in expenses 9,300 10,900
10% Change in lapse rates 7,900 6,900
1% Decrease in investment earnings 118,100 112,500
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22. Insurance contracts, investment contracts and reinsurance assets - terms, assumptions and 22. Insurance contracts, investment contracts and reinsurance assets - terms, assumptions and
sensitivities (continued) sensitivities (continued)
b)  General insurance contracts b)  General insurance contracts (continued)
Terms and conditions Sensitivities
The major classes of general insurance written by the Group include motor, property, The.g.er.]eral fnsurance cIalms_promglon |s.sen_5|t|ve {0 the above _key gssumpnor}s. The
. . . . sensitivity of certain assumptions like legislative change, uncertainty in the estimation
casualty, marine, general accident and other miscellaneous types of general insurance. . . .
. Iy . process and other factors is not possible to quantify. Furthermore, because of delays that
Risks under these policies usually cover a 12 month duration. . . - e
arise between occurrence of a claim and its subsequent notification and eventual
For general insurance contracts, claims provisions (comprising provisions for claims settlement, the outstanding claim provisions are not known with certainty at the end of the
reported by policyholders and claims incurred but not yet reported) are established to cover reporting date.
the ultimate cost of settling the liabilities in respect of claims that have occurred and are . R .
estimated based on known facts at the end of the reporting period. ansequently, the_ultlmate liabilities will vary as a 'result of s_u_b§equent develo;_nment_s.
Differences resulting from reassessment of the ultimate liabilities are recognised in
The provisions are refined as part of a regular ongoing process and as claims experience subsequent financial statements.
develops, certain claims are settled and further claims are reported. Outstanding claims
provisions are not discounted for the time value of money.
Assumptions 23.  Stated capital
The principal assumption underlying the estimates is the Group’s past claims development Parent Group
experience. This includes assumptions in respect of average claim costs and claim numbers 2015 2016 2016 2015
for each accident year. Claims provisions are separately analysed by geographical area and AUthO_FISf!d
class of business. In addition, larger claims are usually separately assessed by loss An unlimited number of shares
adjusters. Judgement is used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial Issued and fully paid
degsnonsna;ntd ?:ve::jmefrlzle?lsla:;ionn aff(reictdthe estimates, as well as testing reported claims 85,605,263 (2015: 85,605,263)
subsequent to the end of the reporting period. 667,274 667,274 ordinary shares of no par value 667,274 _ 667,274
The general insurance claims provision is sensitive to the above key assumptions. The
sensitivity of certain assumptions like legislative change, uncertainty in the estimation
process and other factors is not possible to quantify. Furthermore, because of delays that
arise between occurrence of a claim and its subsequent notification and eventual
settlement, the outstanding claim provisions are not known with certainty at the end of the
reporting period.
89 920
24. Netinsurance revenue 26 Investment income
parent Group Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015 2015 2016 2016 2015
. Interest income from investments
Grc;;sn[nsnir?enceenczntracts 490 080 465713 designated at fair value through
B - _Premium revenue ' * 8,678 3599  statement of income 16,103 30,963
Reinsurers’ share of insurance Interest i . ired
- ~  contracts premium revenue (177,616) _ (167,654) Ny 'come on impaire
i 1,788 — financial assets 1,382 4,720
Net insurance contracts | ) from fi ial
B = premium revenue 312,464 298,059 nterest income rom financial assets
Gross change in unearned premium 20,528 28,221 {m_easureQ at amortised cost 124,884 109,337
- . . 31,165 34,071 Dividend income 25,668 24,072
- - provision and unexpired risks 4,438 2,788 lised (1 i le of
Reinsurers' share of change in R?a ised (losses) g'a!ns onsale o
unearned premium provision and 3,195 2,742 |nves.tment securltles. (10,207) 2,827
- - unexpired risks (2,801) (7,014) Unrealised (losses)/gains on
Net ch . q . investments held at year end designated
€ C .ange in unearr?e pr.emlum 2,253 (3,037) fair value through statement of income (8,774) (25,548)
- - provision and unexpired risks 1,637 (4,226)
. 67,607 65,596 149,056 146,371
- - Net insurance revenue 314,101 293,833
27. Other income
25.  Finance charges, loan fees and other interest income
Parent Group
pParent Group 2015 2016 2016 2015
2015 2016 2016 2015 - . .
18,421 19,630 Administrative fees and commissions 29,297 42,558
123,744 121,133 Finance charges earned 130,371 123,527 27,094 28,137 Foreign exchange trading and gains 80,856 34,072
21,708 28,160 Interest income on loans and advances 28,160 21,708 2,750 2,459 |Lease sales and recoveries 872 569
29,659 38,219 Other income 38,787 29,659 - — Property rental 29,563 18,627
3 — Trustee and other fiduciary fees 7,825 7877
175,111 187,512 197,318 174,894 586 1,624 Other 4,891 2,319
48,854 51,850 153,304 106,022
91 92
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28,  Net insurance benefits and claims incurred

There are no insurance benefits and claims incurred by the Parent. The following table represents the insurance benefits and claims

incurred by the Group.

Gross insurance contracts benefits and claims incurred
Reinsurers’ share of gross insurance benefits and claims paid
Met change in insurance contract liabilities

General insurance Life insurance Total
2016 015 2016 2015 2016 05
118,036 159,493 87643 69574 205,679 229067
(37.886) (93,191) (6,058}  (3,900) (43.944)  (97,100)
— - _ 39605 37471 39,695 37471
80,150 66,302 121,280 103,136 201,430 169.43%

29. Interest expense

Parent
2015 2016
13,278 23,787 Customers’ deposits
35,133 36,901 Debt securities in issue
48,411 60,688

30. Provision (write back)/charge for impairment of investments

Parent
2015 2016
6,400 508 State owned
3,416 (264) Government
(41,358) (3,686) Corporate
(31,542) (3,442)

Group
2016 2015
47,736 32,932
36,900 35,133
84,636 68,065
Group
2016 2015
(660) 6,400
(264) 3,416
(4,682) (47,789)
(5,606) (37,973)

Impairment of investments measured at amortised cost relates to corporate fixed income securities
where the indicators of impairment exist and management has considered it necessary to recognise
an impairment charge. These indicators include overdue interest and principal balances,
difficulties in the cash flow of counterparties, credit rating downgrades and economic difficulties
in the region in which the counterparty is located.

31. Marketing and policy expenses

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
— Agents and brokers commissions 37,339 39,266
— Agents allowance and bonus 4,051 3,751
— Agents policy expenses 1,114 930
13,543 13,232 Asset finance promotional expense 13,821 13,543
4,389 3,133 Advertising costs 9,515 7,637
17,932 16,365 65,840 65,127
93 94
32.  Personnel expenses
34. Taxation
Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015 Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
23,954 21,579 Salaries and bonus 68,260 54,274
193 219 Health, life and pension benefits (1,290) 1,061 .
830 1,055 Other staff cost 3532 3,845 46,779 40,071 Corporathn.tax 65,496 66,867
Over provision to
24,917 22,853 70,502 59,180 (184) (939)  prior year tax charge (940) (184)
33.  General administrative expenses 166 390 Withholding tax 472 166
parent G (22,854) 1,858 Deferred tax (Note 15) 3,388 (18,009)
2015"”6” 2016 2016 roup 2015 379 1,047 Green Fund levy 1,865 938
3,796 2,099 Professional insurance 2,806 4,512 24,286 42,427 70,281 49,828
2,082 1,937 Property related expenses 5,461 6,941 L .
2,809 2,428 Subscriptions & donations 2,885 2,921 Reconciliation betweer_1 taxathn
599 609 Finance charges 1,411 1,222 expense and accounting profit
288 366 Travel & entertainment 3,432 1,634 Income taxes in the consolidated
Communications, printing & statement of income vary from
893 882  stationery 3698 7025 amounts that would be computed by
Write (back)/off of other receivable applying the statutory tax rate for the
5,730 _ balances _ 5730 following reasons:
2,958 2312 General expenses 35,857 29,391 194,045 195,488 Net profit before taxation 322,028 297,275
19,155 10,633 55,050 59,376
Th ite-off of ofh ivables bal | leasi ivable bal . hich 48,511 48,872 Tax at applicable statutory tax rates 80,507 74,319
e write-off o o_t er receivables balances re ates to non-leasing receivable balances for whicl Tax effect of items that are adjustable
the future economic benefits were reassessed. . L R
in determining taxable profit:
The Group has operating lease arrangements on property and certain items of office equipment. (11,236) (11,177) Tax exempt income (12,423) (13,304)
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are, as 1,234 2,433 Non-deductible expenses 1,049 2,029
follows: (2,741) (1,813) Allowable deductions (1,728) (11,191)
Parent Grou 184 939) Adjustment to prior year tax charge 940 184
p
2015 2016 2016 2015 (11,843) 3,614 Other temporary differences 1,479 (2,995)
1,740 1,553 Within one year 1,751 3,646 Provision for Green Fund Levy and
After one year but not more than 545 1,437  other taxes 2,337 1,154
- - five years 116 282 .
_ — More than five years _ _ 24,286 42,427 Total taxation 70,281 49,828
1,740 1,553 1,867 3,928
95 96
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35. Segmental information 35. Segmental information (continued)
The following table presents income and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s operating segments.
F he G . ised into f . based h g p p ty garding p’s operating seg
or management purposes the Group is organised into four operating segments based on the
following core areas of operation to the Group: Life General
Banking Mutual insurance insurance
Banking services Asset financing, Merchant banking, Investment services, Securities s016 services funds  operations  operations  Eliminations Total
trading and Foreign exchange trading.
Total operating income 330,804 37,504 236,013 287,844 (78,386) 813,779
Mutual funds ANSA Secured Fund, ANSA US$ Secured Fund, ANSA TT$ Total operating expense (63,170) (11,631) (130,953) (80,345) 196 (285,903)
Write back/(provision) for
Income Fund and ANSA US$ Income Fund. impairment 4471 (61) 1305 © B 5,606
These Funds are open-ended mutual funds registered in Trinidad & Selling and administration expense (70,284) (21,725) (53,274) (108,837) 42,666 (211,454)
Tobago and established by ANSA Merchant Bank Limited (the )
‘Bank’). The Bank is the S Investment M Profit before tax 201,821 3,987 53,091 98,653 (35,524) 322,028
ank ) e Bank Is he sponsor, Invesimen anager, Taxation (43,974) - (6,800) (19,507) - (70,281)
Administrator and Distributor of these Funds.
Profit after taxation 157,847 3,987 46,291 79,146 (35,524) 251,747
Life insurance operations Unqerwrlthg Ithe. Ifollowmg' §Ias§es of Ionger—ter'm' insurance Total assets 4342,819 801,314 2,000,038 1108052 (933.101) 7400122
business: (i) individual participating and non-participating life Total liabilities 2,823,265 800,365 1,342,077 431,522 (190,271) 5,206,958
insurance, (ii) group life insurance, (iii) individual insurance and Purchase of fixed assets 14,543 - 628 2,253 - 17,424
(iv) group annuity and pension. Depreciation (9,350) - (659) (1,456) - (11,465)
General insurance operations Underwriting the following classes of short-term insurance
business: (i) commercial and residential fire, (ii) general accident,
(iii) marine, (iv) motor, (v) workmen compensation, (vi) group and
individual health and rental of property.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on the operating statement of income, and is measured consistently with the
operating statement of income in the consolidated financial statements.
Interest income is reported net of related expenses as management primarily relies on net interest
revenue as a performance measure, rather than the gross income and expense.
Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to
transactions with third-parties.
No revenue from transactions with a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or
more of the bank’s total revenue in 2016 or 2015.
97 98
35.  Segmental information (continued) 35.  Segmental information (continued)
Life General The following table presents income and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s geographic segments.
Banking Mutual insurance insurance D i
services funds operations operations  Eliminations Total ome§ c . . o
2015 services Regional International ~ Eliminations Total
2016
Total operating income 291,997 23,086 189,971 261,916 (45,850) 721,120 -
Total 728,611 7 1 7 13,77
Total operating expense (61,049)  (13,863) (111,835) (79,541) 434 (265,854) Dtal operating incorne ) g6 6 ‘203 95,95 (&250) g 37719
Provision for impairment 31,542 2,888 2,389 1,154 - 37973 Tota %pef;('"g ex"enjef (267.815) (18.284) - 106 (285,503)
. L . ! ! ! ! ! Write back/(provision) for
Selling and administration expense (68,045) (20,347) (43,304) (88,056) 23,788 (195,964) impairment 1,346 4573 (319) _ 5,606
Profit/(loss) before tax 194,445 (8,236) 37,221 95,473 (21,628) 297,275 Selling and adminisiration expense (224809) (29811 = 42,666 (211.459)
Taxation (24,386) (4,306) (21,136) = (49,828) Profit before tax 237,333 24,581 95,638 (35,524) 322,028
Profit/(loss) after taxation 170,059 (8,236) 32,915 74,337 (21,628) 247,447 Taxation (68.566) @719 = = (70.281)
Profit after taxation 168,767 22,866 95,638 35,524 251,747
Total assets 3,449,507 982,090 1,981,593 1,061,313 (735,943) 6,738,560 ¢ )
Total liabilities 2,176,311 982,086 1,280,877 429,248 (170,414) 4,698,108 Total assets 5,796,986 1,064,170 1,481,067 (933,101) 7,409,122
Purchase of fixed assets 167 - 990 6,501 - 7,658 Total liabilities 4,775,096 611,047 11,086 190,271 5,206,958
€ ( )
Depreciation (1,322) (858) (1,543) - (3,723) Purchase of fixed assets 3,248 14,176 - - 17,424
Depreciation (2,555) (8,910) - - (11,465)
99 100
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35.  Segmental information (continued) 36. Related party transactions and balances
The following table presents income and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s geographic segments. . . . . B .
} Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant
Domestic ) . o influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The Bank is
2015 services Regional _International  Eliminations Total ultimately owned by ANSA McAL Limited, incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago, which owns
82.48% of the stated capital of the Bank.
Total operating income 668,602 63,989 34,379 (45,850) 721,120
Total operating expense (252,773) (13,515) 434 (265,854) - . . P .
Write backi(provision) for impairment 46185 (9.515) (697) i 37973 A num_ber of tra}nsactlons are .entered into with r_elateq partl_es in the porr_nal course of business.
Selling and administration expense (206,866) (12,886) _ 23,788 (195,964) These include hire purchase, finance leases, premium financing, deposits, insurance coverage and
foreign currency transactions. These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at
Profit before tax 257,148 28,073 33,682 (21,628) 297,275 market rates
Taxation (49,644) (184) - - (49,828) !
Profit after taxation 207,504 27,889 33,682 (21,628) 247,447 The related assets, liabilities, income and expense from these transactions are as follows:
Total assets 5,508,306 374,643 1,501,554 (170,414) 7,304,089 Parent Group
Total liabilities 4,867,488 1,034 - (170,414) 4,698,108
Purchase of fixed assets 7,658 — — — 7,658 2015 2016 2016 2015
Depreciation (3,723) - - - (3,723)
Loans, investments and
other assets
60,817 56,957 ANSA McAL Group 59,559 99,787
38,670 34,126 Subsidiaries - -
Directors and key management
1,618 2,189  personnel 2,454 2,203
54,100 50,740 Other related parties 81,307 87,249
155,205 144,012 143,320 189,239
Deposits and other liabilities
344,681 438,124 ANSA McAL Group 442,494 415,625
85,021 96,590 Subsidiaries - -
Directors and key management
55,186 55,189  personnel 56,671 105,546
2,759 5,649 Other related parties 52,789 59,068
487,647 595,552 551,954 580,239
101 102
. i 37.  Fair value of financial instruments
36. Related party transactions and balances (continued) ()  Carrying amounts and fair values
The tables in the following pages summarise the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Parent’s and the Group’s financial
Parent Group assets and liabilities for 2016 and 2015.
2015 2016 2016 2015 2016
) Parent Group
Interest and other income Carrying Fair Unrecognised Carrying Fair  Unrecognised
values values loss  Financial assets values values loss
31,332 20,510 ANSA MCcAL Group 54,432 79,179 600215 580,554 (19,661)  Investment securities 3,282,742 3,272,541 (10,201)
18,860 53,329 Subsidiaries — — - - —  Investment property 139,268 139,268 -
Directors and key management 600,215 580,554 (19,661) 3,422,010 3,411,809 (10,201)
81 23 personnel 43 139
H Financial liabilities
2,460 4,025 Other related parties 8,621 7,991 1,004,330 830,051 (174,279)  Debt securities in issue 1,004,330 830,051 (174,279)
52,733 77,887 63,096 87,309 1,004,330 830,051 (174,279) 1,004,330 830,051 (174,279)
Interest and other expense
3,942 6,265 ANSA McAL Group 13,229 11,603
2,474 2,345 Subsidiaries — —
Directors and key management
2,696 2,065 personnel 1,392 3,885
— 66 Other related parties 774 466
9,112 10,741 15,395 15,954

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,

directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

Key management compensation

Parent
2015 2016
6,370 6,380 Short-term benefits
Contribution to defined
104 111  contribution plans
124 133 Post employment benefits
6,598 6,624

103

Group
2016 2015
10,422 9,284
153 129
133 124
10,708 9,537

104
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37.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 37. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(i) Carrying amounts and fair values (continued) . ) . . ) . i
(ii)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies
2015
Parent Group 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Carrying Fair  Unrecognised Carrying Fair  Unrecognised Parent
values values loss  Financial assets values values gain
609,748 583,912 (25,836)  Investment securities 3,254,141 3,237,946 (16,195) Investment securities designated
- - - Investment property 138,483 138,483 - at FVSI
609,748 583912 (25,836) 3,392,624 3,376,429 (16,195) Equity securities 34,834 - - 34,834
Government bonds - 3,387 - 3,387
Financial liabilities State owned company securities 9,931 - - 9,931
911415 800,585 (110,830)  Debt securities in issue 911,415 930,146 18,731 Corporate bonds and debentures 39,810 - - 39,810
911,415 800,585 (110,830) 911,415 930,146 18,731 84,575 3.387 - 87,962
For all other financial instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. Investment securities measured
at amortised cost for which
fair values are disclosed
Government bonds 9,918 2,725 107 12,750
State owned company securities 33,125 67,450 101,479 202,054
Corporate bonds and debentures 154,200 40,823 62,771 257,794
197,243 110,998 164,357 472,598
Investment securities measured
at FVOCI
Equity securities - 19,993 - 19,993
105 106
37.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 37.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(i)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued) (i) Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued)
2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 2015 Leveld, EEvE a3 Total
Parent
Group
Investment securities designated
Investment securities designated at FVSI
at FVSI Equity securities 18,680 70,818 - 89,498
Equity securities 690,144 - 1,058 691,202 Government bonds - 12,027 - 12,027
Government bonds 7,383 22,748 _ 30,131 Corporate bonds and debentures 27,205 - 2 27,207
State owned company securities 32,703 48,419 - 81,122
Corporate bonds and debentures 138,807 23,724 - 162,531 45,885 82,845 2 128,732
Investment securities measured
869,037 94,801 1,058 964,986 at amortised cost for which
Investment securities measured fair values are disclosed
t tised tf hich Government bonds 2,055 2,849 110 5,014
? _amolr 1sed cost ‘I’r whic State owned company securities 11,592 80,167 110,600 202,359
air values are disclosed Corporate bonds and debentures 135,370 45,460 47,747 228,577
Government bonds 18,374 529,905 107 548,386
State owned company securities 79,598 577,568 101,480 758,646 149,017 128,476 158,457 435,950
Corporate bonds and debentures 324,988 547,663 127,872 1,000,523 /.
Investment securities measured
422,960 1,655,136 229,459 2,307,555 atFvoCl
Equity securities - 19,230 - 19,230
Assets measured at fair value
Investment properties - 139,268 - 139,268
107 108
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37.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 37.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(ii)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued) (iii) Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy (continued)
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
Group
Significant Range
Investment securities designated Valuation  unobservable (weighted Sensitivity of the
at FVsSI technique inputs average) input to fair value
Equity securities 671,197 212,250 1,058 884,505
Government bonds 5,672 110,989 _ 116,661 Unquoted Discounted Rate of 2.12% to 2% increase/(decrease) in the
State owned company securities 16,121 99,360 _ 115,481 sccuritics  cashflows return 10.85% rate of return would result in
Corporate bonds and debentures 108,064 47,644 2 155,710 decrease/(increase) in fair
value by $6,237/($4,620)
801,054 470,243 1,060 1,272,357
Investment securities measured .
. ) (iv) Transfers between Level 1 and 2
at amortised cost for which
fair values are disclosed At each reporting date the Group assesses the fair value hierarchy of its financial
Government bonds 5,995 362,925 110 369,030 instruments. A transfer between levels will occur when a financial instrument no longer
State owned company securities 56,053 565,742 110,600 732,395 meets the criteria in which the financial instrument is classified.
Corporate bonds and debentures 308,654 475,665 79,845 864,164
There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 for the year ended 31 December 2016
370,702 1,404,332 190,555 1,965,589 (2015: government securities valued at $10.9 million were reclassified from level 2 to level
1).
Assets measured at fair value
Investment properties - 138,483 - 138,483
109 110
37.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 38.  Risk management (continued)
) Movements in Level 3 financial instruments Risk management structure (continued)
Parent Group Treasury management
2015 2016 2016 2015 The Bank and its subsidiaries employ Treasury functions which are responsible for managing
Assets their assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure. The Treasury function is also
primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Bank and its subsidiaries.
158,438 158,459 Balance at 1 January 191,615 242,106
652 978 (Losses)/gains recognised 4,329 (1,659) Concentrations of risk
34,897 45,252  Purchases 85,487 66,633 . . . S . -
4098 Transf Wi Level 3 36,922 32178 Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities,
35 525 44’430 Dr'ans erls (ou/in Leve 87'835 (83'287) or activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their
(35,528) (44430) Disposa (87.835) (83,287) ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political
158.459 164.357 230518 191,615 or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s results to
: : : : developments affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk,
38.  Risk management the Group’s procedures include specific monitoring controls to focus on the maintenance of a
diversified portfolio.
Introduction
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing Market risk
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each i ctuate bgcause of chfanges_ln mgrket prices. Mgrket B comprise Gl m'terest a1
Lo e g . R . P currency risk and equity price risk each of which are considered below and include, where
individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to their responsibilities. | ¢ th itivity of the G s fi ial It s i tai ket risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. relevant, the sensitivity of the Group’s financial result on movements in certain market ris
variables.
Risk management structure o
Credit risk management
The Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling o . W .
risks; however, there are separate bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks. The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the potential for loss due to a counter-party
' ' or borrower’s failure to pay amounts when due. Credit risk arises from traditional lending,
Board of Directors underwriting and investing activity, and from settling payments between financial institutions.
Impairment provisions are established for losses that have been incurred at the end of the
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for reporting period.
approving the risk strategies, principles and policies and procedures. Day to day adherence to risk - ) ] ) )
principles is carried out by the executive management of the Bank and its subsidiaries in Significant changes in the economy, or in the state of a particular industry segment that
compliance with the policies approved by the Board of Directors. represents a concentration in the Group’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from
those provided at the end of the reporting period. Management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk.
111 112
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38. Risk management (continued) 38. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk management (continued) Credit risk management (continucd)

The Group structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers, and to geographical and industry
segments. Such risks are monitored on an ongoing basis, and limits on the levels of credit risk that

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
enhancements (continued)

the Group can engage in are approved by the Board of Directors. Parent Group
Exposure to credit risk is further managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers to 2015 2016 2016 2015
meet cgpltal and !n_terest repayment obligations and by changing these Iendmg limits when 2,618,305 2591992 Total 6,046,027 5353347
appropriate. In addition, collateral, corporate, state and personal guarantees are obtained.

_ _ ) _ ) _ 6,636 6442 Contingent liabiliti 6,442 6,636
Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Group’s ontingent habtiities
liability as the primary underwriter. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Group 2,624941 2,598,434 6,052,469 _ 5,359,983
remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is ) )
considered on an annual basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of any The main types of collateral obtained arc as follows:
contract. . For hirc purchase and Icases — charges over auto vehicles and industrial and general
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit equipment, . .
enhancements o For reverse repurchase transactions — cash and securities;

. For corporate loans — charges over real estate property, industrial equipment, inventory and

The following table shows _the maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of _any trade receivables:
collateral held or other credit enhancem.ent§ attached. The amount and t.ype. of collatferal required . For mortgage loans — mortgages over commercial and residential propertics.
depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented
regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters. Cash and short-term funds and fixed deposits

These funds are placed with highly rated local banks and Central Banks within the Caribbean

Parent Group region where the Group transacts business. In addition, cash is held by international financial
2015 2016 2016 2015 institutions with which the Group has relationships as custodians or fund managers. All
302.985 286,015 Cash and short-term funds 766.104 720.084 custodians and fund managers have been classified with a ‘stable’ outlook. Management
T T Fixed deposits 124'947 148’514 therefore considers the risk of default of these counterparties to be very low.
Net investment in leased assets
1,005,106 1,056,495  and other instalment loans 1,427,928 1,003,373 Net investment in leased assets and other instalment loans, mortgages and policy loans
800,290 697,428 Loans and advances 876,251 866,310

These leases and loans are individually insignificant. With the exception of policy loans, these

501,020 545,388 Investment securities 2,591,540 2,369,636 I . . .
. facilities are typically secured by the related asset. Policy loans are advanced up to the maximum
8,904 6,666 Interest receivable 29,103 36,178 . L . .
- cash surrender value of the policy to which it relates, and therefore there is no risk of loss to the
- — Insurance receivables 47,648 37,170 Gr
- — Reinsurance assets 182,506 172,082 oup:
2,618,305 2,591,992 Total 6,046,027 5,353,347
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38.  Risk management (continued) 38.  Risk management (continued)

Net investment in leased assets and other instalment loans, mortgages and policy loans (continued)

An aging analysis of these facilities is as follows: Other loans and advances

In Arrears The credit quality of other loans and advances has been analysed into the following categories:

Current 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days  Over 90 days Total
Parent . R g g .
2016 950,972 47,730 22,104 16,419 19,270 1,056,495 High grade  These facilities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the loan
2015 897152 55,680 16,584 12,001 23,680 1,005,106 agreements. In addition, .thes.e Ioans. are well se.cured typically by sovere.lgn backed

mortgages over properties in desirable locations, or shares in publicly traded

forl":" companies on the local stock exchange. Also included in this category are loans
Net leases 1,245,374 108,281 37,696 17,338 19,239 1,427,928 with related parties which meet all of the above criteria.
Mortgages 95,565 14,806 - - - 110,371
Policy loans 30,662 - - - - 30,662 Standard These facilities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the loan

1,371,601 123,087 37,696 17,338 19,239 1,568,961 agreements.
Group ) ) ) . )
2015 Special These are loans that are typically not serviced on time, but are in arrears for less
Net leases 895,419 55,689 16,584 12,001 23,680 1,003,373 monitoring  than 90 days. Payments are normally received after follow up with the client.
Mortgages 44,054 - 15,021 - - 59,075
Policy | 10,969 - - - - 10,969 - . . .
cleyfoans : : Sub-standard These facilities are either greater than 90 days in arrears but are not considered to

950,442 55,689 31,605 12,001 23,680 1,073,417 be impaired, or have been restructured in the past financial year.

Impaired These facilities are non-performing.
115 116
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38. Risk management (continued) 38.  Risk management (continued)
Investment debt securities (continued)
Other loans and advances (continued) Sub-
High Special Sub- barent High grade Standard standard Impaired Total
grade Standard monitoring  standard Impaired Total 2016
Parent Investments designated at FVSI 3,387 49,741 - - 53,128
Investments measured at amortised cost 162,726 270,177 59,357 — 492,260
2016 379,185 316,581 - 1,662 - 697,428 166,113 319,918 59,357 - 545,388
2015
2015 550,885 247,486 - 1919 - 800,290 Investments designated at FVSI 12,028 27,207 - - 39,235
Investments measured at amortised cost 155,007 247,603 59,087 88 461,785
Group 167,035 274,810 59,087 88 501,020
Group
2016 387,823 423,485 23,248 1,662 40,033 876,251 2016
Investments designated at FVSI 88,741 185,043 - — 273,784
2015 550,885 313,506 — 1,919 — 866,310 Investments measured at amortised cost 900,016 1,401,840 13,810 2,090 2,317,756
988,757 1,586,883 13,810 2,090 2,591,540
- 2015
Investment debt securities Investments designatsd at Fvs! . 223,442 ;gg,;gg 050 g o gg?,sgz
. . . e . . . Investments measured at amortised cost 44,57 1, , ,01 5 1,981,784
The credit quality of investment debt securities has been analysed into the following categories: 866017 1402672 08022 025 2.369.6%
High grade  These include regional sovereign debt securities issued directly or through a state
intermediary body where there has been no history of default.
Standard These securities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the underlying agreements. In addition, included in this category
are securities issued by related parties and fellow subsidiaries within the ANSA
MCcAL Group of companies.
Sub-standard These securities are either greater than 90 days in arrears, display indicators of
impairment, or have been restructured in the past financial year.
Impaired These securities are non-performing.
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38. Risk management (continued) 38. Risk management (continued)
Insurance receivables Interest rate risk (continued)
An aged analysis of insurance receivables is as follows: Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that
Up to 45 45-90  Over 90 the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
days days days Total Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such
2016 changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Board sets
Gross premiums receivable 12,140 3,768 13,600 29,508 limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is
Provision for premiums receivables - - (3,000) (3,000) monitored daily by the Group Treasury function.
Gross reinsurance receivables 3.219 100 17,821 21,140
The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on
15,359 3,868 28,421 47,648 the Group’s income and equity with all other variables held constant.
2015 The sensitivity of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the income for
Gross premiums receivable 11,906 5,156 14,301 31,363 one year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31
Provision for premiums receivables - - (3,000) (3,000) December 2016 and 2015.
Gross reinsurance receivables 996 2,281 5,530 8,807 . . i . .
Change in basis points Sensitivity of income
12,902 7437 16,831 37,170 2016 2015
Reinsurance assets Parent +100 40 139
~ 100 (40) (139)
The credit quality of reinsurance assets, can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings
agencies, Standard & Poor and A.M. Best. Based on the high ratings, management therefore Group - 5684 AR
considers the risk of default of these counterparties to be very low. y Lt (584) (299)
Currency risk
Interest rate risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Currency risk is the risk that the value of
flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Board sets
offering fixed rates on its funding instruments over the respective term. On the lending side, loans limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-day
will be granted at fixed rates over specified periods. As interest rates on both deposits and loans positions, which are monitored daily. The tables on the following pages indicate the currencies to
remain fixed over their lives, the risk of fluctuations in market conditions is mitigated. which the Parent and Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2016 and 2015 on its
monetary assets and liabilities. The analysis also calculates the effects of a reasonably possible
movement of each currency rate against the Trinidad and Tobago dollar, with other variables held
constant.
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38. Risk management (continued) 38. Risk management (continued)
Currency risk (continued) Currency risk (continued)
The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at Parent usD EURO OTHER TOTAL
31 December on its monetary assets and liabilities. The analysis calculates the effect of a
reasonably possible movement of the TTD rate against other currencies, with all other variables 2015
held constant.
Cash and short-term funds 222,609 219 1,552 224,380
Parent uUsD EURO OTHER TOTAL Loans and advances 263,424 — - 263,424
Investment securities 446,817 - 54 446,871
2016 Interest receivable 4,927 - 17 4,944
Cash and short-term funds 152,535 211 2,136 154,882 Other debtors and
Loans and advances 219,979 - - 219,979 prepayments 1,430 - 26 1,456
Investment securities 456,758 - — 456,758 Total fi ial 939,207 219 1649 941 075
Interest receivable 4,927 - 17 4,944 otal financial assets : : :
Other debtors and c " d it doth
prepayments 20,862 - ) 20,860 ustomers deposits and other
funding instruments 319,526 - - 319,526
Total financial assets 855,061 211 2,151 857,423 Debt securities 316,445 - - 316,445
Customers’ deposits and other Total financial liabilities 635,971 - - 635,971
Dfl:)nding ip§truments égggg; - B ?l’gggg; Net currency risk
ebt securities : - - : exposure 303,236 219 1,649 305,104
Total financial liabilities 496,870 — - 496,870 Reasonably possible change in
0, 0, 0, 0,
Net currency risk exposure 358,191 211 2,151 360,553 currency rate 5% % 5% 5%
. . Effect on profit before tax 15,162 11 82 15,255
Reasonably possible change in
currency rate 5% 5% 5% 5%
Effect on profit before tax 17,910 11 108 18,028
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38.  Risk management (continued) 38. Risk management (continued)
Currency risk (continued) Currency risk (continued)
Group Group
2015 UsD BDS EURO OTHER TOTAL
2016 uUsbD BDS EURO OTHER TOTAL
Cash and short-t: fund 363,622 41,220 219 23,282 428,343
Cash and short-term funds 334,844 141017 228 403 481025 257 and shortferm funds ’ ’ ’ ’
Fixed d X 32927 4071 36,993 Fixed deposits - 44,078 - 3,849 47,927
le: ePOSItst inl d B ! B ! ! Loans and advances 384,233 - - - 384,233
¢ ‘“:e““(‘;“thm ease Investment securities 1,503,172 31,554 - 991 1,535,717
assets and other .
Interest bl 14,103 3,334 - 55 17,492
installment loans - 3nsal - - dmsal Izs:rzsncr: (;:lc\;?vailes 3,250 9,441 - - 12,601
Loans and advances 219,979 57,113 - - 277,092 Other debtors and ' ' '
Investment securities 1,515,720 45,112 - 984 1,561,816 rend . 1430 B N 26 1 456
Interest receivable 13,301 493 - 57 13,851 Rp‘ pay ' B 37877 B B 37’877
Insurance receivables 13,898 7,856 - - 21,754 ciggipnce assets : ’
Other debtors and Total financial assets 2,260,810 167,504 219 28203 2,465,736
prepayments 21,146 8,898 1 ) 30,043
Reinsurance assets - 82,726 - - 82,726 Customers” deposits and other
. i funding instruments 533,782 - - - 533,782
Total financial assets 2,118,888 750,259 229 9,146 2,878,522 Debt securitics 316,445 B A A 316,445
Customers’ deposits and other Total financial liabilities 850,227 - - - 850,227
funding instruments 193,307 - - - 193,307
Debt securities 503,001 549,403 - - 1,052,404 Net currency risk
exposure 1,419,583 167,504 219 28,203 1,615,509
Total financial liabilities 696,308 549,403 - - 1,245,711
) Reasonably possible change in
Net currency risk currency rate 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%
exposure 1,422,580 200,856 229 9,146 1,632,811
Effect on profit before tax 70,979 8,375 11 1,410 80,775
Reasonably possible change in
currency rate 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%
Effect on profit before tax 71,129 10,043 11 457 81,640
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38. Risk management (continued) 38. Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity risk s the risk that the Group may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (continued)
associated with financial instruments when they fall due under normal and stress circumstances.
To mitigate this risk, Management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core Up to one Oneto Over five
deposit base, manages assets with liquidity in mind and monitors future cash flows and liquidity Parent year five years years Total
on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of
high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required. 2015
Customers’ deposits and other
The Group sources funds for the provision of liquidity from three main sources; retail and funding instruments 1,109,206 66,387 - 1,175,593
wholesale deposits, funding instruments and the capital markets. A substantial portion of the Debt securities in issue 64,196 96,294 750,925 911,415
funding for the Group is provided by core deposits and premium income. The Group maintains a Interest payable 12,241 2,701 3,681 18,623
core funding base which can be drawn on to meet immediate liquidity needs. Facilities are also Bank overdraft 10,153 — — 10,153
established with correspondent banks, which can provide additional liquidity if conditions
demand. 1,195,796 165,382 754,606 2,115,784
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and Group
liabilities are fundamental to the management of the Group. The Group employs various 2016
asset/liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps. Liquidity gaps are mitigated by the marketable
nature of a substantial segment of the Group’s assets as well as generating sufficient cash from Customers” deposits and other
new and renewed customer deposits and insurance policies. funding instruments 1,795,280 509,961 - 2305241
Debt securities in issue 33,589 370,741 600,000 1,004,330
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities Interest payable 15,553 8,498 1,970 26,021
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 Investment contracts 224,936 - - 224,936
Decem'ber_ _2916 and 2015, based on contractual repayment obligations, over the remaining life of 2,069,358 889,200 601,970 3,560,528
those liabilities.
Up to one Oneto Over five 2015
Parent year five years years Total Customers’ deposits and other
2016 funding instruments 1,954,944 42,021 - 1,996,965
Debt securities in issue 64,196 96,294 750,925 911,415
Customers’ deposits and other Interest payable 7,512 2,701 3,681 13,894
funding instruments 840,010 275,546 10,000 1,125,556 Bank overdraft 10,153 - - 10,153
Debt securities in issue 33,589 370,741 600,000 1,004,330 Investment contracts 210,231 - - 210,231
Interest payable 11,035 6,546 2,317 19,898
2,247,036 141,016 754,606 3,142,658
884,634 652,833 612,317 2,149,784
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38. Risk management (continued) 39. Capital management (continued)
Equity price risk When managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ in the statement of financial
position, the objectives of the Parent and its subsidiaries are:
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will decrease as the result of a decrease
in equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure . To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the
arises from the Group’s investment portfolio. parent and its subsidiaries operate;
. To safeguard the parent’s and the subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a going concern so
The effect on income will arise as a result of the change in fair value of equity instruments that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
categorised as fair value through the statement of income. In the case of the Parent, changes in stakeholders; and
fair .\/glug affect the.capi.tal reserve as a component of .equity, whereas V\{ith respect to the o To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
subsidiaries, changes in fair value have an impact on the capital reserve and/or income.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored monthly by Management,
The effect on equity and income at 31 December 2016 and 2015 due to a reasonably possible employing techniques based on the guidelines developed and implemented by the Central Bank of
change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows: Trinidad & Tobago for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Central
Bank on a monthly basis.
Market indices Change in equity price Effect on income
% 2016 2015 The Central Bank requires each bank or banking group to: (a) hold the minimum level of the
Parent +- +- regulatory capital of $15 million, and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-
weighted asset (the ‘Basel ratio”) at or above the internationally agreed minimum of 8%.
TTSE +/-3 403 602
S&P 500 +/-8 3,313 7,094 In each country in which the Group’s insurance subsidiaries operates, the local insurance
Group regulator_ i_ndi_cate_zs the r_e_quired mir_lirpum amoun_t apc_i _type of capital that mu_st be held b_y each of
the subsidiaries in addition to their insurance liabilities. The Group is subject to the insurance
TTSE +-3 12,581 13,892 solvency regulations in all the territories in which it issues insurance contracts. The minimum
S&P 500 +-8 21,390 41,459 required capital must be maintained at all times throughout the year.
39. Capital management For 2016 and 2015, the Parent and its subsidiaries complied with all of the externally imposed
capital requirements to which they are subject at the date of this report.
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Group
complies with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit
ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholder
value.
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40. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 40. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled based
on contractual undiscounted cashflows. Group 2016 2015
Less than Over Less than Over
Parent 2016 2015 Assets 12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total
Less than Over Less than Over Cash and short-term funds 766,104 - 766,104 720,084 - 720,084
Assets 12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total Fixed deposits 124.947 _ 124,947 148,514 _ 148,514
Net investment in leased assets and other
ﬁthin?ij:g:{;irlrgaf;zdazsm and other 286,015 - 286015 302,985 - 302,985 instalment loans 98207 1,320721 1,427,928 76943 926,430 1,003,373
instalment loans 85155 971,340 1,056,495 76943 928,163 1,005,106 Loans and advances 581730 - 204521 76,251 718914 147,39 866,510
Investment securities 870,122 2,412,620 3,282,742 1,139,284 2,114,857 3,254,141
Loans and advances 570,147 127,281 697,428 718,914 81,376 800,290 Interest receivable 29103 - 29103 36.178 - 36178
Investment securities 105965 494,250 600,215 165917 443,831 609,748 ; ' ' ' '
. Insurance receivables 47,648 - 47,648 37,170 - 37,170
Interest receivable 6,666 - 6,666 8,904 - 8,904 .
Other debtors and prepayments 51871 _ 51871 45,250 _ 45.250 Other debtors and prepayments 57,586 - 57,586 50,305 - 50,305
. ! ! ! ! Reinsurance assets 165,150 17,356 182,506 160,033 12,049 172,082
Taxation recoverable 1,219 - 1,219 1,219 - 1,219 N
| tment in subsidiari 810.320 810.320 632.500 632,500 Taxation recoverable 2,417 - 2,417 1,515 - 1,515
anes Te” (T subst 'a'{es - a1 e - a0 et Investment properties - 139268 139,268 - 138483 138,483
Drofperz‘an equipmen - 20‘ 9 20’ 9 - 20‘ 98 20’ 98 Property and equipment - 182,798 182,798 - 28,583 28,583
eferred tax asset - 17 17 - 5 5 Gooduwill - 136361 136361 - 133762 133,762
Employee benefit asset = 9,374 9,374 = 9,278 9,278 Deferred tax asset - 24374 24,374 - 20665 29,665
- 129,089 129,089 - 118395 118,395
Total assets 1,107,038 2434095 3541,133 1320132 2,117,248 3,437,380 Employee benefit assct
Total assets 2,743014 4,666,108 7,409,122 3,088,940 3,649,620 6,738,560
Liabilities
Liabilities
Customers’ deposits and other funding instruments 840,010 285,546 1,125,556 1,109,206 66,387 1,175,593
Bank overdraft - - - 10,153 - 10,153 Customers’ deposits and other funding instruments 1,795,279 509,962 2,305,241 1,954,943 42,022 1,996,965
Accrued interestand other payables 71,323 - 71,323 65,673 - 65,673 Debt securities in issue 33,589 970,741 1,004,330 64,196 847,219 911,415
Debt securities in issue 33,589 970,741 1,004,330 64,196 847,219 911,415 Bank overdraft - - - 10,153 - 10,153
Taxation payable 8,884 - 8,884 9,722 - 9,722 Accrued interest and other payables 139,719 - 139,719 103,287 - 103,287
Deferred tax liability - 4,339 4,339 - 2,878 2,878 Taxation payable 14,597 - 14,597 11,468 - 11,468
Employee benefit obligation - 385 385 - 431 431 Deferred tax liability - 149,118 149,118 - 125354 125,354
Employee benefit obligation - 4,525 4,525 - 4,075 4,075
Total liabilities 953,806 1,261,011 2,214,817 1,258,950 916,915 2,175,865 Investment contract liabilities 224,936 - 224936 210,231 - 210,231
Insurance contract liabilities 384,421 980,071 1,364,492 390,093 935,067 1,325,160
Total liabilities 2,592,541 2,614,417 5206958 2,744,371 1,953,737 4,698,108
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41.  Business combination 41.  Business combination (continued)
On 3 October 2016, the Bank capitalied ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited and was The provisional goodwill represents the value of the expected synergies arising from the
issued 100% of its share capital. Also on that date the Bank completed the acquisition of 100% of acquisition.
the financial services business of Consolidated Finance Co. Limited (CFC) and as a result of that
acquisition ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited is now the immediate parent company of Analysis of cash flow on acquisition
CFC. CFC is a financial services company licensed under Part 111 of the Financial Institutions Act, Consideration paid for business combination 177,820
Cap 324A of Barbados. ANSA Financial Holdings (Barbados) Limited is a non-operating holding Represented by:
company which is incorporated and domiciled in Barbados. Cash transferred 77,053
Short and medium term promissory notes 100,767
This business combination was within the scope of IFRS 3- Business Combinations. An analysis of 177820
the fair value of the net assets acquired and is shown in the table below: —_—
Cash transferred in the transaction 77,053
Fair value of assets Cash included in net assets acquired 32,587
acquired and liabilities Net cash outflow on business transfer (44,467)
assumed on 3 October 2016
Net leases and loans receivable 432,893 Debt securities as described above consists of promissory notes payable of TT$35 million each
Operating lease vehicles 145,280 repayable on 3 October 2017, 3 October 2018 and 3 October 2019 respectively (see Note 19).
Investments 110,951 L . . . -
From the date of acquisition, the acquiree contributed $25.4 million to revenue and $4.5 million to
Other non-current assets 14,010 )
. . the net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.
Current assets including cash 101,313
Total assets 804,447
Customers' deposits 570,951
Non-current liabilities 25,905
Current liabilities 32,370
Total liabilities 629,226
Net Assets 175,221
Fair value of net assets acquired 175,221
Fair value of consideration 177,820
Purchased goodwill 2,599
131 132

41



ANSA MERCHANT BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

42.  Capital commitments

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
- 30,356 Capital expenditure 54,186 -

43.  Contingent liabilities

The Group's potential liability, for which there are equal and offsetting claims, against its customers
in the event of a call on these commitments is as follows:

Parent Group
2015 2016 2016 2015
6,636 6,442 6,442 6,636
44. Dividends

Dividends paid are analysed as follows: 2016 2015
Final dividend for 2015 - $0.85 per share (2014: $0.85 per share) 72,764 72,764

Interim dividend for 2016 - $0.20 per share
(2015: $0.20 per share) 17,122 17,122
89,886 89,886

On 21 March 2017, the Board of Directors declared a final dividend of $1.00 (2015: $0.85) per
share for the year ended 31 December 2016. This dividend amounting to $85,605,000 (2015:
$72,764,000) is not recorded as a liability in the statement of financial position as at 31 December
2016.

45.  Events after the reporting period

There were no material events after the statement of financial position date of 31 December 2016
which required recording or disclosure in the financial statements of the Bank or its subsidiaries as
at 21 March 2017.
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SECURED D FACTS

The Investment Objective of the Fund is to seek to generate investment returns which are
superior to all TT$ registered money market mutual funds, while providing for acceptable levels
of liquidity and credit risk.

Secured Fund: Top 10 Holdings - Dec 31 2016 % of Portfolio
GHL 7.975% FRB DUE 2023 Y 1044%
NIPDEC 5.15% FRB DUE 2025 10.16%
FIRST CITIZENS BANK LIMITED 3.10% FRB DUE 2021 P 469%
HDC 8.70% FRB DUE 2023 4.03%
STANDARD CHARTERED 5.70% FRB DUE 2022 P 339%
L BRANDS INC. 5.625% FRB DUE 2022 3.36%
FIAT CHRYSLER AUTOMOBILE 4.5% FRB DUE 2020 P 316%
PETROTRIN 6.0% FRB DUE 2022 fo3%
FIXED DEPOSIT 3.75% DUE 2018 2.81%
FIXED DEPOSIT 4.00% DUE 2019 P 281%

Cumulative Returns as at December 31 2016

12 Month H 1.25%
3 Year P 3.88%
Since Inception : 15.93%

Historical Performance

2012 L 225%
2013 181%
2014 P 138%
2015 125%
2016 P125%

Asset Mix - Dec 31 2016

7%

B Corporate Bonds

B state-Owned Companies Bonds
B Cashand Deposits

. Government Bonds

ansa .

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED R

This information does not form part of the audited financial statements,
on which the auditors have opined.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ANSA SECURED FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of ANSA Secured Fund (“the Fund”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in unitholders’
capital and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Trustees for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Fund'’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

—-E‘Msnaaﬂé/

Port of Spain,
TRINIDAD:
21 March 2017

44



ANSA SECURED FUND ANSA SECURED FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) (Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

Notes 2016 2015 Notes 2016 2015

Assets Income
Cash and cash equivalents 4 40,254 7,067 Interest and dividend income 7 10,706 11,724
Interest and other receivables 3,122 3,707 Net foreign exchange translation and other gains 5,672 1,379
Investment securities 5 172,973 228,601

Total income 16,378 13,103
Total assets 216,349 239,375

Expenses

Liabilities

Net realised and unrealised losses on investment

Management fees payable 9,557 5,295 L
Trustee fees payable 77 88 securities 8 (1,453) (28)
Distributions payable 638 733 Management fees 9 (12,402) (5.29)
Other payables 334 413 Trustee fees 9 (321) (398)
Write back of impairment expense 27 136
Total liabilities 10,606 6,529 Other expenses (199) (121)
Net assets 205,743 232,846 Total expenses (14,348) (5,706)
Unitholders' Capital Total comprehensive income for the year 2,030 7,397
Unitholder's balances 6 202,222 228,676
Retained fund surplus 3,521 4,170
205,743 232,846

The financial statements were approved by the Trustee and authorised for issue on 21 March 2017 and
signed on their behalf by:

: Trustee (:\b .
AL
Ny MQ
: Trustee

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

ANSA SECURED FUND ANSA SECURED FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNITHOLDERS' CAPITAL STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) (Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

Unitholders' Retained fund Notes 2016 2015
balances surplus Total Cash flows from operating activities
Balance as at 1 January 2015 297,425 36 297511 Tot_al comprehensive income for the year 2,030 7,397
Adjustments:
Total comprehensive income for the year - 7,397 7,397 Interest capitalised (101) (135)
Amortisation on investment securities 978 990
Redemption of units 6 (68,749) — (68,749) Losses on sale of investment securities 8 1,453 442
Unrealised gains on investment securities 8 - (414)
Distribution to Unitholders - (3,313) (3,313) Write back for impairment (13) (56)
Foreign exchange gains (5,257) (1,157)
Balance as at 31 December 2015 228,676 4170 232,846 (Deficit)/surplus before working capital changes (910) 7,067
Changes in assets/liabilities:
Total comprehensive income for the year - 2,030 2,030 Decrease in receivables 585 390
Increase/(decrease) in payables 4,077 (6,523)
Redemption of units 6 (26,454) - (26,454) . . a
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 3,752 934
Distribution to Unitholders (2,679) (2,679) Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments (11,163) (77,033)
Balance as at 31 December 2016 202,222 3,521 205,743 Proceeds from maturity/sale of investments 69,731 117,044
Net cash flows provided by investing activities 58,568 40,011
Cash flows from financing activities
Redemption of units 6 (26,454) (68,749)
Distribution to Unitholders (2,679) (3,313)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (29,133) (72,062)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 33,187 (31,117)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,067 38,184
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 40,254 7,067
Supplemental information:
. . . . Interest and dividend received 11,941 13,128
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Distributions paid 2773 3528

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ANSA SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

SECURED

FUND

1. Description of the Fund 2. Significant accounting policies
The following brief description of the ANSA Secured Fund (the “Fund’) is provided for general i) Basis of preparation
rfs(rjn;a:u;n Furp(;jef tonilr}]/f. Ir?:]fet:er:‘ce should be made to the Trust Deed and Prospectus of the These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
und for more complete Intormation. financial assets held at fair value through statement of income. The financial statements
The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund registered in Trinidad & Tobago, and established by are presented in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars ($) and all values are rounded to the nearest
ANSA Merchant Bank Limited (the ‘Bank’ or ‘Fund Manager’) under a Trust Deed dated thousand, except when otherwise indicated.
28_/—\_ugust 2005. The _Bank whose registered address is 11C I_\/Igraval Road, _Por_t Of Spain, Statement of compliance
Trinidad and Tobago, is the Sponsor, Investment Manager, Administrator and Distributor of the
Fund. The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with International
L . . o . oo Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
The principal activity of the Fund is to provide investors having similar investment objectives the Board (IASB).
opportunity to access professional investment management in achieving maximum income
returns, minimisation of risk and reasonable safety of capital. Presentation of financial statements
Itis the objective of the Fund to maintain a price of TT$1,000.00 per Unit. Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
The Unitholders have the right to vote with respect to certain matters related to the Fund. statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
At Unitholder meetings, Unitholders are entitled, inter alia, to: and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
0] require the removal of the Trustee and/or approve the appointment of a new Trustee; and Income and expenses will not be offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless
(i) sanction any modification, alteration or addition to the provisions of the Trust Deed unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as specifically
the Trustee and the Sponsor certify in writing that they are of the opinion that the disclosed in the accounting policies of the Fund.
modification (a) does not materially prejudice the interests of the Unitholders, does not B i . i .
operate to release the Trustee from any material obligation to the Unitholders and does not i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
materially increase the amount of expenses chargeable on the assets of the Fund; or (b) is The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are
necessary in order to make possible compliance with any fiscal, statutory of official consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Fund’s annual financial statements
requirement; or (c) is made to correct a manifest error. for the year ended 31 December 2015 except for the standards and interpretations noted
below.
The Bank has guaranteed 100% return of the principal invested in the Fund subject to a minimum
period of investment, and a fixed minimum yield on the units held subject to a defined period of New and amended standards and interpretations
time established at the time of purchase. All units in the Fund have met the minimum period of i i i i
investment for the principal guarantee and all units are beyond the definite period of time for the The_Fund applied, for th_e f"s_t time, certain standards and amendments that became
fixed minimum yield and are therefore not subject to the fixed minimum yield. applicable for the 2016 financial year, however there was no impact on the amounts
reported and/or disclosures in the financial statements.
The Trustee of the Fund is FirstCaribbean International Bank (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited.
As at 30 September 2009, subscriptions to the Fund were suspended as a result of the prevailing
market conditions. This was carried out in line with the provisions set out in the prospectus.
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued) i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) Standards issued but not yet effective
Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016 . IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ — Effective 1 January 2018.
. . . X . IFRS 9, Phase 2 and 3 — Effective 1 January 2018.
The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than
significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify: The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, are disclosed above.
The Fund intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.
. The materiality requirements in 1AS 1; .
e . . iii Cash and cash equivalents
. That specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCI and the statement ) 4
of financial position may be disaggregated; Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits and
. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
financial statements; and original maturities of three months or less and subject to insignificant risks of change in
. That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the value.
equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified ) )
between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
loss. and short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank
X . . overdrafts, should they exist, are disclosed separately under “liabilities” on the statement of
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional financial position.
subtotals are presented in the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or
loss and OCI. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 iv)  Financial instruments
January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments had no impact on the
Fund IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - Published September 2014, effective The Fund early adopted IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments' (Phase 1) (as issued in November
1 January 2016 2009), effective 1 January 2018. The Fund chose to apply the exemption given in the
Certain limited amendments, which primarily consist of clarifications to existing guidance, transitional provision for early application of IFRS 9 and hence did not restate
were made to the following standards and are not expected to have a material impact on comparative information in the year of initial application.
the financial statements:
Financial assets
. IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ - .
. S X - a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
. IAS 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.
3
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ANSA SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

SECURED
FUND

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued) iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued) Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Lo . . . continued
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a ( )
debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The A financial asset is held for trading if:
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of . it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) or a financial guarantee.
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised in the statement of accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will
comprehensive income and is included in ‘interest income’. not be reclassified to the statement of income on disposal of the investments.
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI)
Zg?nr::f: d ;SO: flaeifsva:lrjnepﬁ::gjen; s:;’tsesme(s?zefr;;c::;e(c‘;bitni:ina\:ersetgegistio:])?t are Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVSI, unless the Fund
9 9 9 : designates an investment that is not held for trading as at FVOCI on initial
X the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in recognition.
order to collect contractual cash flov'vs; and . . Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured at FVSI.
R the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to In addition, debt instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria but are
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal designated as at FV/SI are measured at FVSI.
amount outstanding.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) A d_ebt l_nstrun?en_t may be dgagn_ated as at FVSI upon initial recognition if .SL.ICh
designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
On initial recognition, the Fund can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument- inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI. the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Fund has not designated any
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading. debt instrument as at FVSI.
A financial asset is held for trading if: Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVSI when the business
model is changed such that the amortised cost criteria are no longer met.
X it has been acquired principally for the purpose of re-sale in the near term; Reclassification of debt instruments that are designated as at FVSI on initial
or recognition is not allowed.
X on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Fund manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI) (continued)

Financial assets at FVSI are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognised in the
statement of income. The net gain or loss recognised in the statement of income is
included in the ‘investment income’ line item.

Interest income on debt instruments as at FVSI is included in the net gain or loss
described above.

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVSI is recognised in the
statement of income when the Fund’s right to receive the dividends is established
in accordance with 1AS 18 'Revenue’ and is included in the net gain or loss
described above.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting
period. The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair value gain or loss.

Therefore,

. for financial assets that are classified as at FVSI, the foreign exchange
component is recognised in the statement of income; and

. for financial assets that are designated as at FVOCI, any foreign exchange
component is recognised in other comprehensive income.

. for foreign currency denominated debt instruments measured at amortised

cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the financial assets and
are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the statement of
comprehensive income.

iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
b. Impairment of financial assets

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or
a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor, or a group of
debtors, is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and, where observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit
losses (ECLs) that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss as
credit loss expense.

Impaired debts, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Fund. If a previous write-off is later recovered, the recovery
is credited to the credit loss expense.

Interest revenue on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss.
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ANSA SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

SECURED

FUND

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

c. Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a
group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where the rights to receive cash
flows from the asset have expired, or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through
arrangement and either:

. the Fund has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
asset, or
. the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Fund’s continuing involvement in
the asset. In that case, the fund also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the fund has retained.

Financial liabilities
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities
at fair value through the statement of comprehensive income, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge as appropriate. The Fund determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans
and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Fund’s financial liabilities include fees payable, distributions payable, amounts
due to related parties and other payables.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

b. Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognising of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

V) Fair valuation of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting
date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid
price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs at the close of business at the end of the reporting period for listed
instruments.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using
appropriate internal valuation techniques. These pricing models consider, among other
factors, contractual and market prices, correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield
curve volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The use of
different pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of
fair values.

The estimated fair values of certain financial instruments have been determined using
available market information or other appropriate valuation methodologies that require
judgement in interpreting market data and developing estimates.

Consequently, estimates made do not necessarily reflect the amounts that the Fund would
realise in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or different
methodologies may have a material effect on the fair values estimated.

9 10
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
V) Fair valuation of financial instruments (continued) V) Fair valuation of financial instruments (continued)

Short-term financial assets and liabilities Level 2
The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash Included in the Level 2 category are financial assets that are measured using a valuation
equivalents, interest and other receivables, management fees payable, distributions technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current
payable, trustee fees payable, and other payables are a reasonable estimate of their fair market transactions and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices
values because of the short maturity of these instruments. have not been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets with fair

. values based on broker quotes, investments in private equity funds with fair values
Investment securities obtained via fund managers and assets that are valued using the Fund’s own models
The fair value of trading investments is based on market quotations, when available. When whereby the majority of assumptions are market observable.
market quotations are not readily available, fair values are based on discounted cash flows |
or estimated using quoted market prices of similar investments. In the absence of a market Level 3
valus,tdljc?urlted cash ftlows vv_ll:dapproxmwfate falrhvalue. 'tl'hls_procre]_sshrellels OF available Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets that are not quoted as there are no
market data to generate a yield curve for each country in which valuations were active markets to determine a price for those assets.
undertaken, using interpolated results where there were no market observable rates.
In pricing callable bonds, where information is available, the price of a callable bond is vi)  Revenue recognition
determined as at the call date using the Yield to Worst. For bonds with irregular cash .

s T . ’ - Investment income
flows (sinking funds, capitalisation of interest, moratoria, amortisations or balloon
payments) a process of iteration using the Internal Rate of Return is used to arrive at bond Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues,
values. Yields on all tax-free bonds are grossed-up to correspond to similar taxable bonds taking into account the effective yield of the asset or an applicable floating rate. Interest
at the prevailing rate of corporation tax. income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium on the constant yield basis.
Investment income also includes dividends and any fair value changes.
Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy
Interest income is accrued until the investment becomes contractually three months in
The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of arrears at which time the interest is suspended and then accounted for on a cash basis until
financial instruments by valuation techniques: the investment is brought up to date.
Level 1 Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right to receive payment is established.
Included in the Level 1 category are financial assets that are measured in whole or in part Other income and expenditure
by reference to published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as
quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an Other income and expenditure are brought into account on the accruals basis.
exchange, dealer, broker, industry fund, pricing service or regulatory agency and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis.
11 12
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ANSA SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

FUND

IEECURED

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

vii)  Subscriptions and redemptions xii)  Foreign currency transactions
Subscriptions and redemptions are accounted for on the accruals basis. Subscriptions and Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in
redemptions to the Fund are made by investors at a price $1,000 per unit. Units may be Trinidad and Tobago dollars at rates of exchange ruling on 31 December. All revenue and
subscribed at a minimum initial value of $50,000 and thereafter, the minimum amount of expenditure transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at mid-exchange
an additional investment is $5,000 in value, except in the instance of reinvestment of rates and the resulting profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities are dealt
distributions. There are no limits as to the number of units that can be redeemed at any one with in the statement of comprehensive income.
time.

xiii)  Unitholders' Capital
viii)  Expenses
Classification of redeemable shares
Fees are recognised on an accrual basis. Refer to Note 9 for management, administration B o
and distribution fees. Audit fees are included within other expenses. Redeemable shares are classified as equity instruments when:
ix)  Distributions to Unitholders . The redeemable shares entitle the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets
in the event of the Fund’s liquidation.
Distributions to Unitholders are recognised when they are ratified by the Trustees and are . The redeemable shares do not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or
paid out quarterly. another financial asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the
. Fund’s net assets.

x) Taxation . The total expected cash flows attributable to the redeemable shares over the life of
With respect to dividends which are derived locally no income tax is payable by residents the instrument are based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the
of Trinidad and Tobago. recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and

unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument.

Xi) Functional and presentation currency » X

In addition to the redeemable shares having all of the above features, the Fund must have
The Fund's functional currency is the Trinidad and Tobago dollar (TTD), which is the no other financial instrument or contract that has:
currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates. The Fund’s i ) .
performance is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in TTD. Therefore, the TTD is ° Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the
considered as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and
underlying transactions, events and conditions. The Fund's presentation currency is also unrecognised net assets of the Fund.
the TTD. . The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual return to the redeemable
unitholders.
The issuance, acquisition and cancellation of redeemable shares are accounted for as
equity transactions.
13 14
3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates Cash and cash equivalents 2016 2015

The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, Cash at bank 13,079 3,667

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements Short-term funds 27,175 3,400

and disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and

estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 40,254 7,067

of the asset or liability affected in future periods. . . . . .

y P Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits
. . , . o are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate
Other disclosures relating to the Fund’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: cash requirements of the Fund, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
. Financial instruments risk management (Note 11)
° Fund management (Note 14) Investment securities 2016 2015
i) Judgement Investment securities designated at fair value through
. . - statement of income 12,000 46,711
In the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised Investment securities measured at amortised cost 160,973 181,890
in the financial statements:
Total investment securities 172,973 228,601
Impairment of financial assets
Investment securities designated at fair value
Management makes judgements to determine whether financial assets are impaired when through statement of income
the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of
impairment. The recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Equity securities - 34,711
Corporate bonds 12,000 12,000
i) Estimates and assumptions
12,000 46,711
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty o .
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the Investment securities measured at amortised cost
carrying amounts of assgts and Ilat_)llltles wnhl_n the next financial year_, are discussed Government securities 16,630 9,974
b_elow._ The Fund based its assumptions and estlmfate_s on _parameters available When_ the State owned company securities 53,052 67,781
financial statements were prepared. However, existing cucumstanc_es and assump?l(_)ns Corporate bonds and debentures 91,291 104,135
about future developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Fund. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 160,973 181,890
oceur.
The movement in specific provision for impaired investments is analysed as follows:
Valuation of investments
Balance at 1 January 231 300
Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the specific instrument, comparisons Amounts written back (13) (120)
with other similar financial instruments, or the use of valuation models. Establishing Charge for the year - i
yaluatlons where ther_e ar_e no quotet_j market_prl_ces inherently |r_1vol\_/es_the use of ) At 31 December 218 231
judgement and applying judgement in establishing reserves against indicated valuations
for aged positions, deteriorating economic conditions (including country specific risks),
concentrations in specific industries, types of instruments or currencies, market liquidity,
15 model risk itself and other factors. 16
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ANSA SECURED FUND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) FUND

(continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 I SECURED

6. Unitholders' balances 2016 2015 9. Fees
Authorised: The Manager is paid quarterly from the assets of the Fund in the form of management fees,
Unlimited number of units administrator fees and distributor fees, calculated on the basis of the average net asset value in that

quarter pro-rated where necessary on the basis of the number of days remaining or elapsed in the
quarter, according to an annual rate not to exceed a cumulative total of 5.50% on the average net asset
value of the Fund.

Reconciliation of unitholders' balances:
Units outstanding at the beginning of the year 228,676 297,425
Units redeemed (26,454) (68,749)

The Trustee is paid from the assets of the Fund a fee not exceeding an annual rate of 0.20% on the

Units outstanding at the end of the year 202,222 228,676 average net asset value and such fee shall be subject to a minimum annual fee of $10,000,
exclusive of VAT.
Guaranteed net asset value per unit 1,000 1,000
P 2016 2015
7. Interest and dividend income 2016 2015
Management fees 12,402 5,295
Interest on investment securities designated at fair value Trustee fees 321 398
through statement of income 482 465
Interest income on impaired financial assets 131 133 12,723 5,693
Interest on investment securities measured at amortised cost 9,678 10,662
Dividend income 415 464
10,706 11,724
8. Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on investment 2016 2015
securities
Realised losses on sale of investment securities (1,453) (442)
Unrealised gains on investments held at year end
designated at fair value through statement of income - 414
(1,453) (28)
17 18
10 Fair value of financial instruments 10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

i Carrying amounts and fair values .. L . . .
® ying i) Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy

The table below shows the carrying amounts and fair values as at 31 December.

) ) ) 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Carrying Fair Unrecognised
2016 values values gain/(loss) Investment securities designated
L at FVSI
Financial assets
Cash and short-term funds 40,254 40,254 - Corporate bonds and debentures - - 12,000 12,000
Investment securities 172,973 176,831 3,858
Interest and other receivables 3,122 3,122 - - - 12,000 12,000
Total financial assets 216,349 220,207 3,858 Investment securities designated
Financial liabilities at amortised cost for which
Management fee payable 9,557 9,657 - fair values are disclosed
Trustee fees payable 77 77 _ Government bonds 3,401 13,494 - 16,895
Distribution payable 638 638 _ State owned company securities 6,066 49,935 - 56,001
Other payables 334 334 _ Corporate bonds and debentures 62,789 28,902 244 91,935
Total financial liabilities 10,606 10,606 - 72,256 92,331 244 164,831
2015 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets Investment securities designated
Cash and short-term funds 7,067 7,067 - at FVSI
Investment securities 228,601 227,873 (728) . o
Interest and other receivables 3,707 3,707 - Equity securities 13,466 21,245 - 34,711
. Corporate bonds and debentures - — 12,000 12,000
Total financial assets 239,375 238,647 (728)
Financial liabilities 13,466 21,245 12,000 46,711
Management fee payable 5,295 5,295 - Investment securities designated
Trustee fees payable 88 88 - at amortised cost for which
Distribution payable 733 733 - fair values are disclosed
Other payables 413 413 - Government bonds 1,970 8,343 - 10,313
Total financial liabilities 6,529 6,529 _ State owned company securities 19,913 51,474 - 71,387
Corporate bonds and debentures 59,159 33,883 6,420 99,462
81,042 93,700 6,420 181,162
19 20
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ANSA SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

SECURED
FUND

10.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

11. Risk management
i) Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy (continued) Introduction
Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation: Risk is inherent in the Fund’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing
Significant Range identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls.
Valuation unobservable  (weighted Sensitivity of the
technique inputs  average) input to fair value This process of risk management is critical to the Fund’s continuing profitability. The Fund is
) i i exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
Unquoted Discounted Rate of 8% to 12% 2% increase/(decrease) in
securities cashflows return the rate of return would Role of the Trustee
result in
decrease/(increase) in fair The Trustee is the custodian of the Fund and their responsibility is that of safeguarding
value by $73/($49) Unitholders’ interests. The Trustee approves all distribution of income from the Fund and ensures
that the Fund is externally audited every year. They also ensure that all provisions within the
prospectus are followed by the Investment Manager and all regulatory requirements are fulfilled.
iii)  Transfers between Level 1 and 2
Risk management structure
As at 31 December 2016, there were no transfer of assets between Level 1 and
Level 2. The Bank which acts as the Fund Sponsor, Distributor, Administrator and Investment Manager, is
. . i o ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Bank is also responsible for the
iv)  Movement in Level 3 financial instruments overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies, principles, policies and
procedures. Day to day adherence to risk principles is carried out by the executive management of
2016 2015 the Bank in compliance with the policies approved by the Board of Directors.
Balance at 1 January 18,420 18,596 Treasury management
Gains/(losses) recognised 244 (187)
Purchases _ 6,347 The Fund employs the Treasury function of the Bank, which is responsible for managing the
Transfers into Level 3 _ _ Fund’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure. The treasury function is also
Disposals (6,420) (6,336) primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Fund.
12,244 18,420
21 22
11. Risk management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
Concentrations of risk Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
enhancements
Concentrations arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability Significant changes in the economy, or in the state of a particular industry segment that represents
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other a concentration in the Fund’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided
conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s results to developments at the statement of financial position date. Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Fund’s credit risk.
procedures include specific monitoring control to focus on the maintenance of a diversified
portfolio. The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit which represents a worst case scenario
of credit risk exposure, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.
Market risk The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the
counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will valuation parameters.
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprise credit risk, interest rate risk,
currency risk and equity price risk each of which are considered below and include, where Gross maximum exposure
relevant, the sensitivity of the Fund’s financial result on movements in certain market risk 2016 2015
variables.
Cash and cash equivalents 40,254 7,067
Credit risk management Investment securities 172,973 193,890
Interest and other receivables 3,122 3,707
Credit risk to the Fund is the potential that a counterparty will fail to meet its stated obligations in
accordance with agreed terms. It is the Fund’s policy to enter into financial arrangements with a 216,349 204,664
variety of creditworthy counterparties and monitor the size of the exposure to any one issuer and
the duration of the investment. The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the value of its Cash and cash equivalents
investment securities portfolio. The Bank, in its capacity as Investment Manager, is responsible for
identifying and controlling credit risk. These funds are placed with highly rated local banks. Management therefore considers the risk of
default of these counterparties to be very low.
23 24
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11. Risk management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
. . Credit quality (continued
Credit quality a v ( )
Investment debt securities (continued)
Investment debt securities High
grade Standard Impaired Total
The credit quality of investment debt securities has been analysed into the following categories: 2015
i . . L . Investment securities designated at
High arade These comprise of regional sovereign debt securities issued directly or through state fair value through statement of income _ 12,000 _ 12,000
gng intermediary body where there has been no history of default. Investment securities measured at
. . . i amortised cost 67,755 112,609 1,526 181,890
These securities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the terms and
Standard conditions of the underlying agreements. In addition, included in this category are 67,755 124,609 1,526 193,890
securities issued k?y related parties and fellow subsidiaries within the ANSA McAL There are no investment debt securities classified as sub-standard for the years 31 December 2016
Group of companies. and 31 December 2015.
Sub-standard These securities are greater than 90 days in arrears, display indicators of impairment Currency risk
or have been restructured in the past financial year. The Fund takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Bank in its capacity as Investment
Impaired These securities are non-performing. Manager sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and
High intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. The table below summarises the Fund’s exposure
. to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December, arising primarily from monetary financial
2016 . i grade  Standard  Impaired Total assets denominated in US dollars. The Fund had no financial liabilities denominated in currencies
Investment securities designated at other than the reporting currency.
fair value through statement of income
Investment securities measured at - 12,000 - 12,000 The final line of the table, illustrates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the USD
. against the TTD, with all other variables held constant on the statement of comprehensive
amortised cost ;
52,759 106,851 1,363 160,973 income.
usD usD
52,759 118,851 1,363 172,973 2016 2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 28,868 3,677
Investment securities 74,760 120,809
Interest receivable 1366 1,992
Net currency risk exposure 104,994 126,478
Reasonably possible change in currency rate 5% 5%
Effect on income for the year 5,250 6,324
25 26
11.  Risk management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
Interest rate risk Liquidity risk (continued)
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash Uptoone  Over one
flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Fund manages its interest rate exposure by year year Total
investing in fixed and variable rate instruments.
2016
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will Financial liabilities
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that Management fee payable 9,557 . 9,557
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Trustee fee payable 77 - 77
Fund takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest Distributions payable 638 _ 638
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such Other payables 334 _ 334
changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Bank, in its
capacity as Investment Manager, sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that Total financial liabilities 10.606 _ 10.606
may be undertaken, which is monitored daily by the Bank’s Treasury department.
2015
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, Financial liabilities
with all other variables held constant, on the Fund’s statement of comprehensive income. Management fee payable 5,295 _ 5,295
Th itivity of i is the off fth dch L . . Trustee fee payable 88 - 88
e sensitivity of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on income for one Distributions payable 733 _ 733
year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31
Other payables 413 - 413
December.
Change in basis points Sensitivity of income Total financial liabilities 6,529 = 6,529
2016 2015 Equity price risk
+100 14 16 . S . . - . .
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will decrease as a result of decreases in
-100 (14) (16) Lo o ) ) S
equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure
Liquidity risk arises from the Fund’s investment portfolio. The effect on equity due to a reasonably possible
change in equity indices is considered below:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will be unable to liquidate positions to satisfy commitments
to Unitholders for redemptions due to market conditions. This is managed by maintaining an Change in
adequate position in assets with maturities of less than one year. Market indices equity price Effect on income
. [ . . % 2016 2015
The table analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into the relevant maturity funding based on the ’ /- )
remaining period as at 31 December to the contractual maturity date.
TTSE +/- 3% - 404
S&P 500 +/- 8% - 1,700
27 28
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12, Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 13.  Related party transactions and balances
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled based on Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant
contractual undiscounted cashflows. influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related party
transactions are carried out on commercial terms and at market rates. The related assets, liabilities,
2016 2015 income and expenses from these transactions are as follows:
Less than Over Less than Over
12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total 2016 2015
Assets Assets
Sponsor company 12,201 12,201
Cash and cash equivalents 40,254 - 40,254 7,067 - 7,067 Other related parties 1,699 1,834
Investment securities 323 172,650 172,973 44,797 183,804 228,601 -
Interest receivable 3122 - 3,122 3,707 - 3,707 13,900 14,035
Total assets 43,699 172,650 _ 216,349 55,571 183,804 239,375 Liabilities
Sponsor company 9,582 5,417
Liabilit Directors and key management personnel 9 42
1abiliti .
abilities Other related parties 51 54
Management fees payable 9,557 - 9,557 5,295 - 5,295
Trustee fees payable v - 7 88 - 88 # A
Distributions payable 638 - 638 733 - 733 |
ncome
Oth bl 334 - 334 413 - 413
or payables Sponsor company 466 465
Total liabilities 10,606 - 10606 6,529 - 6,529 Other related parties _ 39
643 504
Expenses
Sponsor company 12,402 5,295
12,402 5,295
Distributions
Sponsor company 16 16
Directors and key management personnel 35 42
Other related parties 863 545
914 603
Unitholders' balances
Sponsor company 1,295 1,295
Directors and key management personnel 2,761 3,339
Other related parties 62,910 77,573

66,966 82,207

29 30

14. Fund management

When managing capital, which is represented by Unitholders' balances, the objectives of the Fund
Manager are:

. To comply with the requirements set out in the Fund’s prospectus and Trust Deed;
To safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns for unitholders; and

. To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Fund endeavours to invest in appropriate investments while maintaining sufficient liquidity
to meet redemptions where necessary, such liquidity being augmented by short-term borrowings
or disposal of investment securities where necessary.

The use of proceeds from the issue of units is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund Manager,
based on guidelines set out in the Prospectus and the Trust Deed. The Fund complied with the
requirements set out in the Prospectus and Trust Deed during the reported financial periods and
no changes were made to the Fund’s objectives, policies and processes from the previous year.

15.  Commitments and contingencies
The Fund has no capital commitments for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

As Sponsor, ANSA Merchant Bank Limited will guarantee a 100% return of the principal
invested in Units of the Fund by investors subject to a minimum period of investment provided
that and so long as ANSA Merchant bank Limited is the Investment Manager.

16.  Events after the reporting period
There were no material events after the statement of financial position date of 31 December 2016

which required recording or disclosure in the financial statements of the Fund as at 21 March
2017.

31
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The investment objective of the Fund is to seek to generate investment returns which are
superior to all US$ fixed income mutual funds registered in Trinidad and Tobago, while
providing for acceptable levels of liquidity and credit risk.

ANSA US$ Secured Fund: Top 10 Holdings - Dec 31 2016 % of Portfolio

PETROTRIN 9.75% FRB DUE 2019 . 15.20%
STANDARD CHARTERED 5.70% FRB DUE 2022 E 5.26%
L BRANDS INC. 5.625% FRB DUE 2022 E 5.21%
JBS INVESTMENTS GMEBH 7.75% FRE DUE 2020 E 5.04%
AEROPUERTO INTERNATIONAL TOCUMEN 5.75% FRB DUE 2023 E 5.04%
TRINIDAD GENERATION UNLIMITED 5.25% DUE 2027 E 4.91%
JP MORGAN 7.70% CONTINGENT EQUITY LINKED NOTE DUE 2017 E 4.91%
MACY'S INC. 6.65% FRB DUE 2024 E 4.31%
PANGOLIN ZERO-COUPON BOND DUE 2022 E 4.12%
COMISION FED DE ELECTRICIDAD 4.875% FRB DUE 2021 E 3.64%

Cumulative Returns as at December 31 2016

12 Month : 1.00%
3 Year Po313%
Since Inception E 14.30%

Historical Performance

2012 Y 2.00%
2013 1.56%
2014 P13%
2015 1.00%
2016 P 1.00%

Asset Mix - Dec 31 2016

—
=

\W

B Corporate Bonds

[ Cash and Deposits
B state-Owned Companies Bonds

\

Local Government Bonds
B structured Products

L A
\

12%

‘ﬂ%-: A5 i En==C)

ansa
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MERCHANT BANK LIMITED R

: . \ - ) : This information does not form part of the audited financial statements,
e SSUREML: 57 —_— ; ' on which the auditors have opined.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ANSA USS$ SECURED FUND

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of ANSA USS Secured Fund (“the Fund”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in unitholders’
capital and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Trustees for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund'’s internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

_-E’Mai'-s—éoa-é/

Port of Spain,
TRINIDAD:
21 March 2017

55



ANSA US$ SECURED FUND ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars) (Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)

Notes 2016 2015 Notes 2016 2015
Assets Income
Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,458 1,353 Interest and dividend income 7 844 928
Investment securities 5 17.881 22,196 Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains
Interest and other receivables 575 405 on investment securities 8 (202) 18
o 20914 23.954 Net foreign exchange translation and other income 8 -
Liabilities Total income 650 946
Management fee payable 3 568 Expenses
Trustee fees payable 9 10
Distributions payable 56 66 Management fees 9 3 (853)
Other payables 5 18 Trustee fees 9 (36) (41)

Impairment (write back)/expense (48) 474
Total liabilities B 662 Other expenses (13) (11)
Net assets 20,841 23,292 Total expenses (100) (431)
Satisica sl Total comprehensive income for the year 550 515
Unitholders' balances 23,259 26,035
Retained fund deficit (2.418) (2,743)
20,841 23,292

The financial statements were approved by the Trustee and authorised for issue on 21 March 2017 and
signed on their behalf by:

: Trustee

: Trustee

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. %’\ The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

ANSA US$ SECURED FUND ANSA USS$ SECURED FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars) (Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
Unitholders’ Retained fund Notes 2016 2015
balances deficit Total Cash flows from operating activities
Balance as at 1 January 2015 28,700 (3,269) 25,431 Total comprehensive income for the year 550 515
Adjustments:
Total comprehensive income for the year - 515 515 Interest capitalised (45) (32)
. . B Provision/(write back) for impairment 48 (34)
Redemption of units (2,665) (2,665) Amortisation on investment securities 211 539
Distribution to Unitholders - (275) (275) Unrealised gains on investment securities 8 - (72)
Losses on sale of investment securities 8 202 54
Other movements - 286 286
Surplus before working capital changes 966 970
Balance as at 31 December 2015 26,035 (2,743) 23,292 Changes in assets/liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in interest and other receivables (218) 140
Total comprehensive income for the year - 550 550 (Decrease)/increase in payables (589) 14
Redemption of units (2,776) - (2,776) Net cash flows provided by operating activities 159 1,124
Distribution to Unitholders - (225) (225) Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments (6,395) (10,216)
Balance as at 31 December 2016 23,259 (2:418) 20,841 Proceeds from maturity/sale of investments 10,342 6,858
Net cash flows provided by/(used in) investing activities 3,947 (3,358)

Cash flows from financing activities

Redemption of units (2,776) (2,665)
Distribution to Unitholders (225) (275)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (3,001) (2,940)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,105 (5,174)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,353 6,527
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 2,458 1,353

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Supplemental information:

Interest received 1,110 839
Distributions paid 254 282

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 56



ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)

Description of the Fund

The following brief description of the ANSA US$ Secured Fund (the ‘Fund’) is provided for
general information purposes only. Reference should be made to the Trust Deed and Prospectus of
the Fund for more complete information.

General

The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund registered in Trinidad & Tobago, established by ANSA
Merchant Bank Limited (the ‘Bank’ or ‘Fund Manager’) under a Trust Deed dated 1 September
2007. The Bank is the Sponsor, Investment Manager, Administrator and Distributor of the Fund.

The principal activity of the Fund is to provide investors having similar investment objectives the
opportunity to access professional investment management in achieving maximum income returns,
minimisation of risk and reasonable safety of capital.

It is the objective of the Fund to maintain a price of US$200.00 per Unit.

The Fund's capital is made up of two classes of Units. Class A Units which will be issued to
investors pursuant to the terms of the Prospectus and the Trust Deed and the Class B Units which
will be issued to the Fund Sponsor (ANSA Merchant Bank Limited). The Class B unitholder is not
entitled to receive any dividends and has no rights to the Fund's assets upon termination of the
Fund, save and except for its original investment and any accretion thereto.

The Unitholders of the Fund have the right to vote with respect to certain matters related to the
Fund.

Voting by Class A unitholders takes place at meetings which may be convened annually by the
Trustee or which may be called by the Trustee at the request of a Unitholder or Unitholders holding
not less than 25% of the outstanding units of the Fund.

At Unitholder meetings, Unitholders are entitled, inter alia, to:

0] require the removal of the Trustee and/or approve the appointment of a new Trustee; and

(if)  sanction any modification, alteration or addition to the provisions of the Trust Deed unless
the Trustee and the Sponsor certify in writing that they are of the opinion that the
modification (a) does not materially prejudice the interests of the Unitholders, does not
operate to release the Trustee from any material obligation to the Unitholders and does not
materially increase the amount of expenses chargeable on the assets of the Fund; or (b) is
necessary in order to make possible compliance with any fiscal, statutory of official
requirement; or (c) is made to correct a manifest error.

The Bank has guaranteed 100% return of the principal invested in the Fund (not including
distributions which have been re-invested in units) subject to a minimum period of investment, and
a fixed minimum yield on the units held subject to a defined period of time established at the time
of purchase. All initially invested units in the Fund have met the minimum period of investment for
the principal guarantee and all units are beyond the definite period of time for the fixed minimum
yield and are therefore not subject to the fixed minimum yield.

The Trustee of the Fund is First Caribbean International Banking (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited.

As at 30 June 2009, subscriptions to the Fund were suspended as a result of the prevailing market
conditions. This was carried out in line with the provisions set out in the prospectus.

Significant accounting policies
i) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
financials assets held at fair value of investments through statement of comprehensive
income. The financial statements are presented in United States dollars ($) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB).

Presentation of financial statements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses will not be offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless
required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed
in the accounting policies of the Fund.

i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are
consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Fund’s annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 except for the standards and interpretations noted
below.

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Fund applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments that became
applicable for the 2016 financial year, however there was no impact on the amounts
reported and/or disclosures in the financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than
significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:

. The materiality requirements in 1AS 1;

. That specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCI and the statement
of financial position may be disaggregated;

. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to

financial statements; and

Significant accounting policies (continued)
ii) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016 (continued)

. That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals
are presented in the statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and
OCI. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments had no impact on the Fund.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - Published September 2014

Certain limited amendments, which primarily consist of clarifications to existing guidance,
were made to the following standards and are not expected to have a material impact on the
financial statements:

. IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’
. IAS 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’

These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
and will be adopted at that time.

Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, are disclosed below.
The Fund intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

. IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ — Effective 1 January 2018.
. IFRS 9, Phase 2 and 3 — Effective 1 January 2018.

The Fund is currently assessing the potential impact of these new standards and
interpretations.

iii)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits and
short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
original maturities of three months or less and subject to insignificant risks of change in
value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts, should they exist, are disclosed separately under ‘liabilities’ on the statement of
financial position.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments
Financial assets
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income and is included in the “interest income”.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost less impairment loss (except for debt investments that are designated
as at fair value through statement of income on initial recognition):

. the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
On initial recognition, the Fund can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-

by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI.
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.
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ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of resale in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Fund manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument
or a financial guarantee.

Investments in equity instruments at F\VOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to statement of income on disposal of the investments.

The Fund does not have any equity instruments that are carried at FVOCI on initial
application of IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments .

Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI)

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVSI, unless the Fund
designates an investment that is not held for trading as at FVOCI on initial
recognition.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured at FVSI.
In addition, debt instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria but are designated
as at FVSI are measured at FVSI. A debt instrument may be designated as at FVSI
upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Fund
has not designated any debt instrument as at FVSI.

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVSI when the business
model is changed such that the amortised cost criteria are no longer met.
Reclassification of debt instruments that are designated as at FVSI on initial
recognition is not allowed.

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI) (continued)

Financial assets at FVSI are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognised in statement
of income. The net gains or losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income is included in the ‘investment income’ line item (Note 8).

Interest income on debt instruments as at FVSI is included in the net gain or loss
described above. Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVSI is
recognised in statement of income when the Fund’s right to receive the dividends is
established in accordance with IAS 18 - Revenue and is included in the net gain or
loss described above.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting
period. The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair value gain or loss.

Therefore,

. for financial assets that are classified as at FVSI, the foreign exchange
component is recognised in statement of comprehensive income; and

. for financial assets that are designated as at FVOCI, any foreign exchange
component is recognised in other comprehensive income.

. for foreign currency denominated debt instruments measured at amortised

cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the financial assets and
are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the statement of
comprehensive income.

5
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv)  Financial instruments (continued) iv)  Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued) Financial assets (continued)
b. Impairment of financial assets c. Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
The Fu_nd assesses at each reportm_g dat_e whethe_r t_here Is any O_bJeC“_Ve evidence . the Fund has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a asset. or
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if and only if, there is objective '
?Y|Qence of Impalrment as aresult pf one or‘more even}s that has occurred after the . the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an
. . " - rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor or a group of entered _|nt0 a pass-throt_]gh arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained
. S . N e . X substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in . X s S X
; - - N asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Fund’s continuing involvement in
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or . - .
X . D . " the asset. In that case, the fund also recognises an associated liability. The
other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a . - .
X . . transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears . - !
N o . rights and obligations that the fund has retained.
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
i o . i i i Financial liabilities
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit
losses (ECLs) that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s original Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of at fair value through the statement of comprehensive income, loans and borrowings,
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss as or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge as
credit loss expense. appropriate. The Fund determines the classification of its financial liabilities at
initial recognition.
Impaired debts, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is
no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans
been transferred to the Fund. If a previous write-off s later recovered, the recovery and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs. The Fund’s financial
is credited to the credit loss expense. liabilities include fees payable, distributions payable, amounts due to related parties
Interest revenue on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest and other payeblce
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment . . .
Joss. b. Derecognition of financial liabilities
c Derecognition of financial assets A financial liability is derecognlsed when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group Y o
of similar financial assets) is derecognised where the rights to receive cash flows When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
from the asset have expired, or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in m?d_'f'edv' SU'C'h an exchange or '”?Od'f'ca"on Is _tre?t_ed asa derec_ognlsmg ‘f‘f the
full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through arrangement and original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
either: respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
7
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ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
) Fair valuation of financial instruments V) Fair valuation of financial instruments (continued)
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy
date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price o il . i .
for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
costs at the close of business at the end of the reporting period for listed instruments. financial instruments by valuation techniques:
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using Level1
appropriate internal valuation techniques. These pricing models consider, among other . . . . )
factors, contractual and market prices, correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield anlu?ed n tt:e Lel\)lle?lhl ;ategtter are flnapcml ass;tf tza;are nje|a§urted n v:hole or Idn gart
curve volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The use of Y rte ;r_ence 0 F;u she kthques lntaz active marke ld'l mar:;na |n|s rlumen .;Sbng?r ed as
different pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of quoted in an active mar e_ T quote prlce§ _are rea _'y and regularly available from an
fair values. exchange, dealer, broker, industry fund, pricing service or regulatory agency and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
The estimated fair values of certain financial instruments have been determined using
available market information or other appropriate valuation methodologies that require Level 2
judgement in interpreting market data and developing estimates. . . . . .
Judg preting ping Included in the Level 2 category are financial assets that are measured using a valuation
G " fimat de do not iy reflect th s that the Fund d technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current
OT.SeqL.Jen v €s 'Ta es ;nta N r? nof nf:r%essan Y ;Ed'ef(f: etamoun st @ Z/ und_f\?/ou " market transactions and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices
;:Ztﬁfdé?ai::;? hr;\: aemZ;(:l'i:Ir]eg;ect oen L:;s fiirvlalszlsgsrs:tr:g lons and/or ditteren have not been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets with fair
9 Y ’ values based on broker quotes, investments in private equity funds with fair values obtained
Short-term financial assets and liabilities via fund managers and assets that are valued using the Fund’s own models whereby the
majority of assumptions are market observable.
The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash
equivalents, interest and other receivables, management fees payable, distributions payable, Level 3
trustee fees payable, and other payables are a reasonable estimate of their fair values
because of the short maturity of these instruments. Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets that are not quoted as there are no
active markets to determine a price for those assets.
Investment securities
The fair value of trading investments is based on market quotations, when available. When vi) Revenue recognition
marke_t quotathns are not readily av:allable, f_alr_ vaI‘ues are based on discounted cash flows Investment income
or estimated using quoted market prices of similar investments. In the absence of a market
value, discounted cash flows will approximate fair value. This process relies on available Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues,
market data to generate a yield curve for each country in which valuations were undertaken, taking into account the effective yield of the asset or an applicable floating rate. Interest
using interpolated results where there were no market observable rates. income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium on the constant yield basis.
. . - . . . Investment income also includes dividends and any fair value changes.
In pricing callable bonds, where information is available, the price of a callable bond is v g
dgte;mlnid a; a thgﬁ." dtgte usflqgtthe Ileld “Jt"‘(“rs" Fo:'botr?ds Wlthblrlrlegular cash fiows Interest income is accrued until the investment becomes contractually three months in
(sinking unds, capitatisation of Interest, moratoria, amortisations or bafioon paymenAs) a arrears at which time the interest is suspended and then accounted for on a cash basis until
process of iteration using the Internal Rate of Return is used to arrive at bond values. Yields . .
L . the investment is brought up to date.
on all tax-free bonds are grossed-up to correspond to similar taxable bonds at the prevailing
rate of corporation tax. - . . . . . . .
P Dividend income is recognized when the Fund's right to receive payment is established.
9 10
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Vi) Revenue recognition (continued) xiii)  Unitholders' Capital
Other income and expenditure Classification of redeemable shares
Other income and expenditure are brought into account on the accruals basis. Redeemable shares are classified as equity instruments when:
vii)  Subscriptions and redemptions . The redeemable shares entitle the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets
. . i . in the event of the Fund’s liquidation.
Subscnp_nons and redemptions are accognted for on the _accruals basis. S_ubscr{pnons and . The redeemable shares do not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or
redemptlons to th}eFund are made by investors at a price $200 per 4“”"' Units may be another financial asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the Fund’s
subscribed at a minimum initial value of $5,000 and thereafter, the minimum amount of an net assets
additional investment is $500 in value, except in the instance of reinvestment of h | d cash fl ibutabl he red ble sh he lif
distributions. There are no limits as to the number of units that can be redeemed at any one ° The _tota expected cash flows atri _uta e to the re eemap'e shares over the e of
time the instrument are based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the
’ recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and
viii)  Expenses unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument.
Fees are recognised on an accrual basis. Refer to Note 9 for management, administration In addition to the redeemable shares having all of the above features, the Fund must have
and distribution fees. Audit fees are included within other expenses. no other financial instrument or contract that has:
ix)  Distributions to Unitholders o Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the
istributi ithold ised when th ified by th d recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and
D|§tr| utions to Unitholders are recognised when they are ratified by the Trustees and are unrecognised net assets of the Fund.
paid out quarterly. A . - .
. The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual return to the redeemable
X) Taxation unitholders.
With respect to dividends which are derived locally no income tax is payable by the The issuance, acquisition and cancellation of redeemable shares are accounted for as equity
residents of Trinidad and Tobago. transactions.
Xi) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the Fund’s financial statements are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Fund’s
functional and presentation currency.
xii)  Foreign currency transactions
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in United
States dollars at rates of exchange ruling on 31 December. All revenue and expenditure
transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at mid-exchange rates and the
resulting profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities are dealt with in the
statement of comprehensive income.
11 12
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ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates 4. Cash and cash equivalents 2016 2015
The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, Cash at bank 114 1.235
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements Short term funds 2344 118
and disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 2,458 1,353

of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits

are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate

Other disclosures relating to the Fund’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: cash requirements of the Fund, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
. Financial instruments risk management (Note 11)
. Fund management (Note 14) 5. Investment securities 2016 2015
i) Judgement Investment securities designated at fair value through
statement of income - 3,310
In the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies, management has made the Investment securities measured at amortised cost 17,881 18,886
following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements: Total investment securities 17,881 22,196

Impairment of financial assets
Investment securities designated at fair value through

Management makes judgements to determine whether financial assets are impaired when .
statement of income

the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of
impairment. The recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Equity securities _ 3310

ii Estimates and assumptions - .
) P Investment securities measured at amortised cost

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty

. S . X _ " Government securities 743 292

at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the -
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed State owned company securities 5123 4,240
ving yea, Corporate bonds and debentures 12,015 14,354

below. The Fund based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
financial statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions 17,881 18,886
about future developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Fund. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they
oceur.

Valuation of investments

Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the specific instrument, comparisons with
other similar financial instruments, or the use of valuation models. Establishing valuations
where there are no quoted market prices inherently involves the use of judgement and
applying judgement in establishing reserves against indicated valuations for aged positions,
deteriorating economic conditions (including country specific risks), concentrations in
specific industries, types of instruments or currencies, market liquidity, model risk itself
and other factors.

13 14
6. Unitholders' balances 2016 2015 9. Fees
Authorised: The Investment Manager is paid quarterly from the assets of the Fund in the form of management
Unlimited number of units fees, administrator fees and distributor fees, calculated on the basis of the average net asset value
in that quarter pro-rated where necessary on the basis of number of days remaining or elapsed in
Reconciliation of unitholders' balances: the quarter, according to an annual rate not to exceed a cumulative total of 5.50% on the average
. . P t t value of the Fund.
Units outstanding at the beginning of the year 130,176 143,500 netasset vaue ot the Fun
Units redeemed (13,879) (13,324) The Trustee is paid from the assets of the Fund a fee not exceeding an annual rate of 0.15% on the
average net asset value and such fee shall be subject to a minimum annual fee of TT$10,000,
Units outstanding at the end of the year 116,297 130,176 exclusive of VAT.
Guaranteed net asset value per unit 200 200 2016 2015
Management fees 3 853
Trustee fees 36 41
7. Interest and dividend income 2016 2015
39 894
Interest income from investments designated at
fair value through statement of income 2 _ 10.  Fair value of financial instruments
Interest income on impaired financial assets - 15 (i)  Carrying amounts and fair values
Interest -lncome from financial assets measured at The table below show the carrying amounts and fair values as at 31 December.
amortised cost 842 907 ) . .
Dividend income _ 6 Carrying Fair  Unrecognised
2016 values values gain
844 928 Financial assets
Cash and short-term funds 2,458 2,458 -
8. Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains 2016 2015 Investment securities St 18,074 £es
. L Interest and other receivables 575 575 -
on investment securities
. . o Total financial assets 20,914 21,107 193
Realised losses on sale of investment securities (202) (54) ' R
Unrealised gains on investments held at Financial liabilities
year end designated fair value through statement of income - 72 Management fees payable 3 3 -
Trustee fees payable 9 9 -
(202) 18 Distributions payable 56 56 -
Other payables 5 5 -
Total financial liabilities 73 73 -
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
() Carrying amounts and fair values (continued) (ii)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies
Carrying Fair  Unrecognised 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2015 values values loss

Investment securities designated
Financial assets

Cash and short-term funds 1,353 1,353 - atkvsl

Investment securities 22,196 20,930 (1,266) Equity securities - - - -
Interest and other receivables 405 405 -

Total financial assets 23,954 22,688 (1,266)

Investment securities designated

Financial liabilities at amortised cost for which

Management fees payable 568 568 - fair values are disclosed
Trustee fees payable 10 10 - L.
Distributions payable 66 66 B Government securities 3 749 - - 749
Other payables 18 18 ~ State owned company securities 4,944 - - 4,944
Corporate bonds and debentures 9,751 841 1,789 12,381
Total financial liabilities 662 662 -
15,444 841 1,789 18,074
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investment securities designated
at FVSI
Equity securities - 3,310 - 3,310
- 3,310 - 3,310
17 18
10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(ii)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued) (iv)  Movements in Level 3 financial instruments
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 2016 2015
Assets
Investment securities designated Balance at 1 January 1,000 2,836
at amortised cost for which Losses recognised - (332)
fair values are disclosed Purchases 2,000 1,000
Government securities 307 _ _ 307 Tr_ansfers into / (from) Level 3 289 (1,504)
State owned company securities 3,823 - - 3,823 Disposals (1,500 (1,000)
Corporate bonds and debentures 10,099 2,391 1,000 13,490 1,789 1,000
14,229 2,391 1,000 17,620

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

Significant Range
Valuation unobservable  (weighted Sensitivity of the
technique inputs average) input to fair value
Unquoted Discounted Rate of 5.7% to 2% increase/(decrease) in
securities cashflows return 10.65% the rate of return would
result in decrease/(increase)
in fair value by $76/($76)

(iii) ~ Transfers between Level 1 and 2

For the year ended 31 December 2015 government securities valued at $1.0 million were
reclassified from level 2 to level 1. There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

20

11.  Risk management

Introduction

Risk is inherent in the Fund’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls.

This process of risk management is critical to the Fund’s continuing profitability. It is exposed to
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

Role of the Trustee

The Trustee is the custodian of the Fund and their responsibility is that of safeguarding Unitholders’
interests. The Trustee approves all distribution of income from the Fund and ensures that the Fund is
externally audited every year. They also ensure that all provisions within the prospectus are followed
by the Investment Manager and all regulatory requirements are fulfilled.
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ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

11.  Risk management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
Risk management structure Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
The Bank which acts as the Fund Sponsor, Distributor, Administrator and Investment Manager, is enhancements
ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Bank is also responsible for the I . . . .
M P ying _g . . L P . Significant changes in the economy, or in the state of a particular industry segment that represents a
overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies, principles, policies and S N . . . X
’ L . ’ . concentration in the Fund’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided at
procedures. Day to day adherence to risk principles is carried out by the executive management of the ) . " -
- : . L . the statement of financial position date. Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
Bank in compliance with the policies approved by the Board of Directors. credit risk
The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk which represents a worst case
Treasury management . o . ; )
scenario of credit risk exposure, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
The Fund employs the Treasury function of the Bank, which is responsible for managing the Fund’s enhancements. The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk
assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure. The Treasury function is also primarily of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and
responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Fund. valuation parameters.
Concentrations of risk Gross maximum exposure
Concentrations arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities, or 2016 2015
activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to Cash and cash equivalent 2 458 1353
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other ash and cas eq_u_lva ents ’ '
conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s results to developments Investment securities _ 17,881 18,886
affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Fund’s Interest and other receivables 575 405
procedures include specific monitoring control to focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio.
20,914 20,644
Market risk Cash and cash equivalents
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate These funds are placed with highly rated local banks. Management therefore considers the risk of
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprise credit risk, interest rate risk, currency risk default of these counterparties to be low.
and equity price risk each of which are considered below and include, where relevant, the sensitivity
of the Fund’s financial result on movements in certain market risk variables. Credit quality
Investment debt securities
Credit risk management . . . - . . .
The credit quality of investment securities has been analysed into the following categories:
Credit risk to the Fund is the potential that a counterparty will fail to meet its stated obligations in
accordance with agreed terms. It is the Fund’s policy to enter into financial arrangements with a High grade  These include Regional Sovereign Debt Securities issued directly or through state
variety of creditworthy counterparties and monitor the size of the exposure to any one issuer and the intermediary body where there has been no history of default.
duration of the investment. The Fund’s exposure to credit risk largely arises from its investments
securities portfolio. The Bank, in its capacity as Investment Manager, is responsible for identifying
and controlling credit risk.
21 22
11.  Risk management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
Credit quality (continued) Interest rate risk (continued)
Investment debt securities (continued) The Fund takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
. L . rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such
Standard These securities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the terms and . g Y - -
. . . o i, changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Bank, in its
conditions of the underlying agreements. Also included in this category are securities g . . . -
issued by subsidiaries within the ANSA MCAL Groun of companies capacity as Investment Manager, sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that
Y P P . may be undertaken, which is monitored daily by the Bank’s Treasury department.
Sub-standard These securities are greater than 90 days in arrears display indicators of impairment or
have been restructured in the past financial year. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with
Impaired These securities are non-performing. all other variables held constant, on the Fund’s statement of comprehensive income.
Hich The sensitivity of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on income for one
' year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31
grade  Standard Total
December.
2016 5.867 12,014 17.881 Change in basis points Sensitivity of income
2015 3,530 15,356 18,886 2016 2015
There were no investment debt securities classified as sub-standard or impaired for the year ended 31 X0 B oy
December 2016 and 31 December 2015. 7100 - 10
Currency risk Liquidity risk
As at 31 December 2016, all of the Fund’s assets and liabilities are denominated in United States Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will be unable to liquidate positions to satisfy commitments to
dollars and therefore the Fund has no exposure to foreign currency risk. Unitholders for redemptions due to market conditions. This is managed by maintaining an adequate
position in assets with maturities of less than one year.
Interest rate risk
The table analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into the relevant maturity funding based on the
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows remaining period as at 31 December to the contractual maturity date.
or the fair values of financial instruments. The Fund manages its interest rate exposure by investing in
fixed and variable rate instruments. Uptoone  Over one
. . . . - . year year Total
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 2016
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Financial liabilities
Management fee payable 3 - 3
Distributions payable 9 - 9
Trustee fees payable 56 - 56
Other payables 5! - 5
Total financial liabilities 73 — 73
23 24
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ANSA US$ SECURED FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

11.  Risk management (continued) 12.  Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities
Liquidity risk (continued) The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or
settled based on contractual undiscounted cashflows.
Uptoone  Overone
year year Total 2016 2015
2015 Less than Over Less than Over
N ; . 12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total
Financial liabilities
Management fee payable 568 - 568 Assets
Distributions payable 66 - 66 )
Cash and cash equivalents 2,458 - 2,458 1,353 - 1,353
Trustee fees payable 10 - 10 Investment securities 1160 16,721 17,881 6,969 15207 22,196
Other payables 18 - 18 Interest receivable 575 575 405 405
Total financial liabilities 662 _ 662 Total assets 4,193 16,721 20,914 8,727 15,227 23,954
Equity price risk Liabilities
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will decrease as a result of decreases in
R P . . . . . Management fees payable 3 - 3 568 - 568
equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises Trustee fees payable ° 7 9 10 B 10
from the Fund’s investment portfolio. The effect on equity due to a reasonably possible change in Distributions payable 56 _ 56 66 _ 66
equity indices is considered below: Other payables 5 - 5 18 - 18
Market indices Change in equity price Effect on income Total liabilities 73 - 73 662 - 662
% 2016 2015
+/- +1/-
S&P 500 +/- 8% - 265
25 26
13.  Related party transactions and balances 14.  Fund management
Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant When managing capital, which is represented by Unitholders' balances, the objectives of the Fund
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related party Manager are:
transactions are carried out on commercial terms and at market rates. The related assets, . . . ,
liabilities, income and expenses from these transactions are as follows: ° To comply with the requirements set out in the Fund’s prospectus and Trust Deed;
. To safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
2016 2015 provide returns for Unitholders; and
Assets . To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Sponsor company - - _ ) o o
Other related parties 840 952 The Fund endeavours to invest the proceeds from the issue of units in appropriate investments
while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemptions where necessary, such liquidity being
840 952 augmented by short term borrowings or disposal of investment securities where necessary.
Liabilities The use of proceeds from the issue of units is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund Manager,
Sponsor company 4 568 based on guidelines set out in the Prospectus and the Trust Deed. The Fund complied with the
Other related parties 2 - requirements set out in the Prospectus and Trust Deed during the reported financial periods and
6 568 no changes were made to the Fund’s objectives, policies and processes from the previous year.
Income
Sponsor company - 6 . . .
. 15. Commitments and contingencies
Other related parties 43 26 9
43 22 The Fund has no capital commitments for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
Expenses As Sponsor, ANSA Merchant Bank Limited will guarantee a 100% return of the principal
Sponsor company 3 853 invested in Units of the Fund by investors subject to a minimum period of investment provided
- - that and so long as ANSA Merchant bank Limited is the Investment Manager.
Distributions
Sponsor company - - 16.  Events after the reporting period
Directors and key management personnel 2 14
Other related parties 7 2 There were no material events after the statement of financial position date of 31 December 2016
which required recording or disclosure in the finanacial statements of the Fund as at 21 March
9 16 2017.
Unitholders' balances
Sponsor company 1,000 1,000
Directors and key management personnel 157 147
Other related parties 692 692
1,849 1,839
27 28
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FUND FACTS

TS The Investment Objective of the fund is to seek to generate investment returns

INCOME which are superior to all TT$ income mutual funds registered in Trinidad and
FUND Tobago, while providing for acceptable levels of liquidity and credit risk.

ANSA TT$ Income Fund: Top 10 Holdings - Dec 31 2016 % of Portfolio
WASA ZERO COUPON BOND DUE 2023

GUARDIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED 7.975% DUE 2023
BARCLAYS 6.05% FRB DUE 2017

BANK OF AMERICA 5.42% FRB DUE 2017

CLICO INVESTMENT FUND

GUARDIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED 4.25% FRB DUE 2019
TTMF 4.62% FIXED RATE MTG BACKED SECURITY
GORTT CLICO ZERO-COUPON BOND DUE 2017
PETROTRIN 6.0% FREB DUE 2022

HDC TTD1.2BN 3.75% FIXED RATE LOAN DUE 2021

Cumulative Returns as at December 31 2016

12 Month
3 Year

Since Inception

Historical Performance

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Asset Mix - Dec 31 2016

B Corporate Bonds

B state-Owned Companies Bonds
B Cash & Deposits

B Local Government Bonds

B Equities

. Structured Products

ensg @

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED i

This information does not form part of the audited financial statements,
on which the auditors have opined.



Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of ANSA TTS Income Fund (“the Fund”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and

the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in unitholders’

capital and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Trustees for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ANSA TTS INCOME FUND

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

—'-E'wh!réa»\zf

Port of Spain,
TRINIDAD:
21 March 2017
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ANSATTS INCOME FUND ANSA TTS INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) (Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

Notes 2016 2015 Notes 2016 2015

Assets

Income
Cash and cash equivalents 4 35,951 42,126 d dividend i 3 21223
s 4,504 3,601 :\T;f"fi]s:e?nn e>l<\(l:lhaenn eltr:;ﬁg:tion and other gains ! 1;'333 1’368
Investment securities 5 327,073 439,408 9 9 g : :

Total income 25,496 22,591
Total assets 365,628 485,135

Expenses

Liabilities

X Net realised and unrealised losses on investment
Management fees payable 1,814 5,698

o ) . securities 8 (10,048) (20,259)
III"US‘_?E tlees payable 138 191 Management fees 9 (5,149) (5,698)
Distributions payable 415 722 Trustee fees 9 (611) (804)
Other liabilities - 75 129 Impairment writeback/(expense) 41 (174)

Other expenses (481) (324)
Total liabilities 2,442 6,740

Total expenses (16,248) (27,259)
Net assets 363,186 478,395

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 9,248 (4,668)

Unitholders' capital

Unitholders' balance at par 6 346,761 459474
Retained fund surplus 16,425 18,921
363,186 478,395

The financial statements were approved by the Trustee and authorised for issue on 21 March 2017 and

signed on their behalf by: / /'5
t | — Jﬂ : Trustee
13
G duscod.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

: Trustee

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

ANSATTS INCOME FUND ANSATTS INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars) (Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
Unitholders’ Retained fund Notes 2016 2015
Note balances at par surplus Total
Cash flows from operating activities
Balance as at 1 January 2015 530,787 37,120 567,907 Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 9,248 (4,668)
i Adjustments:
Issue of "fmts . 6 53,455 - 53,455 Interest capitalised (2,358) (3,095)
Rt.ede.mpt!on of unl.ts 6 (128,979) - (128,979) (Writeback)/provision for impairment (41) 174
Distribution to Unitholders - (9,320) (9,320) Amortisation on investment securities 128 0
Unitholders' transfer of gains 6 4,211 (4,211) - Unrealised losses on investment securities 8 4,785 22,021
Total comprehensive loss for the year — (4,668) (4,668) Losses/(gains) on sale of investment securities 8 5,263 (1,762)
Foreign exchange gains (5,918) (1,169)
Balance as at 31 December 2015 459,474 18,921 478,395 Surplus before working capital changes 11,107 11,500
Issue of units 6 15,381 - 15,381 Clleanges 'n/a_ssetS/l'ab!I't_'etS: " ivabl 1038 676
o cmwp o ome o et W
Distribution to Unitholders (7,036) (7,036) pay :
Unitholders' transfer of losses 6 4,708 (4,708) _ Net cash flows provided by operating activities 7,847 11,559
Total comprehensive income for the year - 9,248 9,248 Cash flows from investing activities
Balance as at 31 December 2016 346,761 16,425 363,186 Purchesgfof investments (141,765)  (133,695)
Proceeds from maturity/sale of investments 252,200 183,369
Net cash flows provided by investing activities 110,435 49,674

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of units 6 15,381 53,455
Redemption of units 6 (132,802) (128,979)
Distribution to Unitholders (7,036) (9,320)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (124,457) (84,844)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,175) (23,611)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 42,126 65,737
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 35,951 42,126

Supplemental information:

Interest and dividend received 16,353 17,233

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
panying gralp Distributions paid 7,036 9,480

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ANSATTS INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

1. Description of the Fund

The following brief description of the ANSA TT$ Income Fund (the ‘Fund’) is provided for general
information purposes only. Reference should be made to the Trust Deed and Prospectus of the Fund
for more complete information.

General

The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund registered in Trinidad & Tobago, and established by ANSA
Merchant Bank Limited (the ‘Bank’ or ‘Fund Manager’) under a Trust Deed dated 23 November
2010. The Bank whose registered address is 11C Maraval Road, Port Of Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, is
the Sponsor, Investment Manager, Administrator and Distributor of the Fund.

The principal activity of the Fund is to provide investors having similar investment objectives the
opportunity to access professional investment management in achieving maximum income returns,
minimisation of risk and reasonable safety of capital.

The Fund may invest in securities and contracts, including sovereign debt, issued in countries other
than Trinidad and Tobago, which are expected to provide high income yield and not expected to cause
deterioration in capital values.

The Fund's capital is made up of two classes of Units. Class A Units which are issued to investors
pursuant to the terms of the Prospectus and the Trust Deed and Class B Units which were issued to the
Fund Sponsor (ANSA Merchant Bank Limited).

The Class B Unitholder is not entitled to receive any dividends and has no rights to the Fund's assets
upon termination of the Fund, save and except for its original investment and any accretion thereto.

The Unitholders of the Fund have the right to vote with respect to certain matters related to the Fund.
Voting by Class A unitholders takes place at meetings which may be convened annually by the Trustee
or which may be called by the Trustee at the request of the Class B Unitholder or a Unitholder(s)
holding not less than 25% of the outstanding units of the Fund.

At Unitholder meetings, Unitholders are entitled, inter alia, to:

(i) require the removal of the Trustee and/or approve the appointment of a new Trustee; and

(i)  sanction any modification, alteration or addition to the provisions of the Trust Deed unless the
Trustee and the Sponsor certify in writing that they are of the opinion that the modification (a)
does not materially prejudice the interests of the Unitholders, does not operate to release the
Trustee from any material obligation to the Unitholders and does not materially increase the
amount of expenses chargeable on the assets of the Fund; or (b) is necessary in order to make
possible compliance with any fiscal, statutory of official requirement; or (c) is made to correct a
manifest error.

The Trustee of the Fund is First Citizens Trustee Services Limited.

2. Significant accounting policies

i

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the fair
value measurement of trading investment securities and other financial assets not held in a
business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or whose
contractual terms do not give rise solely to payments of principal and interest.

The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars (TT$) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB).

Presentation of financial statements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement
of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses will not be offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless
required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in
the accounting policies of the Fund.

1 2
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
ii) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - Published September 2014, effective 1
with those followed in the preparation of the Fund’s annual financial statements for the year January 2016
ended 31 December 2015 except for the standards and interpretations noted below.
Certain limited amendments, which primarily consist of clarifications to existing guidance,
were made to the following standards and are not expected to have a material impact on the
New and amended standards and interpretations financial statements:
The Fund applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments that became applicable . IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’
for the 2016 financial year, however there was no impact on the amounts reported and/or . IAS 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’
disclosures in the financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016 Standards issued but not yet effective
The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than significantly The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, are disclosed below.
change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify: The Fund intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.
M The mate'tif'_‘"t)_/ req'“'iren_‘ems inlAS 1; ) . . IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers” — Effective 1 January 2018.
. That specific line items in 1he'staterlnent of profn or Iossland Other Comprehensive 4 IFRS 9, Phase 2 and 3 — Effective 1 January 2018.
Income and the statement of financial position may be disaggregated;
. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial The Fund is currently assessing the potential impact of these new standards and interpretations.
statements; and
. That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are
presented in the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
These amendments had no impact on the Fund.
3 4
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ANSATTS INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits and short-
term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original
maturities of three months or less and subject to insignificant risks of change in value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts,
should they exist, are disclosed separately under ‘liabilities” on the statement of financial
position.

iv) Financial instruments
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’

The Fund early adopted IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments' (Phase 1) (as issued in November
2009), effective 1 January 2018. The Fund chose to apply the exemption given in the
transitional provision for early application of IFRS 9 and hence did not restate comparative
information in the year of initial application.

Financial assets
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost less impairment loss (except for debt investments that are designated as
at fair value through the statement of income on initial recognition):

. the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised separately in the statement
of comprehensive income and is included in ‘interest income".

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

On initial recognition, the Fund can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI.
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of re-sale in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Fund manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a
financial guarantee.

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to the statement of income on disposal of the investments.

The Fund does not have any equity instruments that are carried at FVOCI on initial
application of IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments .

Financial assets at fair value through the statement of income (FVSI)

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVSI, unless the Fund designates
an investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) on initial recognition.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured at FVSI. In
addition, debt instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria but are designated as at
FVSI are measured at FVSI. A debt instrument may be designated as at FVSI upon
initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Fund has not
designated any debt instrument as at FVSI.

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through the statement of income (FVSI) (continued)

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVSI when the business model
is changed such that the amortised cost criteria are no longer met. Reclassification of
debt instruments that are designated as at FVSI on initial recognition is not allowed.

Financial assets at FVSI are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. The net gain or loss recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income is included in the ‘investment income’ line item.

Interest income on debt instruments as at FVSI is included in the net gain or loss

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVSI is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income when the Fund’s right to receive the dividends is
established in accordance with IAS 18-Revenue and is included in the net gain or loss
described above.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair value gain or loss.

Therefore,

. for financial assets that are classified as at FVSI, the foreign exchange
component is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income; and

. for financial assets that are designated as at FVOCI, any foreign exchange
component is recognised in other comprehensive income.

. for foreign currency denominated debt instruments measured at amortised cost at

the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are
determined based on the amortised cost of the financial assets and are recognised
in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the statement of comprehensive
income.
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

b. Impairment of financial assets

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses
(ECLs) that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss as credit
loss expense.

Impaired debts, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Fund. If a previous write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited
to the credit loss expense.

10

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
b. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Interest revenue on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

c. Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of
similar financial assets) is derecognised where the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired, or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a pass-through arrangement and either:

. the Fund has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, or

. the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Fund’s continuing involvement in the asset.
In that case, the fund also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the fund has retained.

9
2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through the statement of comprehensive income, loans and borrowings, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge as appropriate. The
Fund determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and
borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.
The Fund’s financial liabilities include fees payable, distributions payable amounts due
to related parties and other payables.

b. Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognising of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

11

2.

12

v)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Fair valuation of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is
determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long
positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs at the
close of business at the end of the reporting period for listed instruments.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using
appropriate internal valuation techniques. These pricing models consider, among other factors,
contractual and market prices, correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield curve
volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The use of different
pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of fair values.

The estimated fair values of certain financial instruments have been determined using available
market information or other appropriate valuation methodologies that require judgement in
interpreting market data and developing estimates.

Consequently, estimates made do not necessarily reflect the amounts that the Fund would
realise in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or different
methodologies may have a material effect on the fair values estimated.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash
equivalents, interest and other receivables, management fees payable, distributions payable,
trustee fees payable, and other payables are a reasonable estimate of their fair values because of
the short maturity of these instruments.

Investment securities

The fair value of trading investments is based on market quotations, when available. When
market quotations are not readily available, fair values are based on discounted cash flows or
estimated using quoted market prices of similar investments. In the absence of a market value,
discounted cash flows will approximate fair value. This process relies on available market data
to generate a yield curve for each country in which valuations were undertaken, using
interpolated results where there were no market observable rates.

In pricing callable bonds, where information is available, the price of a callable bond is
determined as at the call date using the Yield to Worst. For bonds with irregular cash flows
(sinking funds, capitalisation of interest, moratoria, amortisations or balloon payments) a
process of iteration employing the Internal Rate of Return is used to arrive at bond values.
Yields on all tax-free bonds are grossed-up to correspond to similar taxable bonds at the
prevailina rate of corporation tax.
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ANSATTS INCOME FUND
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
V) Fair valuation of financial instruments (continued) vi) Revenue recognition (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies Investment income
The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, taking
instruments by valuation techniques: into account the effective yield of the asset or an applicable floating rate. Interest income
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium on the constant yield basis. Investment
Level1 income also includes dividends and any fair value changes.
:re]:elfedrfcde Itr:) thjbll_igxgli 1 Lfstteesg?r:yairzc::zn;I:rlkzisisﬁt::;;rael ?r]mgfrsuur;e(itl ?sv;/:oallf dz; ':5 pir:)tgi Interest income is accrued until the investment becomes contractually three months in arrears at
in an activepmarket ifq Loted prices are readil. and reqularly available frogm an excﬂan N which time the interest is suspended and then accounted for on a cash basis until the investment
. d pri . Y gularly . 9e, is brought up to date.
dealer, broker, industry fund, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right to receive payment is established.
Other income and expenditure
Level 2
Other income and expenditure are brought into account on the accruals basis.
Included in the Level 2 category are financial assets that are measured using a valuation
technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current market vii)  Subscriptions and redemptions
transactions and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices have not - .
been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets with fair values based on Sut@cnpt(ljons apd redimztlonsfarﬁ acc';)unt‘ed' for at tze NeF Asset'VaIues bcalcu;ateqbo; the
broker quotes, investments in private equity funds with fair values obtained via fund managers usIness day prior to the date of the subscription or re emp.tlo_n. Units may be subscri e ‘at a
and assets that are valued using the Fund’s own models whereby the majority of assumptions minimum '_”'“al valge of $25,000 e}nd th_ereafter, the _minimum amo.unt Of_ an additional
are market observable. investment is $5,000 in value, except in the instance of reinvestment of distributions. There are
no limits as to the number of units that can be redeemed at any one time.
Level 3
Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets that are not quoted as there are no active
markets to determine a price for those assets.
vi)  Revenue recognition
Revenue is considered to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the
Fund and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment was made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding
discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes. The following specific recognition criteria must also
be met before revenue is recognised.
13 14
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
viii)  Expenses xiii)  Unitholders' Capital
Fees are recognised on an accrual basis. Refer to Note 9 for management, administration and Unitholders’ subscriptions and redemptions measured at par value are recognised in the
trustee fees. Audit fees are included within other expenses. ‘Unitholders’ balance’ line in the statement of financial position. The differences between the
net asset value (NAV) of the Fund and its par value is recorded in ‘retained earnings’.
ix) Distributions to Unitholders
Distributions to Unitholders are recognised when they are ratified by the Trustees and are paid Classification of redeemable shares
out quarterly.
%) Taxation Redeemable shares are classified as equity instruments when:
- - . . . . . The redeemable shares entitle the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in
With respect to dividends which are derived locally no income tax is payable by residents of ¢ . S P unds
Trinidad and Tobago the event of the Fund’s liquidation.
’ . The redeemable shares do not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or
Xi) Functional & presentation currency another financial asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net
assets.
Tfhet:und_s functional currency Is the Trtln_ldad ﬁr)th.(ibago dzt)llar _(I_-I;]TD}Z‘ V\il;,mh 'Sr;he currency . The total expected cash flows attributable to the redeemable shares over the life of the
gvaluZtezn;Egyit:cﬁgﬁ?;:gy ei:\l:;:?:: d I': ¥VT|I3C Tlhe‘r)epf(:rzesthe TeTDu;; csor:)sei d:rremdar;geﬂ:: instrument are based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net
- - ' . . assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of
currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, the Fund over the ﬁfe of the instrument 9 g
events and conditions. The Fund's presentation currency is also the TTD. '
In addition to the redeemable shares having all of the above features, the Fund must have no
other financial instrument or contract that has:
xii)  Foreign currency transactions
. . . . . L . Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised
1"_”0%”:;3”(’1;5'5;25 ::[:;:::I:;;Iii(gﬁzggnf:ﬁzg;nofr?rgllgnDZL:::fnnbcéfs Zrﬁ i:s;sus:dalrmnd-rer::;::giz:g net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets
: of the Fund.
transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at mid-exchange rates and the The effect of substantiall icti fixing th idual return to the red bl
resulting profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities are dealt with in the N iheldec or supstaptiypesiricling oigiXingpeaesidual retur Togegiesestnanle
statement of comprehensive income. unitholders.
The issuance, acquisition and cancellation of redeemable shares are accounted for as equity
transactions.
15 16
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FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates 4. Cash and cash equivalents 2016 2015
The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, Cash at bank 10,511 19,821
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements and Short term funds 25,440 22,305
disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 35.951 42126
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or
liability affected in future periods. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits
Other disclosures relating to the Fund’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: are made_for varying periods of bEtwee.n one day and three _months, depending _on the immediate
cash requirements of the Fund, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rate.
. Financial instruments risk management (Note 11)
. Fund management (Note 14)
. 5. Investment securities 2016 2015
i) Judgement
In th £ anplying the Fund’ " lici th de the followi Investment securities designated at fair value through
In the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies, management has made the following statement of income 224,106 352,178
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial . .
statements: Investment securities measured at amortised cost 102,967 87,230
. : . Total investment securities 327,073 439,408
Impairment of financial assets
Management makes judgements to determine whether financial assets are impaired when the Investment securities designated at fair value
carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of through statement of income
impairment. The recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. . .
P P Equity securities 30,618 46,190
Government bonds 24,165 100,651
ii)  Estimates and assumptions State owned company securities 68,218 107,953
Corporate bonds and debentures 101,105 97,384
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 224106 352178
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying - :
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. The Fund
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements | " " iti dat tised cost
were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments nvestment securities measured at amortised cos
e e g yon e oo e o
' State owned 32,461 10,000
Corporate bonds and debentures 62,100 57,864
Valuation of investments
102,967 87,230
Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the specific instrument, comparisons with
other similar financial instruments, or the use of valuation models. Establishing valuations
where there are no quoted market prices inherently involves the use of judgement and applying
judgement in establishing reserves against indicated valuations for aged positions, deteriorating
economic conditions (including country specific risks), concentrations in specific industries,
types of instruments or currencies, market liquidity, model risk itself and other factors.
17 18
6. Unitholders' balances at par 2016 6. Unitholders' balances at par (continued) 2015
Authorised: Units $ Authorised: Units $
Unlimited number of units Unlimited number of units
Reconciliation of unitholders’ balances: Re(:()n('iliali()n‘ of unilh()/cler:\' f-m/am'c.\':
Units outstanding at the beginning of the year 918,917 459,474 Un!ts 9utstand|ng at the beginning of the year S 530,787
o Units issued 101,079 53,455
Units issued 29,345 15,381 Units redeemed (243,736) (128,979)
Units redeemed (254,815) (132,802) Value of units ab issued ad 3inth ’ 4'211
Value of units above par issued and redeemed in the year - 4,708 alue ot units above par ssued and redeemed In the year :
Units outstanding at the end of the year Units outstanding at the end of the year
(value of units at par) 693,447 346,761 (value of units at par) __ 918917 459,474
Unitholders’ earnings above par 18,082 Unitholders’ earnings above par _ 19971
i > balanc 479,445
Unitholders’ balance 364,843 Unitholders’ balance —_—
3 3 Net asset value per unit on unitholders’ balance 521.75
Net asset value per unit on unitholders’ balance 526.13 —_—
Undistributed fund deficit (1,050)
Undistributed fund deficit (1,657)
Total net asset value of fund 478,395
Total net asset value of fund 363,186
Adjusted net asset value per unit __ 52061
Adjusted net asset value per unit 523.74
19 20
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(continued)

7. Interest and dividend income 2016 2015 10.  Fair value of financial instruments
Interest income from investments designated at (i) Carrying amounts and fair values
fair value through statement of income 10,381 16,510 i X i . )
Interest income from financial assets measured at The following te%b_le summalnlsjes thebcarrylng amounts and the fair values of the Fund's
amortised cost 5,360 2,966 investment securities as at 31 December.
Dividend income 1,802 1,747 Carrying Fair Unrecognised
17,543 21,223 2016 values values (loss)/gain
Financial assets
8. Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on investment 2016 2015 Cash and short-term funds 35,951 35,951 _
securities Investment securities 327,073 323,961 (3,112)
. . . . Interest receivable 2,604 2,604 -
Realised (losses)/gains on sale of investment securities (5,263) 1,762
Unrealised losses on investments held at Total financial assets 365,628 362,516 (3,112)
year end designated fair value through statement of income (4,785) (22,021)
Financial liabilities
(10,048) (20,259) Management fee payable 1,814 1,814 -
Trustee fees payable 138 138 -
9. Fees Distribution payable 415 415 -
Other payables 75 75 -
The Investment Manager is paid quarterly from the assets of the Fund in the form of management
fees, administrator fees and distributor fees, calculated on the basis of the average net asset value in Total financial liabilities 2,442 2,442 -
that quarter pro-rated where necessary on the basis of number of days remaining or elapsed in the
quarter, according to an annual rate not to exceed a cumulative total of 4.25% on the average net 2015
asset value of the Fund. Einancial assets
Cash and short-term funds 42,126 42,126 -
The Trustee is paid from the assets of the Fund a fee not exceeding an annual rate of 0.15% on the Investment securities 439,408 435,078 (4,330)
average net asset value and such fee shall be subject to a minimum annual fee of $75,000, exclusive Interest receivable 3,601 3,601 _
of VAT.
Total financial assets 485,135 480,805 (4,330)
2016 2015 . o
Financial liabilities
Management fees 5,149 5,698 Management fee payable 5,698 5,698 -
Trustee fees 611 804 Trustee fees payable 191 191 -
Distribution payable 722 722 -
5,760 6,502 Other payables 129 129 -
Total financial liabilities 6,740 6,740 -
21 22
10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(if)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (iiy  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued)
2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
Investment securities designated o
at FVSI Significant Range
. - Valuation  unobservable (weighted Sensitivity of the
Equity securities 30,618 - - 30,618 technique inputs average) input to fair value
Government bonds 4,805 19,360 - 24,165 q P 9 P
State owned company securities 27,773 40,445 - 68,218 . o o i .
Corporate bonds and debentures 65381 23724 12,000 101105 Unqut.)t.ed Discounted Rate of 5.7% to 2% increase/(decrease) in tihe
securities  cashflows return 10.85% rate of return would result in
128,577 83,529 12,000 224,106 decrease/(increase) in fair
Investment securities designated value by $126/($126)
at amortised cost for which
fair values are disclosed
Government securities _ 7,569 _ 7,569 (iii) ~ Transfers between Level 1 and 2
State owned company securities 3,527 21,510 - 31,037 For the year ended 31 December 2016 there were no transfer of assets between Level 1 and
Corporate bonds and debentures 22,317 18,693 20,238 61,248
Level 2.
25,844 53,772 20,238 99,854
(V) Movements in Level 3 financial instruments
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets 2016 2015
Investment securities designated Balance at 1 January 24 838 53 847
at FVs| : . ' '
. " Gain/(loss) recognised 778 (73)
Equity securities 42,650 3,540 - 46,190 Purchases 26.743 12.695
Government bonds 1,689 98,962 - 100,651 . ' \
State owned company securities 16,121 91,832 - 107,953 Transfers (from)/into level 3 - (12,871)
Corporate bonds and debentures 47,415 37,969 12,000 97,384 Disposals (20,121) (28,760)
107,875 232,303 12,000 352,178
Balance at 31 December 32,238 24,838
Investment securities designated
at amortised cost for which
fair values are disclosed
Government securities - 18,561 - 18,561
State owned company securities - 10,000 - 10,000
Corporate bonds and debentures 23,975 17,526 12,838 54,339
23,975 46,087 12,838 82,900
23 24
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11.  Risk management 11.  Risk management (continued)
Introduction Market risk
L i , o o . Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
R'Sk,',s |qherent in the Fund’s acF|V|t‘|es b“t,'t 1 manageg through a process of ongoing fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprise credit risk, interest rate risk,
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. currency risk and equity price risk each of which are considered below and include, where
This process of risk management is critical to the Fund’s continuing profitability. The Fund is rele_vant, the sensitivity of the Fund’s financial result on movements in certain market risk
exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. variables.
Role of the Trustee Credit risk management
Credit risk to the Fund is the potential that a counterparty will fail to meet its stated obligations in
The Trustee is the custodian of the Fund and their responsibility is that of safeguarding accordance with agreed terms. It is the Fund’s policy to enter into financial arrangements with a
Unitholders’ interests. The Trustee approves all distribution of income from the Fund and ensures variety of creditworthy counterparties and monitor the size of the exposure to any one issuer and
that the Fund is externally audited every year. They also ensure that all provisions within the the duration of the investment. The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the value of its
prospectus are followed by the Investment Manager and all regulatory requirements are fulfilled. investment securities portfolio. The Bank, in its capacity as Investment Manager, is responsible
for identifying and controlling credit risk.
Risk management structure
. o . . Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
The Bank which acts as the Fund Sponsor, Distributor, Administrator and Investment Manager, is enhancements
ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Bank is also responsible for the
overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies, principles, policies and Significant changes in the economy, or in the state of a particular industry segment that represents
procedures. Day to day adherence to risk principles is carried out by the executive management a concentration in the Fund’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those
of the Bank in compliance with the policies approved by the Board of Directors. provided at the statement of financial position date. Management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk.
Treasury management The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit which represents a worst case
The Fund employs the Treasury function of the Bank, which is responsible for managing the scenario of credit risk exposure, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
Fund’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure. The treasury function is also enhancements. The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit
primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Fund. risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of
collateral and valuation parameters.
Concentrations of risk ]
Gross maximum exposure
Concentrations arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities, 2016 2015
or_a_ctivities in the same geogtaphical region,‘or' have economic features that would cause .their Cash and cash equivalents 35,951 42126
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political .
o X A . 7L S Investment securities 296,456 393,218
or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s results to .

. X . X . : . Interest receivable 2,604 3,601
developments affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, _—
the Fund’s procedures include specific monitoring control to focus on the maintenance of a 335,011 438,945
diversified portfolio. -

25 26
11.  Risk management (continued) 11.  RiIsk management (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents Currency risk
These funds are placed with highly rated local banks. Management therefore considers the risk of The Fund takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
default of these counterparties to be very low. exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Bank in its capacity as Investment
Credit quality Manager sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and
intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.
Investment debt securities
. . . . . . X The table below summarises the Fund’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31
The credit quality of investment debt securities has been analysed into the following categories: December, arising primarily from monetary financial assets denominated in US dollars. The Fund
High grade  These comprise of regional sovereign debt securities issued directly or through a had no financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than the reporting currency.
state intermediary body where there has been no history of default. . . . .
The final line of the table, illustrates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the USD
Standard These securities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the terms against the TTD, with all other variables held constant on the statement of comprehensive
and conditions of the underlying agreements. In addition, included in this category income.
are securities issued by related parties and fellow subsidiaries within the ANSA
MCcAL Group of companies. usb usb
2016 2015
Sub-standard These securities are greater than 90 days in arrears display indicators of
impairment or have been restructured in the past financial year. Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 25,440 22,305
Impaired These securities are non-performing. Investment securities 148,338 124,502
High Interest receivables 1,593 1571
2016 grade  Standard Total Net currency risk exposure 75371 148,378
Investment securities designated at Reasonably possible change in currency rate 5% 5%
fair value through statement of income 87,775 105,713 193,488
Investment securities measured at Effect on income for the year 8,769 7,419
amortised cost 40,867 62,101 102,968
Interest rate risk
128,642 167,814 296,456
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash
2015 flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Fund manages its interest rate exposure by
Investment securities designated at investing in fixed and variable rate instruments.
fair value through statement of income 192,641 113,346 305,987
Investment securities measured at
amortised cost 29,366 57,865 87,231
222,007 171,211 393,218
There were no investment debt securities classified as sub-standard or impaired for the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
27 28

73




ANSATTS INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

11.  Risk management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) Liquidity risk (continued)
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will Uptoone  Overone
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that 2016 year year Total
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The ) o
Fund takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest Financial liabilities
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such Management fee payable 1,814 - 1,814
changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Bank, in its Trustee fee payable 138 - 138
capacity as Investment Manager, sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that Distributions payable 415 — 415
may be undertaken, which is monitored daily by the Bank’s Treasury department. Other payables 75 — 75
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, Total financial liabilities 2442 — 2,442
with all other variables held constant, on the Fund’s statement of comprehensive income.
2015
The sensitivity of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on income for one i ial liabiliti
year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 Financial liabilities
December. Management fee payable 5,698 - 5,698
Trustee fee payable 191 - 191
Change in basis points Sensitivity to income Distributions payable 722 - 722
2016 2015 Other payables 129 - 129
+100 45 60 Total financial liabilities 6,740 - 6,740
- 100 (45) (60)
S Equi rice risk
Liquidity risk quity price ris
o . . . . . Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will decrease as a result of decreases in
L|qU|q|ty risk is the risk that the Funq will be unable to “q.u.'date p0§|t{ons o satisfy equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure
commitments to Unitholders for redemptions due to market conditions. This is managed by . , . . . .
N Lo . L arises from the Fund’s investment portfolio. The effect on equity due to a reasonably possible
maintaining an adequate position in assets with maturities of less than one year. - IR
change in equity indices is as follows:
The t_at?le anal_yses the Fund’s financial liabilities into the re_levant maturity funding based on the Market Change in equity Effect on income
remaining period as at 31 December to the contractual maturity date. - .
indices price 2016 2015
+/- +/-
TTSE +/- 3% 786 1,279
S & P 500 +/- 8% 355 283
29 30
12.  Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 12.  Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled based
on contractual undiscounted cashflows. 2016 2015
Less than Over Less than Over
2016 2015 12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total
Less than Over Less than Over Liabilities
12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total
Management fees payable 1,814 - 1814 5,698 - 5,698
Assets Trustee fees payable 138 - 138 191 = 191
. Distributions payable 415 - 415 722 - 722
Cash and cash equivalents 35,951 - 35,951 42,126 - 42,126 L
. Other liabilities 75 - 75 129 - 129
Investment securities 91,612 235,461 327,073 110,953 328,455 439,408
Interest receivable 2,604 - 2,604 3,601 - 3,601 Total liabilities 2,442 _ 2,442 6,740 _ 6,740
Total assets 130,167 235,461 365,628 156,680 328,455 485,135
31 32
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ANSATTS INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
(continued)

13.

33

Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related party
transactions are carried out on commercial terms and at market rates. The related party
transactions are as follows:

2016 2015
Assets
Sponsor company 17,210 12,201
Other related parties 5,098 5,501
22,308 17,702
Liabilities
Sponsor company 1,835 5,822
Directors and key management personnel 226 227
2,061 6,049
Income
Sponsor company 502 465
Other related parties 519 149
1,021 614
Expenses
Sponsor company 5,149 5,698
Unitholders' balances
Sponsor company 5,261 5,000
Directors and key management personnel 51,458 49,486
Other related parties 25,284 81,886

82,003 136,372

13.

14.

15.

16.

34

Related party transactions and balances (continued)

2016 2015
Distributions
Directors 897 923
Other related parties 852 1,503
1,749 2,426

Fund management

When managing capital, which is represented by Unitholders' balances, the objectives of the
Fund Manager are:

. To comply with the requirements set out in the Fund’s prospectus and Trust Deed;

. To safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns for unitholders; and

. To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Fund endeavours to invest the proceeds from the issue of units in appropriate investments
while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemptions where necessary, such liquidity being
augmented by short-term borrowings or disposal of investment securities where necessary.

The use of proceeds from the issue of units is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund Manager,
based on guidelines set out in the Prospectus and the Trust Deed. The Fund complied with the
requirements set out in the Prospectus and Trust Deed during the reported financial periods and
no changes were made to the Fund’s objectives, policies and processes from the previous year.

Commitments and contingencies

The Fund has no capital commitments nor any contingencies for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015.

Events after the reporting period

There are no material events after the statement of financial position date of 31 December 2016
which required recording or disclosure in the financial statements of the Fund as at 21 March
2017.
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[E.I'IEE] D FACTS

US $ The Investment Objective of the fund is to seek to generate investment returns
INCOME which are superior to all US$ income mutual funds registered in Trinidad and
FUND Tobago, while providing for acceptable levels of liquidity and credit risk.

ANSA US$ Income Fund: Top 10 Holdings - Dec 31 2016 % of Portfolio

UDECOTT ZERO COUPON BOND DUE 2020 ©10.28%
SOVEREIGN BANK 8.75% FRB DUE 2018 ; 9.38%
RABOBANK 11.0% FLR DUE 2049 ©513%
ICAHN ENTERPRISES 6.00% FRB DUE 2020 ; 4.53%
VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 4.15% FRB DUE 2024 L 452%
BARCLAYS 6.05% FRB DUE 2017 g 4.50%
COMISION FED DE ELECTRICIDAD 4.875% FRB DUE 2021 b 449%
JBS INVESTMENTS 7.75% FRB DUE 2020 L 446%
AEROPUERTO INTERNATIONAL TOCUMEN 5.75% FRB DUE 2023 4.46%
UBS AG 5.125% CONTINGENT CAPITAL FRB DUE 2024 i 4.40%

Cumulative Returns as at December 31 2016

12 month trailing : 2.60%
3 Year Trailing-Cumulative : 3.40%
Return from inception-Cumulative . 10.75%

Historical Performance

2012 L 768%
2013 241%
2014 P 093%
2015 -0.11%
2016 P 260%

Asset Mix - Dec 31 2016

10% B Corporate Bonds

W state-Owned Companies Bonds
Cash & Deposits

Bnsg ®

MERCHANT EANK LIMITED b

This information does not form part of the audited financial statements,
on which the auditors have opined.




Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of ANSA US$ Income Fund (“the Fund”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in unitholders’
capital and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Trustees for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustees are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ANSA USS INCOME FUND

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Ernsk 16906/

Port of Spain,
TRINIDAD:
21 March 2017
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ANSA US$ INCOME FUND ANSA US$ INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars) (Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)

Notes 2016 2015 Notes 2U1b 2015
Assets Income
Cash and cash equivalents 4 1.454 2,090 Interest gnd dividend income_ _ 7 618 902
Interest and other receivables 122 159 Net foreign exchange translation and other gains 8 1
Invest itie " 1
nvestment securities 5 10,024 13,921 Total income 626 903
Total assets 11,600 16,170 Expenses
Liabilities Net realised and unrealised losses on investment
securities 8 (202) (612)
Management fees 33 238 Management fees 9 (89) (238)
Trustee fees payable 4 6 Trustee fees 9 (18) @7
Distributions payable 6 9 Impairment write back/(expense) 14 (14)
Other payable 9 32 Other expenses 17 ®)
Total liabilities 52 285 Total expenses (312) (899)
Net assets 11,548 15,885 Total comprehensive income for the year 314 4

Unitholders' Capital

Unitholders' balances at par 6 11,660 16,220
Retained deficit (112) (335)
11,548 15,885

The financial statements were approved by the Trustee and authorised for issue on 21 March 2017 and
signed on their behalf by:

¢ : Trustee
| £ [~

\_ !
@aﬂ&)# +  : Trustee

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

ANSA USS INCOME FUND ANSA USS INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars) (Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
Unitholders”  Retained fund Notes 2016 2015
balances surplus/ Cash flows f . .
at par (deflClt) Total as ows Trom operatlng activities
Total comprehensive income for the year 314 4
Balance as at 1 January 2015 18,404 (113) 18,291 Adjustments:
. Interest capitalised (88) 77)
Issue of units 6 2,212 - 2,212 (Write back)/provision for impairment (14) 14
Redemption of units 6 (4,369) - (4,369) Amortisation on investment securities 15 11
Distribution to Unitholders - (253) (253) Unrealised losses on investment securities 8 174 540
Unitholders' transfer of gains 6 27) 27 - Losses on sale of investment securities 8 28 72
Total comprehensive income for the year - 4 4 . .
Surplus before working capital changes 429 564
Balance as at 31 December 2015 16,220 (335) 15,885 Changes in assets/liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable and other debtors 50 (58)
Issue of units 6 780 _ 780 (Decrease)/increase in payables (233) 33
Redemption of units 6 (5,262) - (5,262) Net cash flows provided by operating activities 246 539
Distribution to Unitholders - (169) (169)
Unitholders' transfer of gains 6 (78) 78 - Cash flows from investing activities
Total comprehensive income for the year - 314 314 Sale or maturity of investments 5,963 6,494
Purchase of investments (2,194) (6,430)
Balance as at 31 December 2016 11,660 (112) 11,548 . X i .
Net cash flows provided by investing activities 3,769 64

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of units 6 780 2,212

Redemption of units 6 (5,262) (4,369)

Distribution to Unitholders (169) (253)
i . . i Net cash flows used in financing activities (4,651) (2,410)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (636) (1,807)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,090 3,897

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 1,454 2,090

Supplemental information:

Interest received 684 1,122

Distributions paid 172 300

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ANSA USS$S INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)

1. Description of the Fund 2. Significant accounting policies
The following brief description of the ANSA US$ Income Fund (the ‘Fund’) is provided for general i) Basis of preparation
information purposes only. Reference should be made to the Trust Deed and Rules of the Fund for
more complete information. These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the fair
value measurement of trading investment securities and other financial assets not held in a
General business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or whose
. . P, . contractual terms do not give rise solely to payments of principal and interest.
The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund registered in Trinidad & Tobago, and established by ANSA g v 1o pay P s
Merchant Bank Limited (t'he ‘Bank’ or ‘Fund Manager’) under a Trust_Deeq qatEd 23 Novembgr The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (US$) which is the functional
2010. The Bank whose registered office is 11C Maraval Road, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago, is currency and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.
the Sponsor, Investment Manager, Administrator and Distributor of the Fund.
The principal activity of the Fund is to provide investors having similar investment objectives the Statement of compliance
opportunity to access professional investment management in achieving maximum income returns, The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with International
minimisation of risk and reasonable safety of capital. Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
. . . . . . . . . Board (IASB).
The Fund may invest in securities and contracts, including sovereign debt, issued in countries other
than Trinidad and Tobago, which are expected to provide high income yield and not expected to cause Presentation of financial statements
deterioration in capital values. Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement
- . . . . . of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
The Fund's capital is made up of two classes of Units. Class A Units which are issued to investors 4 o Y . gatly . g 9
. : . amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
pursuant to the terms of the Prospectus and the Trust Deed and Class B Units which were issued to Jiability simultaneous!
the Fund Sponsor (ANSA Merchant Bank Limited). Y Y:
The Class B Unitholder is ot entitled t . dividends and h ahts to the Fund' . Income and expenses will not be offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless
e ass' _m (f) her;s n(;) entitie d 0 recel\f/e a.ny 'V' eT's and has nodrlg s 1o e_ ur;] S assels required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically
upon termination of the Fund, save and except for its original investment and any accretion thereto. disclosed in the accounting policies of the Fund.
The Unitholders of the Fund have the right to vote with respect to certain matters related to the Fund. . . . . .
ii) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

Voting by Class A unitholders takes place at meetings which may be convened annually by the
Trustee or which may be called by the Trustee at the request of the Class B Unitholder or a
Unitholder(s) holding not less than 25% of the outstanding units of the Fund.

At Unitholder meetings, Unitholders are entitled, inter alia, to:

(i) require the removal of the Trustee and/or approve the appointment of a new Trustee; and

(i) sanction any modification, alteration or addition to the provisions of the Trust Deed unless the
Trustee and the Sponsor certify in writing that they are of the opinion that the modification (a)
does not materially prejudice the interests of the Unitholders, does not operate to release the
Trustee from any material obligation to the Unitholders and does not materially increase the
amount of expenses chargeable on the assets of the Fund; or (b) is necessary in order to make
possible compliance with any fiscal, statutory of official requirement; or (c) is made to correct
a manifest error.

The Trustee of the Fund is First Citizens Trustee Services Limited.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent
with those followed in the preparation of the Fund’s annual financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2015 except for the adoption of new standards and interpretations noted
below.

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Fund applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments that became applicable
for the 2016 financial year, however there was no impact on the amounts reported and/or
disclosures in the financial statements.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued) i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)
Standards issued but not yet effective
Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative — Effective 1 January 2016
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, are disclosed below.
The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify, rather than The Fund intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.
significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:
. IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ — Effective 1 January 2018.
. The materiality requirements in IAS 1; . IFRS 9, Phase 2 and 3 — Effective 1 January 2018.
. That specific line items in the stater_nent(_s) of p_rt_Jflt or loss ar_1d Other Comprehensive The Fund is currently assessing the potential impact of these new standards and
Income (OCI) and the statement of financial position may be disaggregated; interpretations
. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial
statements; and iii)  Cash and cash equivalents
° Tha:] tge sharebof ocl ofda§SOC|ates and joint Yen:urfs aq:ounted;orl ”S'A”ffl ;hg equity Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits and short:
{Em 0.[ mui; te p_lrlesente_" n laggregbate as atlsmgle ".}e. getm, anﬁc aISSI ted between term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original
0se ftems that will or will not be subsequently reclassitied to profit or loss. maturities of three months or less and subject to insignificant risks of change in value.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
presented in the statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI. short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts,
These amendments had no impact on the Fund. should they exist, are disclosed separately under ‘liabilities” on the statement of financial
position.
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle - Published September 2014, effective
1 January 2016 iv) Financial instruments

Certain limited amendments, which primarily consist of clarifications to existing guidance,
were made to the following standards and are not expected to have a material impact on the
financial statements:

. IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’

. IAS 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’

IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’

The Fund early adopted IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments' (Phase 1) (as issued in November
2009 and revised in November 2013), effective 1 January 2018. The Fund chose to apply the
exemption given in the transitional provision for early application of IFRS 9 and hence did not
restate comparative information in the year of initial application.

Financial assets
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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ANSA USS INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost less impairment loss (except for debt investments that are designated as
at fair value through the statement of income on initial recognition):

. the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income and is included in “interest income’.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

On initial recognition, the Fund can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI.
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of re-sale in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Fund manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or
a financial guarantee.

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to the statement of income on disposal of the investments.

The Fund does not have any equity instruments that are carried at FVOCI on initial
application of IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments

Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI)

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVSI, unless the Fund designates
an investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) on initial recognition.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured at FVSI. In
addition, debt instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria but are designated as
FVSI are measured at FVSI. A debt instrument may be designated as at FVSI upon
initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Fund has
not designated any debt instrument as at FVSI.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
iv) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through statement of income (FVSI) (continued)

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVSI when the business
model is changed such that the amortised cost criteria are no longer met.
Reclassification of debt instruments that are designated as at FVSI on initial
recognition is not allowed.

Financial assets at F\VSI are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. The net gain or loss recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income is included in the ‘investment income’ line item.

Interest income on debt instruments as at FVSI is included in the net gain or loss
described above.

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVSI is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income when the Fund’s right to receive the dividends is
established in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue and is included in the net gain or loss
described above.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The fair value of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in

that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
The foreign exchange component forms part of its fair value gain or loss.

Therefore,

. for financial assets that are classified as FVSI, the foreign exchange component
is recognised in the statement of income; and

. for financial assets that are designated as at FVOCI, any foreign exchange

component is recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses (continued)

. for foreign currency denominated debt instruments measured at amortised cost
at the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are
determined based on the amortised cost of the financial assets and are
recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the statement of
comprehensive income .

b. Impairment of financial assets

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses
(ECLs) that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss as credit
loss expense.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
b. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Impaired debts, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Fund. If a previous write-off is later recovered, the recovery is
credited to the credit loss expense.

Interest revenue on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss.

c. Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of
similar financial assets) is derecognised where the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired, or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a pass-through arrangement and either:

. the Fund has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset,
or
. the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Fund’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the fund also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the fund has retained.

2.

10

Significant accounting policies (continued)

iv)

v)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities
a. Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through the statement of comprehensive income, loans and borrowings, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge as appropriate. The
Fund determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and
borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Fund’s financial liabilities include fees payable, distributions payable, amounts
due to related parties and other payables.

b. Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or has expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognising of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Fair valuation of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date
is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for
long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs at
the close of business at the end of the reporting period for listed instruments.

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

v)

Fair valuation of financial instruments (continued)

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using
appropriate internal valuation techniques. These pricing models consider, among other factors,
contractual and market prices, correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield curve
volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The use of different
pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of fair values.

The estimated fair values of certain financial instruments have been determined using
available market information or other appropriate valuation methodologies that require
judgement in interpreting market data and developing estimates.

Consequently, estimates made do not necessarily reflect the amounts that the Fund would
realise in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or different
methodologies may have a material effect on the fair values estimated.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash
equivalents, interest and other receivables, management fees payable, distributions payable,
trustee fees payable, and other payables are a reasonable estimate of their fair values because
of the short maturity of these instruments.

Investment securities

The fair value of trading investments is based on market quotations, when available. When
market quotations are not readily available, fair values are based on discounted cash flows or
estimated using quoted market prices of similar investments. In the absence of a market value,
discounted cash flows will approximate fair value. This process relies on available market data
to generate a yield curve for each country in which valuations were undertaken, using
interpolated results where there were no market observable rates.

In pricing callable bonds, where information is available, the price of a callable bond is
determined as at the call date using the Yield to Worst. For bonds with irregular cash flows
(sinking funds, capitalisation of interest, moratoria, amortisations or balloon payments) a
process of iteration employing the Internal Rate of Return is used to arrive at bond values.
Yields on all tax-free bonds are grossed-up to correspond to similar taxable bonds at the
prevailing rate of corporation tax.

2.

12

Significant accounting policies (continued)

v)

Vi)

Fair valuation of financial instruments (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies

The Fund uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation techniques:

Level 1

Included in the Level 1 category are financial assets that are measured in whole or in part by
reference to published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted
in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry fund, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Level 2

Included in the Level 2 category are financial assets that are measured using a valuation
technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current market
transactions and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices have not
been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets with fair values based on
broker quotes, investments in private equity funds with fair values obtained via fund managers
and assets that are valued using the Fund’s own models whereby the majority of assumptions
are market observable.

Level 3

Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets that are not quoted as there are no active
markets to determine a price for those assets.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is considered to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the
Fund and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment was made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding
discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes. The following specific recognition criteria must also
be met before revenue is recognised.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) Significant accounting policies (continued)
vi) Revenue recognition (continued) . . .
xi) Functional and presentation currency
Investment income i . X ) .
Items included in the Fund’s financial statements are measured using the currency of the
Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, taking primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
into account the effective yield of the asset or an applicable floating rate. Interest income financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Fund’s functional and
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium on the constant yield basis. Investment presentation currency.
income also includes dividends and any fair value changes. . . .
xii)  Foreign currency transactions
Interest income is accrued until the investment becomes contractually three months in arrears Monet s and liabilities d inated in forei . 4 in United Stat
at which time the interest is suspended and then accounted for on a cash basis until the onetary assets and flavilities denominated in Toreign currencies are expressec In United States
. . dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. Non-monetary assets
investment is brought up to date. o . . - N
and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that existed at the date of the initial transaction.
Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right to receive payment is established. A[I revenue and expenditure traqsactlon§ denominated in foreign currencies are }ransla}efi.at
mid-exchange rates and the resulting profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities
Other income and expenditure are dealt with in the statement of comprehensive income.
Other income and expenditure are brought into account on the accruals basis. xiii)  Unitholders' Capital
vii)  Subscriptions and redemptions Unitholders’ subscriptions and redemptions measured at par value are recognised in the
“‘Unitholders” balance’ line in the statement of financial position. The differences between the
Subscriptions and redemptions are accounted for at the Net Asset Value calculated on the net assets (NAV) of the Fund and its par value is recorded in ‘retained earnings’.
business day prior to the date of the subscription or redemption. Units may be subscribed at a
minimum initial value of $3,000 and thereafter, the minimum amount of an additional Classification of redeemable shares
investment is $500 in value, except in the instance of reinvestment of distributions. There are
no limits as to the number of units that can be redeemed at any one time. Redeemable shares are classified as equity instruments when:
. The redeemable shares entitle the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in
viii)  Expenses the event of the Fund’s liquidation.
. The redeemable shares do not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or
Fees are recognised on an accrual basis. Refer to Note 9 for management, administration and another financial asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the Fund’s
trustee fees. Audit fees are included within other expenses. net assets.
. e . . The total expected cash flows attributable to the redeemable shares over the life of the
iX) Distributions to Unitholders . N ) : .
instrument are based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net
Distributions to Unitholders are recognised when they are ratified by the Trustees and are paid assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of
out quarterly. the Fund over the life of the instrument.
X) Taxation In addition to the redeemable shares having all of the above features, the Fund must have no
other financial instrument or contract that has:
With respect to dividends which are derived locally no income tax is payable residents of
Trinidad and Tobago. . Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised
net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets
of the Fund.
. The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual return to the redeemable
unitholders.
13 14
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Xiii)  Unitholders" Capital (continued) ii)  Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
The issuance, acquisition and cancellation of redeemable shares are accounted for as equity
transactions. Valuation of investments
3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates Fair va_luefs are base_d on quoted market prices for the sp_ecific instrument, (‘ton_1parisons with
other similar financial instruments, or the use of valuation models. Establishing valuations
The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, where there are no quoted market prices inherently involves the use of judgement and applying
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements and judgement in establishing reserves against indicated valuations for aged positions,
disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could deteriorating economic conditions (including country specific risks), concentrations in specific
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or industries, types of instruments or currencies, market liquidity, model risk itself and other
liability affected in future periods. factors.
Other disclosures relating to the Fund’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: 4. Cash and cash equivalents 2016 2015
Financial instruments risk management (Note 11
. Fund management (Note 14) ’ ( ) Cash at bank 181 2,054
. X
9 Short-term investments 1,303 36
i) Judgement 1,454 2,090
In the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies, management has made the . X . . i
following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Cash at bank e_arns mt»erest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit ra?es. Shon-te_rm deposns are
financial statements: made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Fund, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
Impairment of financial assets
5. Investment securities 2016 2015
Management makes judgements to determine whether financial assets are impaired when the » X i
carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of Investment securities designated at fair value through
impairment. The recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. statement of income 6,165 8,989
Investment securities measured at amortised cost 3,859 4,932
ii) Estimates and assumptions Total investment securities 10,024 13,921
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at Investment securities dgsignated at fair value
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying through statement of income
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. The Fund . L.
. . . A ) X Equity securities - 1,103
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements .
. . . State owned company securities 1,182 1,173
were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments p te bonds and debent 4983 6.713
may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Fund. orporate bonds and CEuSIILES - ==
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 6,165 8,989
15 16
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(continued)

5. Investment securities (continued) 6. Unitholders’ balances at par (continued) 2015
2016 2015 Authorised: . Units $
Investment securities measured at amortised cost Unlimited number of units
Corporate bonds and debentures 3,859 4,932 Reconciliation of unitholders’ balances:
Units outstanding at the beginning of the year 184,156 18,404
3,859 4,932 Units issued 22,351 2,212
Units redeemed (44,038) (4,369)
@7
6. Unitholders’ balances at par 2016
Authorised: Units $ Units outstanding at the end of the year (value of units at par) 162,469 16,220
Unlimited number of units
itholders' deficit bel 4
Reconciliation of unitholders’ balances: Unitholders' deficit below par S 000
Units outstanding at the beginning of the year 162,469 16,220 .
o ' 15,916
Units issued 7,867 780 Unitholders' balance __ 15916
Units redeemed (53,746) (5,262) . .
Value of unit above par issued and redeemed in the year - (78) Net asset value per unit on unitholders’ balance 97.96
Units outstanding at the end of the year (value of units at par) 116,590 11.660 Fund deficit (31)
Unitholders' deficit below par (95) Total net asset value of fund 15,885
Unitholders” balance — 11,565 Adjusted net asset value per unit 97.77
Net asset value per unit on unitholders' balance 99.19
Fund deficit 17)
Total net asset value of fund 11,548
Adjusted net asset value per unit 99.05
17 18
7. Interest and dividend income 2016 2015 10.  Fair value of financial instruments
Interest income from investments designated at (i) Carrying amounts and fair values
fair value through statement of income 379 677 . . . . :
Interest Income from financial assets measured at _The following tgple summarises the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Fund's
. investment securities as at 31 December.
amortised cost 239 223
Dividend Income - -2 Carrying Fair Unrecognised
618 902 2016 values values gain/(loss)
Financial assets
Cash and short-term funds 1,454 1,454 -
8. Net realised and unrealised losses on investment securities 2016 2015 Investment securities 10,024 10,059 35
. . Interest receivable 122 122
Realised losses on investments at
fair value through statement of income (28) (72) Total financial assets 11,600 11,635 35
Unrealised losses on investments held at year end at
fair value through statement of income (174) (540) Financial liabilities
Management fee payable 33 33 -
(202) (612) Trustee fees payable 4 4
9. Fees Distribution payable 6 6 -
Other payables 9 9 -
The Investment Manager is paid quarterly from the assets of the Fund in the form of management
fees, administrator fees and distributor fees, calculated on the basis of the average net asset value in Total financial liabilities 52 52
that quarter pro-rated where necessary on the basis of number of days remaining or elapsed in the
quarter, according to an annual rate not to exceed a cumulative total of 4.25% on the average net asset 2015
value of the Fund.
o . Financial assets
The Trustee is paid from the assets of the Fund a fee not exceeding an annual rate of 0.15% on the Cash and short-term funds 2,090 2,090 _
average net asset value and such fee shall be, subject to a minimum annual fee of $12,000, exclusive Investment securities 13.921 13.889 (32)
of VAT. Interest receivable 159 159 X
2016 2015 Total financial assets 16,170 16,138 (32)
Management fees 89 238 Financial liabilities
Trustee fees 18 27 Management fee payable 238 238 -
107 265 Tr_ust_ee f_ees payable 6 6 -
—_— Distribution payable 9 9 -
Other payable 32 32 —
Total financial liabilities 285 285 -
19 20
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10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 10.  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(ii)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (ii)  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchies (continued)
2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investment securities designated Investment securities designated
at fair value through at amortised cost for which
statement of income fair values are disclosed
State owned company securities - 1,182 - 1,182 Corporate bonds 3,385 515 1,000 4,900
Corporate bonds and debentures 4,983 - — 4,983 3,385 515 1,000 4,900
4,983 1,182 - 6,165
" . (iii)  Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
Investment securities designated
at amortised cost for which For the year ended 31 December 2016 there were no transfer of assets between Level 1 and
fair values are disclosed Level 2.
State owned company securities 523 - - 523 (iv)  Movements in Level 3 financial instruments
Corporate bonds 2,951 420 - 3,371
P Assets 2016 2015
3,474 420 - 3,894 Balance at 1 January 1,000 2,538
Loss recognised - (34)
2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Purchases . - 1,000
Investment securities designated Transfers (from) /into level 3 " (1,504)
i 9 Disposals (1,000) (1,000)
at fair value through -
statement of income — 1,000
Equity securities - 1,103 - 1,103
State owned company securities - 1,173 - 1,173
Corporate bonds and debentures 5,209 1,504 6,713
5,209 3,780 - 8,989
21 22
11.  Risk Management 11.  Risk Management (continued)
Introduction Market risk
o X o . - o o Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
Risk is inherent in the Fund’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprise credit risk, interest rate risk, currency risk
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. and equity price risk each of which are considered below and include, where relevant, the sensitivity
This process of risk management is critical to the Fund’s continuing profitability. The Fund is of the Fund’s financial result on movements in certain market risk variables.
X] redit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. -
exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market ris Credit risk management
Role of the Trustee Credit risk to the Fund is the potential that a counterparty will fail to meet its stated obligations in
The Trustee is the custodian of the Fund and their responsibility is that of safeguarding Unitholders’ accordance with agreed terms. It is the Fund’s policy to enter into financial arrangements with a
interests. The Trustee approves all distribution of income from the Fund and ensures that the Fund is varlet_y of credltv_vorthy counterparties and monitor the SIZe_of Fhe exposure t.o any one _|ssger and the
externally audited every year. They also ensure that all provisions within the prospectus are followed duration of the investment. The Fund’s exposure to credit risk largely arises from its investment
by the Investment Manager and all regulatory requirements are fulfilled. securities portfolio. The Bank, in its capacity as Investment Manager, is responsible for identifying
and controlling credit risk.
Risk management structure . o . . .
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
The Bank which acts as the Fund Sponsor, Distributor, Administrator and Investment Manager, is enhancements
ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Bank is also responsible for the - . . . .
overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies, principles, policies and Slgnlflcam‘ chz_inges in the economy.‘ or in the state.of a particular mdystry segment that repre§ents a
procedures. Day to day adherence to risk principles is carried out by the executive management of the concentration in the Fund’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided at
Bank in compliance with the policies approved by the Board of Directors the statement of financial position date. Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
' credit risk.
Treasury management The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit which represents a worst case scenario of
. o . . o credit risk exposure, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The
The Fund employs the Treasury function of the Bank, which is responsible for managing the Fund’s amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
assets a_nd liabilities a_nd the c?ver_alll fn_1anC|aI structure. The treasury function is also primarily Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation
responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Fund. parameters.
Concentrations of risk Gross maximum exposure
. . . P . - 2016 2015
Concentrations arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to Cash and cash equivalents 1,454 2,090
meet. (;ontractual obliggtionjs tg be similarly‘ affecteq ‘b)‘/ changes in economic, political or other Investment securities 10,024 12,818
condlt_lons. Conc_entratlpns indicate the relative s_ensmvny_of the Fund‘s_ results t_o developments Interest and other receivables 122 159
affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Fund’s
procedures include specific monitoring control to focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio. 11,600 15,067
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11.  Risk Management (continued) 11.  Risk management (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents Currency risk
These funds are placed with highly rated local banks. Management therefore considers the risk of §s”at 8L (Ij:):ehcemfber tzr?l:i a(ljl t?f the Fund’s a:sefts a]wd liabilities grlf denominated in United States
default of these counterparties to be very low. ollars and therefore the Fund has no exposure to foreign currency risk.
. . Interest rate risk
Credit quality
. Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows
Investment debt securities or the fair values of financial instruments. The Fund manages its interest rate exposure by investing in
. . . . . . . fixed and variable rate instruments.
The credit quality of investment debt securities has been analysed into the following categories:
High grade  These comprise of regional sovereign debt securities issued directly or through state Cash flow interest rate risk s the "s'(. that the future_ cash ﬂ[.)WS of a f'”?”c'f*' |nstr_umem will
. . . fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
intermediary body where there has been no history of default. X . h . .
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Fund
Standard These securities are current and have been serviced in accordance with the terms and takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both
conditions of the underlying agreements. In addition, included in this category are its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may
securities issued by related parties and fellow subsidiaries within the ANSA McAL reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Bank, in its capacity as Investment
group of companies. Manager, sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which
is monitored daily by the Bank’s Treasury department.
Sub-standard These securities are greater than 90 days in arrears display indicators of impairment or
have been restructured in the past financial year. During the current period the Fund was not exposed to interest rate risk.
Impaired These securities are non-performing. Liquidity risk
. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will be unable to liquidate positions to satisfy commitments to
High grade  Standard Total Unitholders for redemptions due to market conditions. This is managed by maintaining an adequate
2016 position in assets with maturities of less than one year.
Investments designated at FVSI - 6,165 6,165
Investments measured at
amortised cost 513 3,346 3,859
513 9,511 10,024
2015
Investments designated at FVSI 2,304 5,582 7,886
Investments measured at
amortised cost 4,932 4,932
2,304 10,514 12,818
There were no investment debt securities classified as sub-standard or impaired for the years ended 31
December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
25 26
11. Risk management (continued) 12.  Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities
Liquidity risk (continued) The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled
The table analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into the relevant maturity funding based on the based on contractual undiscounted cashflows.
remaining period as at 31 December to the contractual maturity date.
Uptoone Overone 2016 2015
car year Total Less than Over Less than Over
y 12 months 12 months Total 12 months 12 months Total
2016
Assets
Financial liabilities
Management fees payable 33 - 33 Cash and cash equivalents 1,454 - 1,454 2,090 - 2,090
Trustee fee payable 4 - 4 Investment securities 597 9,427 10,024 3,581 10,340 13,921
Distributions payable 6 - 6 Interest receivable 122 - 122 159 - 159
Other payables 9 - 9
Total assets 2,173 9,427 11,600 5,830 10,340 16,170
Total financial liabilities 52 — 52
Liabilities
2015
. i Management fees payable 33 - 33 238 - 238
Financial liabilities Trustee fees payable 4 - 4 6 - 6
Management fees payable 238 - 238 Distributions payable 6 6 9 9
Trustee fee payable 6 - 6 Other liabilities 9 - 9 32 - 32
Distributions payable 9 - 9
Other payables 82 32 Total liabilities 52 = 52 285 = 285
Total financial liabilities 285 — 285
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will decrease as a result of decreases in
equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises
from the Fund’s investment portfolio. The effect on equity due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices is considered below:
Market indices Change in equity price Effect on income
2016 2015
+/- +/-
S&P 500 +/- 8% - 88
27 28
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13.  Related party transactions and balances 14.  Fund management

Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant When managing capital, which is represented by Unitholders' balances, the objectives of the

influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related party Fund Manager are:

transactions are carried out on commercial terms and at market rates.

. T ly with tt i ts set out in the Fund’s prospectus and Trust Deed;

The related party transactions are as follows: . o comply with the req’unren?e_n S se ou_ in the und_s prospectus and r»us eed; _

. To safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
2016 2015 provide returns for Unitholders; and

Assets . To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Other related parties — 420 476 The Fund endeavours to invest the proceeds from the issue of units in appropriate investments
while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemptions where necessary, such liquidity being

Liabilities augmented by short-term borrowings or disposal of investment securities where necessary.

Sponsor company 27 238

The use of proceeds from the issue of units is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund Manager,
based on guidelines set out in the Prospectus and the Trust Deed. The Fund complied with the
requirements set out in the Prospectus and Trust Deed during the reported financial periods and
no changes were made to the Fund’s objectives, policies and processes from the previous year.

Unitholders' balances

Sponsor company 1,000 1,000
Directors and key management personnel 171 181
Other related parties 204 132
1,375 1313 15.  Commitments and contingencies

The Fund has no capital commitments nor any contingencies for the years ended 31 December

Distributions 2016 and 2015.

Directors and key management personnel 3 3
Other related parties 2 2 i
- 16.  Events after the reporting date
5 5
There were no material events after the statement of financial position date of 31 December 2016
Income which required recording or disclosure in the financial statements of the Fund as at 21 March
Other related parties 21 13 2017.
Expense
Sponsor company 89 238
29 30
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and commitment into unparalleled success.

With innovative solutions, we provide lending and investment
services that are tailored to suit your needs. Together, we can

[a n S E] help you reach further and go beyond.

MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

Our Greatest Asset Is You

AUTO & ASSET FINANCING ¢ MERCHANT BANKING ¢ INVESTMENT SERVICES ¢ FOREIGN EXCHANGE ¢ MUTUAL FUNDS ¢ WEALTH MANAGEMENT

FIND US AT: ANSA Centre Grand Bazaar 25 Royal Road
— 11 Maraval Road, Port of Spain. Valsayn. San Fernando.
’ Tel: (868) 623-8672 Tel: (868) 645-1903 Tel: (868) 657-1452
Fax: (868) 624-8763 Fax: (868) 663-4348 Fax: (868) 653-8112 ansa meaL
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